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◆ Gross written premiums + 24%

◆ Financial reinsurance + 71%

◆ Program business + 45%

◆ Property and Casualty 

reinsurance + 30%

◆ Return on equity 

after tax 26%

◆ Seventh consecutive 

dividend increase

◆ Consolidated net income 

and earnings per share + 81%



in EUR million
+/- previous

year2000 1999 1998

KEY FIGURES of the Hannover Re Group

Gross written premiums 8 320.5 24.1% 6 706.3 4 504.6

Net premiums earned  5 210.2 24.6% 4 179.9 3 548.7

Net underwriting result (449.2) 13.8% (394.7) (350.4)

Net investment income 868.7 4.9% 828.2 814.7

Profit or loss on ordinary activities 419.5 (3.2%) 433.4 464.2

Net income 364.9 81.0% 201.6 171.4

Investments 10 200.5 3.5% 9 855.1 8 592.2

Total stockholders' equity  1 573.4 27.3% 1 235.7 1 122.4

Net underwriting provisions 12 953.3 21.0% 10 703.1 8 759.5

Present value of future profits (life/health) 874.0 43.8% 609.0 468.0

Earnings per share (diluted) in EUR 12.38 80.5% 6.86 5.83

Dividend (incl. corporation-tax credit and bonus*) 
in EUR million 100.0 39.9% 71.5 53.4

Dividend (incl. corporation-tax credit and bonus*) 
per share in EUR 3.64 25.1% 2.91 2.18

Return on equity (after tax) 26.0% 17.1% 14.0%

Retention 63.7% 62.0% 80.3%

Loss ratio** 90.1% 83.3% 83.1%

Expense ratio** 18.7% 25.0% 26.5%

Combined loss/expense ratio** 108.8% 108.3% 109.6%

* bonus of EUR 0.25 for 2000
** excluding life and health reinsurance and on the basis of net premiums earned
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For six consecutive years now I have been able to report record results in this letter –
and this is again the case today. We increased our net income in 2000 by 81% to
EUR 365 million. The earnings per share, which rose from EUR 6.86 to EUR 12.38,
showed a corresponding rise. The return on equity after tax stood at 26%
and we intend to propose to our shareholders an increase of the dividend
payment for the seventh time in a row.

In 1999, the German insurance industry had reasons to complain of the
disadvantages associated with the tax legislation, the reduction in the rates
of corporate tax in the financial year just-ended had a highly favourable,
non-recurrent effect on some companies – including our own. Yet this
should not disguise the fact that our pre-tax operating result declined.
Overall, however, bearing in mind its previous tax disadvantages, Germany
has become more competitive and hence also in the long term more at-
tractive as a business location.

Our gross premium income again rose sharply in the 2000 financial year by 24% to
EUR 8.3 billion. Following a prolonged period of unattractive market conditions, we
were able to exploit fresh opportunities for profitable growth that emerged in certain
selected markets of property and casualty reinsurance. Consequently, in the year
under review property and casualty reinsurance, financial reinsurance and program
business made appreciable growth contributions. After factoring out a special effect
from the previous year as well as the effects of US GAAP accounting rules, our fourth
business segment – life and health reinsurance – again posted very successful growth.

Results in our four business segments varied widely in quality and confirmed the
strategic importance of being able to draw on various sources of income. Thus, in a
situation where the result of one business segment fell far short of expectations, we were
once more able to show satisfactory overall bottom line results. In life and health
reinsurance the investments of the previous years are now paying off. The operating
profit in this segment rose by 78% to EUR 83 million, and after additionally factor-
ing in the development of the present value of future profits the result is even more
gratifying. The same is true of financial reinsurance – our most profitable segment
surpassed the high operating profit of the previous year to post a result of EUR 54
million. 

Although the burden of losses from natural catastrophes decreased very substantially
in property and casualty reinsurance, profits were still adversely impacted by the terms
and conditions of previous years, and we were therefore only able to generate a
slight improvement in results. The combined ratio – an indicator of the quality of the
business – improved from 111% to 108%. Program business, our fourth and newest
business segment, performed disappointingly in the year under review. This segment
continues to be largely dominated by the Clarendon Insurance Group based in New
York. Despite systematic and highly successful growth, the inadequate terms and
conditions prevailing on the US insurance markets at the beginning of 2000 were
also reflected in our results. In addition, the performance of this segment was bur-
dened by two non-recurring special circumstances, as a consequence of which the
Group's program business only posted a balanced result. We have since taken all
measures necessary to ensure that this segment, also, will once again generate the
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expected profit contributions in the coming years. Our optimism in this regard is re-
inforced by the fact that in the USA, terms and conditions have now improved in
numerous market segments.

The financial markets gave us a bumpy ride over the past year. In the first quarter
2000, we exploited the sometimes extreme price rises – especially among technology
stocks – to realise gains. The profits on disposals were therefore almost on a par with
the high level of the previous year. In combination with considerably higher ordinary
investment income, net investment income increased by a further 5%. In my opinion,
however, it will be virtually impossible in the immediate future for insurers and rein-
surers to offset inadequate technical income with profits on disposals – which are by
their very nature unreliable. This trend will favour those market players who have
hitherto set great store by a profit-orientated underwriting policy, and it necessitates
the continued exercise of underwriting discipline – especially in property and casualty
reinsurance.

With the sudden bursting of the bubble around technology stocks on the various
"new markets", investors have started to "rediscover" our share as a fundamentally
attractive stock. Climbing 24% in the year under review, the performance of our
share finally charted a course which again ran parallel to our business results. Unfor-
tunately, we were unable to divorce ourselves from the generally negative trend at
the close of the past year and the beginning of the current one, with the result that
the share's value has again declined. Based on the analysts' consensus estimate for
the current year, the Hannover Re share is presently trading at a price earnings ratio
of 9.8. This figure clearly reveals – also in comparison with similar listed companies
– the considerable potential that is still inherent in our share.

Particularly gratifying was the feedback on our investor relations activities, which we
received from financial analysts through the business journal "Capital" – namely in
the form of the "Capital Investor Relations Award 2000". In a survey carried out in
co-operation with the German Association for Financial Analysis and Asset Man-
agement (DVFA), financial analysts were asked to rate companies according to criteria
of up-to-date nature, credibility and quality of company information. Based on this
survey, the investor relations activities of Hannover Re were commended for being the
best in their market segment (MDax). Not only that, in an overall rating of all the 237
companies considered we occupied third place, performing better than every Euro
Stoxx 50 and Dax-listed company.

Since 1999 had already been influenced by a favourable tax effect, it has become dif-
ficult for outsiders to assess the true earnings power of our Group and ascertain
whether we are really achieving our corporate objectives. This is particularly relevant
in the current year, which will reflect the considerable one-off effect in the year
under review. For a number of years we have openly communicated our overriding
goal of increasing the earnings per share by at least 10% annually. Given the fact that
the last two years both provide a distorted basis, a long-term comparison can only
be based upon the last "normal" accounts, i.e. for the 1998 financial year. Our goal for
2001, therefore, must be to increase the net income by three times 10% (representing
three years) on the basis of the 1998 results. At the same time, we continue to pursue
our objective of generating an attractive return on equity.
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I am optimistic that in future years we shall continue to achieve our ambitious strategic
objectives, provided that no exceptionally large catastrophes occur or there are no
extraordinary events in the capital markets.

Since the changeover to registered shares at the end of last year we have had at our
disposal detailed knowledge of our shareholding structure. As a globally operating
company, we consider it highly positive that more than half of our free-floating stock
is held by international investors. This vindicates our strategy of addressing the broadest
possible investor base with our investor relations measures. Yet there is still scope for
further diversifying our shareholder base. We intend to tap into this potential in order
to safeguard an appropriate market valuation of your company.

On behalf of my fellow members of the Executive Board and myself, I would like to
thank you, our shareholders, for your confidence in our company. I can assure you
that we shall live up to your trust; we shall do everything in our power to bring
about a sustainable increase in the value of your company.

Yours sincerely, 

Wilhelm Zeller
Chairman of the Executive Board
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BOARDS AND OFFICERS of Hannover Re

Wolf-Dieter Baumgartl, 
Hannover
Chairman
Chairman of the Executive Board of 
HDI Haftpflichtverband der Deutschen 
Industrie V.a.G.

Dr. Paul Wieandt, 
Königstein
Deputy Chairman
Former Chairman of the Executive Board 
of BfG Bank AG

Karola Böhme, 
Barsinghausen*

Dr.-Ing. Horst Dietz, 
Mannheim
Chairman of the Executive Board of ABB AG

Karl Heinz Midunsky, 
Munich (from 20 July 2000)
Corporate Vice President and Treasurer 
of Siemens AG

Dr. Erwin Möller, 
Hannover
Member of the Executive Board of 
HDI Haftpflichtverband der Deutschen 
Industrie V.a.G.

Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat)

Details of memberships of legally required super-
visory boards and comparable control boards at
other domestic and foreign business entreprises

*staff represenative

Ass. jur. Otto Müller, 
Hannover*

Ass. jur. Renate Schaper-Stewart, 
Lehrte*

Rudolf Schwan, 
Essen (until 20 July 2000)
Former Member of the Executive Board of RWE AG

Dr. Klaus Sturany, 
Essen (from 20 July 2000)
Member of the Executive Board of RWE AG

Eberhard Wild, 
Grünwald (until 20 July 2000)
Former Member of the Executive Board
of Bayernwerk AG

are contained in the report devoted to the parent
company.
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Executive Board (Vorstand)

Wilhelm Zeller, 
Burgwedel
Chairman

Dr. Andreas-Peter Hecker, 
Hannover
Deputy Chairman

Dr. Wolf Becke, 
Hannover

Jürgen Gräber, 
Ronnenberg

Herbert K. Haas, 
Burgwedel

Udo Schubach, 
Hannover
(until 31 December 2000)

Dr. Detlef Steiner, 
Hannover

Dr. Michael Pickel, 
Gehrden, 
Deputy Member
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EXECUTIVE BOARD of Hannover Re

Dr. Detlef Steiner

Property and Casualty Re-
insurance in North America,
European Roman-speaking
countries, Latin American and
Arab countries, Northern and
Eastern Europe, the United
Kingdom and Ireland;
Program Business

Herbert K. Haas

Finance and Accounting,
Capital Markets, Credit and
Surety, Information Tech-
nology

Dr. Michael Pickel 

Property and Casualty Re-
insurance Germany, Austria,
Switzerland and Italy; Claims
Services, Legal Department
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Wilhelm Zeller

Controlling and Information
(Planning/Controlling,
Investor Relations, Public
Relations, Internal Auditing),
Underwriting Service and
Controlling, Corporate Devel-
opment, Human Resources

Dr. Wolf Becke

Life and Health Reinsurance
worldwide

Dr. Andreas-Peter Hecker

Non-Life Reinsurance of the
HDI-Group, Retrocessions;
Facility Management

Jürgen Gräber

Property and Casualty Re-
insurance in English-speaking
Africa, Asia and Australia,
Facultative Reinsurance
worldwide, Aviation, Space
and Marine Business world-
wide; Financial Reinsurance
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THE HANNOVER RE SHARE

The 2000 stock market year was charac-
terised by two very different phases with at
times considerable turmoil. The beginning of the
year was marked by an upbeat mood on the
German and most international stock exchanges.
A fundamentally positive tone carried over from
the previous year, the absence of significant
adverse effects associated with the new millen-
nium and favourable economic trends in the most
important industrialised nations spurred the stock
markets to ever greater highs. Euphoria was par-
ticularly prevalent in the segments of the new
markets for technology, media and telecommu-
nications (TMT) stocks. Virtually all the world’s
indices continued their high-flying run of the
previous year. In the USA both the Dow Jones
and the NASDAQ index for tech stocks boomed.
In Germany, too, the Nemax new market index
reached an all-time record high on 10 March at
9,603.46 points. The scene was similar on the
Dax – primarily due to the vigorous growth of
the technology and telecommunications stocks
included in this index it reached its highest level
of the year on almost exactly the same day. Yet,

Stock markets: A year with two very different faces…

…for insurance stocks too – albeit with roles reversed

Insurance stocks began 2000 on a pleas-
ing note. The future tax exemption announced
by the Federal Government for sales of equity
participations led to particularly marked price
increases among listed German market leaders
in the insurance and reinsurance sector. The
heavy weighting of these stocks within the CDax
for insurance stocks caused this index to rise
sharply during the early weeks of the year. How-
ever, the euphoria surrounding TMT stocks quick-
ly deflected investors' focus away from insur-

ance stocks, with the result that they generally
lost ground into the month of March. Yet from
the second quarter onwards, the collapse of the
new markets created fresh potential for the "Old
Economy" stocks, especially for insurance shares.
The CDax for insurance stocks climbed by year-
end to 751.35 points, a figure equivalent to a
gain of roughly 30%.

from early summer onwards the picture changed
dramatically. Triggered by falling prices in the
USA, a worldwide slump set in – especially among
TMT stocks – and gathered further momentum
as the year progressed. In Germany, a "sell-off"
began on the new market – exacerbated towards
the end of the year by severe financial distress
among the former stock market darlings of this
segment – and by year-end the Nemax had
dropped 70% from its peak high. Nor was the
Dax – additionally burdened in the second half
of the year by interest-rate concerns in the USA –
able to divorce itself from this trend. By the end
of the year under review it had lost 20% of its
annual high and closed 5% lower overall than
at the beginning of the year. Although it
appeared for a while that at least the MDax
might be able to withstand the disappointment
surrounding the new technology stocks, the
general slowdown in economic activity – not
least due to rising oil prices – added to the
strain on the market. Nevertheless, the MDax
still showed a gain of 14% over the year.
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The Hannover Re share profited from a recovery in the “Old Economy“…

The performance of the Hannover Re share
was similarly affected by the aforementioned
tendencies. Due to the structure of our portfolio
of equity participations, we were unable to profit
decisively from the new tax rules. Nevertheless,
with the rediscovery of top-quality securities from

March 2000 onwards, our share posted a sharp
upturn and on 15 November reached a high of
EUR 118. Despite a subsequent decline in the
price, we closed the year under review with a
gratifying increase in value of 24%. 

World reinsurance indexHannover Re share

The Hannover Re Share in comparison with Reactions' World Reinsurance Index
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It should, however, be noted that we do
not use the CDax for insurance stocks to meas-
ure the performance of our share. Bearing in
mind that this index weights companies
according to their market capitalisation, it is
very heavily dominated by the price trends of
the two largest insurers and reinsurers and
hence gives a somewhat distorted view. As part
of our strategy we have therefore set ourselves

the goal of achieving an increase in the share
price which on a 3-year moving average sur-
passes the performance of the unweighted world
reinsurance index. This index, which is published
monthly in the international insurance journal
"Reactions", increased in the year under review
by around 29%. The performance of our share
thus ran almost parallel to worldwide reinsurance
stocks.
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DaxHannover Re 

Share development since 1994
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…but continues to offer considerable potential

We are certain that the Hannover Re
share continues to offer considerable potential.
Although the basic tendencies on the stock
markets are beyond our control, we can create
the necessary conditions for tapping into this
potential by constantly enhancing our most im-
portant fundamental profit and return-on-equity
parameters. Our overriding task, therefore, is to
increase our profit by at least 10% annually
and to continue to generate an above-average
return on equity. In the financial year just-
ended we again succeeded in achieving these
targets. The earnings per share totalled EUR
12.38, a rise of 81% compared to the previous
year. The return on equity was also above the

market average at 17% before tax and 26%
after tax. Furthermore, it clearly surpassed our
strategic target of a minimum return on equity
of 750 basis points in excess of the average
yield on 10-year government bonds. In order to
optimally structure the return on equity and
hence ensure the highest possible return on the
capital invested by our shareholders, we con-
tinued to implement highly purposeful asset
management. The transfer of reinsurance risks
to the capital markets, a long-term subordinated
loan and traditional retrocessions all served as
cost-effective equity substitutes.
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High level of our Investor Relations activities maintained

In the year under review we again set great
store by maintaining and further expanding our
investor relations activities, which are frequent-
ly rated as above-average. Our goal was to
familiarise an even larger group of investors
and analysts with the Hannover Re share and
intensify existing contacts. To this end, for
example, we participated in investor fairs and
share forums organised by various banks. In add-
ition, we presented our share to institutional
investors in numerous individual discussions –
both at our offices in Hannover and during our
visits to investors at all the world’s major financial
centres.

As a new component of our investor rela-
tions programme, we launched a seminar for
analysts which was held for the first time in
2000. It is aimed specially at institutional fi-
nancial analysts who have already gained solid
knowledge of Hannover Re but wish to famil-
iarise themselves more deeply with the prin-
ciples underlying individual business segments.
With this aim in mind, we invited for the first
time analysts and investors to participate in a
one-and-a-half-day seminar in Hannover in the
summer. The topics of the 2000 event were life
and health and financial reinsurance, and they
were explained in detail by the responsible
managerial staff at our company. The feedback
we received for this seminar was positive in every
respect, and seminars of this type will therefore
continue to form part of our investor relations
programme in the future.

In order to obtain a better insight into our
shareholding structure, we unified our share
structure in the year under review and subse-
quently effected a complete changeover to
registered shares. As a first step, we therefore
called the outstanding amounts on hitherto
partially paid share capital in order to have
those of our shares, which were unlisted at that
time admitted to the German stock exchange.

By means of this action we significantly in-
creased our weighting in the MDax and CDax
for insurance stocks. On 16 October 2000, all
Hannover Re shares were converted to registered
shares. The newly gained detailed insights into
our shareholder structure provide us with an im-
portant tool for organising our investor relations
activities systematically and efficiently and en-
hancing still further the direct contacts we main-
tain with our shareholders.

Early analyses of our stock
ledger produced gratifying results.
This is particularly true of the al-
ready relatively good diversifica-
tion of our free-floating stock, al-
though it still offers scope for a
broader spread. As at December
2000 the geographical diversifi-
cation of our free float was as
follows:

If the shareholdings are
broken down into corporate entities and natural
persons, the lion's share is of course attribut-
able to institutional investors. As of December
2000, around 72% of the free-floating capital
stock was in the hands of institutional in-
vestors. Nevertheless, the resulting privately
held proportion of 28% still constitutes a re-
markable figure.

We attach great importance to the fulfil-
ment of meaningful and internationally recog-
nised corporate governance requirements. Sev-
eral associations in Germany have now drawn
up such principles, the purpose of which is to
ensure responsible, value-orientated manage-
ment and control of companies. We support the
definition of such general principles and are
guided by them. The introduction of variable
remuneration based on value enhancement for
our managerial staff worldwide (stock option
plan), the provision of information on the share-

Luxembourg
1%

Belgium
4%

United Kingdom
24%

Germany
44%

42 other countries
2%

Switzerland
4%

USA
21%

Share of the capital stock as % of free float
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holdings of the Executive Board and the desig-
nation of a Corporate Governance Officer –
whose task is to monitor compliance with the
defined principles – mean that we now satisfy
around 80% of the corporate governance re-
quirements contained in the German Association
for Financial Analysis and Asset Management
(DVFA – Deutsche Vereinigung für Finanzana-
lyse und Asset Management) scorecard. 

We were particularly pleased to win the
"Capital Investor Relations Award 2000". This
prize, which has been awarded by the business
magazine "Capital" for the past four years,

assesses the information provided by a com-
pany according to criteria of up-to-date nature,
credibility and quality. The survey conducted in
co-operation with the DVFA commended the
investor relations activities of Hannover Re for
being the best in their market segment (MDax).
Not only that, in an overall rating of all the
237 companies considered we occupied third
place, performing better than every Euro Stoxx
50 and Dax-listed company.

The opinions of our analysts

"Hannover Re has one of the best port-
folio mixes in the reinsurance industry, with the
faster-growing segments of life and financial
reinsurance accounting for more than 40% of
total premium income… Overall, in that period,
Hannover Re has transformed itself from a re-
gional traditional non-life reinsurer into a well-
diversified large global reinsurer and provider
of related financial services."

Alex Orloff, ABN Amro
April 2001

"Hannover Re's clear strategic focus, excel-
lent diversification and disciplined underwriting
policy are testimony to the quality of its man-
agement."

Simon Fößmeier, Julius Bär
14 March 2001

"Hannover Re has an interesting exposure
to high growth, high RoE niche businesses and
is geared to a cyclical property and casualty
reinsurance recovery. We believe this provides
an attractive cocktail of newsflow catalysts and
earnings momentum."

Brian Shea, Merrill Lynch
February 2001

"Hannover Re is not only a well-managed
company; it has also communicated all the good
news to the capital market."

Dr. Stephan Kalb, Crédit Agricole Indosuez 
Cheuvreux
February 2001

"Hannover Re's foremost attraction seems
to derive from its ability, as seen in its under-
writing and retrocession policy, and a talent for
innovation, as witnessed by the ways it has found
to use securitisation to handle insurance risks."

Frédéric Bourgeois, Natexis Capital
30 January 2001

"Unlike many other insurers, Hannover Re
is not burdened with excess capital and the
attractive leverage means that improved oper-
ating results will feed directly through to signifi-
cant RoE enhancement."

Trevor May, Schroder Salomon Smith Barney
11 January 2001
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"Aware of the risk and difficulty of com-
peting against world leaders..., as another global
player, Hannover Re has favoured the so-called
"specialty" segments over "mass-market" rein-
surance. The group has clearly put profitability
ahead of market share."

Jean-Christian Huard, Charles Landa, Société
Générale
November 2000

"We believe HDI's expressed intention to
raise liquidity in Hannover Re from 25% to 50%
will ease liquidity concerns that have previously
deterred investors."

Stephen Dias, Demetrius Hassiotis, Goldman
Sachs
16 October 2000

"With a worldwide market share of 7.5%
Hannover Re is well positioned in the life and
health reinsurance segment. In the light of the
growth prospects and reliably calculable risks, we
take a favourable view of the company's efforts
to continuously expand its life reinsurance port-
folio."

Ralph Lutz, Daniela Heyduck, HypoVereinsbank
October 2000

"The restructuring process changed the de-
pendency from catastrophes to fee income. Al-
though natural and man-made catastrophes still
have a major impact on the result, the program
business and block transactions generate stable
fee income."

Marc Thiele, Susan Holliday, JP Morgan
September 2000

"An innovative, diversified reinsurance
group; dynamic management team with com-
mitment to developing shareholder value."

Bob Yates, William Hawkins, Fox-Pitt, Kelton
31 May 2000

"By the use of securitisation, Hannover Re
is optimising its capital allocation and is also not
compelled to slow down its fast pace of growth."

Lars Niggeling, Andreas Frick, Bank Vontobel AG
14 April 2000

"Hannover Re is a high-quality, aggressive
reinsurance company, which has become the
world's fifth-largest professional reinsurer. In the
four-year period 1996 -1999, the group doubled
its premiums."

Robin Mitra, Robin Buckley, Credit Suisse First
Boston
1 March 2000
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Lowest share price in 2000: EUR 58.00

Annual General Meeting: 20 July 2001
Hannover Congress Centrum 
Kuppelsaal
Theodor-Heuss-Platz 1-3
30175 Hannover, Germany

Dividend payment: 23 July 2001

Security identification number: 840 221

Stock exchange ID: Share: Bloomberg: HNR1 GY
Investdata: HNR
Reuters: HNRGn.DE

HRGn.F

ADR: HVRRY

Exchange listings: Germany
Listed on all German stock exchanges;
Xetra, Frankfurt and Hannover in official trading

USA
American Depositary Receipts (Level 1 ADR-Program) 

First listed: 30 November 1994

Majority shareholder: HDI Haftpflichtverband der Deutschen Industrie V.a.G. (75%)

Common stock
as at 31 December 2000: EUR 75.5 million

Number of shares 
as at 31 December 2000: 29,530,215 no-par value registered shares

Market capitalisation
as at 31 December 2000: EUR 2,805 million

Highest share price in 2000: EUR 118.00

in EUR 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Earnings per share (diluted) 12.38 6.86 5.83 3.13** 2.75** 2.43**

Dividend per share 2.30 2.05 1.94 1.74 1.61 1.53

Corporation-tax credit 1.09* 0.86 0.24 0.24 0.19 0.05

Gross dividend 3.64* 2.91 2.18 1.98  1.80 1.58

Share information

* incl. bonus of EUR 0.25
** DVFA earnings per share in accordance with German accounting principles



15

Financial calendar 2001/2002

5 June 2001 Press conference on the annual results 2000

6 June 2001 Analysts' meeting Frankfurt

6 June 2001 Analysts' meeting London

20 July 2001 Annual General Meeting 2001
Beginning 10:30 a.m.

20 July 2001 Report on the first quarter 2001

30 October 2001 Report on the second quarter 2001

31 January 2002 Report on the third quarter 2001

19 July 2002 Annual General Meeting
Beginning 10:30 a.m.
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SELF-IMAGE AND STRATEGY

We consider a long-term, strategic mind-set
and way of conducting business to be a crucial
factor in our Group's success. This calls for vision,
on the one hand, but also necessitates concrete
strategic objectives, which serve to guide our
company's tactical orientation.

In order to update or redefine these neces-
sary visions and objectives, we draw up a strat-
egy document setting out such goals roughly
every three years. This document is – very de-

liberately – kept concise and is not printed on
"glossy paper", rather, as a normal working paper,
it is intended to serve as a guideline for our day-
to-day actions. 

With the aim of familiarising you more
closely with these guidelines for the Hannover
Re Group, we have set out below our self-image
and the strategic objectives (our "ten command-
ments") which apply to our Group as a whole.

Self-image

1. Profit target

In order to generate above-average returns
on the capital invested by our shareholders, we
strive to achieve, as an absolute minimum for
the Hannover Re Group, an operating result on
a moving 5-year average which in relation to
our capital, as per US GAAP, corresponds to at

least the average 10-year government bond yield
plus a risk premium of 750 basis points.

In addition, our goal is to increase the earn-
ings per share by at least 10% annually.

We strive to assert our position in the inter-
national reinsurance markets as an important,
optimally diversified reinsurance group of above-
average profitability in order to secure our long-
term survival as an independent enterprise.

Our actions are guided by the goal of con-
stant value enhancement for all our sharehold-

ers. It is essential for us to present our share as
a solid and attractive investment.

As a "somewhat different reinsurer" we
chart our own course. Its hallmarks are the power
of innovation, a readiness to perform and, most
notably, the quality of our services.

2. Capital requirements/costs

In order to ensure the attainment of our
minimum return-on-equity target, our pricing al-
ways makes allowance for corresponding cap-
ital costs. These capital costs are determined
and differentiated according to risk-based-cap-
ital considerations based on a degree of risk
that tolerates the omission of the dividend
payment not more than once in 25 years.

In the light of the increasing "flight to
quality", the ratings which have a bearing on
our industry are assuming greater importance.
Consequently, our capital must ensure a sustain-
able Standard & Poor's rating of at least AA
(equivalent to A+ from A.M. Best).

The divergence between capital require-
ments under risk-based-capital considerations
and the actual capital stock generates excess
capital. Such excess capital is exposed to risk in
accordance with our profit targets.

In order to keep our capital costs as low as
possible, we prefer, to the extent of the rating
agencies' tolerance limits, debt over equity. In
addition, we also make intensive use of capital
substitutes (transfer of risks to the capital mar-
ket as well as conventional retrocession).
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3. Share price

With a view to minimising the costs of
raising equity capital, the performance of our
share assumes key importance. The development
of the earnings per share and our investor rela-

tions activities are intended to ensure a share
price development exceeding, on a moving 3-year
average, the performance of the unweighted
world reinsurance share index.

4. Allocation of resources

As a reinsurer whose roots are in the highly
competitive, cyclical and volatile property and
casualty treaty reinsurance sector, investments
in the optimisation of the portfolio mix enjoy

top priority. Within the individual strategic busi-
ness segments, we identify geographical, line-
of-business and product priorities which take
precedence in the event of investment conflicts.

5. Growth

For the Hannover Re Group, growth means
first and foremost an increase in profit, not an
expansion of the (gross or net) premium income.
Acquisitions are considered inasmuch as they
help us to achieve our strategic priorities faster

and meet our profit targets and return-on-in-
vestment requirements. Equity stakes in primary
insurers are, however, not considered a sensible
growth vehicle.

6. Invested assets

The general objective of our investment
strategy is to generate an optimal profit contri-
bution to the overall business result. Due to
the already high degree of risk inherent in our
principal business of reinsurance, however, risk
limitation takes precedence over yield maxi-
misation.

The fundamental approach to the struc-
ture of our invested assets is that equity as per

US GAAP is invested on a long-term basis (pref-
erably in equity securities), with the technical
reserves being invested on a short and medium-
term basis. More advanced optimisation of the
structure of our invested assets is to be achieved
by way of sophisticated asset liability manage-
ment.

7. Organisation and infrastructure

We strive for an efficient organisation
geared to our business processes with a min-
imum of bureaucracy.

Information management is increasingly
evolving into a crucial competitive factor. Our
information and communication systems must
therefore optimally support our business pro-
cesses and, after cost/benefit considerations,
be based on state-of-the-art technological de-

velopments. Investments required to accomplish
this goal are given priority.

Our accounting systems are organised in
such a way that they satisfy the demands of
the international capital markets as well as in-
ternal management and controlling require-
ments.
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8. Human resources policy

For a globally active financial services or-
ganisation with a professional clientele, the skills
and motivation of our staff are just as important
success factors as capital resources. For this
reason, we offer a working environment that is
designed to appeal to performance-minded em-
ployees who identify with our corporate object-
ives. Our human resources development and
leadership activities are geared to the constant
enhancement of our staff's skills and motivation.

By delegating tasks, authority and responsibility
wherever possible and by setting demanding
performance targets, we foster entrepreneurial
thinking at all levels. In the case of members of
the international management team, this prin-
ciple is also reflected in performance-related re-
muneration components and in attractive stock
options.

9. Quality

Quality enjoys a special status in our way
of thinking and the way we do business. By
means of specific actions and a constant process
of quality improvement, we strive to become

the quality leader in international reinsurance
("Clients prefer to work with us!") in order to
attain competitive advantages.

10. Risk management

Our risk management system regularly
monitors all global, strategic and operating
risks within the Hannover Re Group. In addition
to control and early warning systems for trad-
itional underwriting risks, systems are developed

and maintained for the identification and con-
tainment of all other risks which may have a
bearing on the Group's survival.

Quantitative objectives 

Due to extraordinary tax effects associated
with the change in the rates of corporation tax
in 1999 and 2000, the target figures for 2000
and 2001 are based on the 1998 results.

In order to ensure the achievement of our
company-wide return-on-equity target, we have
broken down this goal into specially defined
units within our total business volume. To this
end, we subdivided our total business into 40
units, each characterised by the greatest possible
homogeneity from the risk perspective. 

In this regard, the level of risk – primarily
determined by the volatility of the technical re-
sult – is the yardstick for the capital require-
ment of each risk unit. The principle applied
here is the greater the volatility of results, the

higher the capital requirement. The capital re-
quirement of each individual risk segment can
then be specified accordingly.

By combining these insights with our re-
turn-on-equity target, it is possible to calculate
a minimum profit margin that every concluded
treaty must generate in order to produce a sat-
isfactory return on equity. This enables our under-
writers to examine the contribution made by
every single proposed treaty to the achievement
of our return-on-equity target. The accomplish-
ment of this goal forms an important integral
part of the agreements on targets drawn up
with our managerial staff and hence also of our
system of remuneration. In this way, we ensure
at the operating level that our return-on-equity
target is fulfilled for the Group as a whole.
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The profit targets defined above give rise to the following target figure comparisons: 

1) DVFA revised calculation method (without adjustment for amortisation of goodwill)
2) Earnings per share under US GAAP

1995
1)

15

10

20

in %

in EUR

1996
1)

1997
1)

14.3%

16.4%

13.5%

16.0%

14.8%

18.5%

Target figure Actual figure

13.9%

15.8%

1998
2)

1999
2)

2000
2)

13.0%

17.1%

13.5%

26.0%

Return on equity after tax

25

1) Based on the German Commercial Code (HGB)
2) Based on US GAAP

Target figure: 750 basis points in excess of the average 10-year government bond yield
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THE HANNOVER RE GROUP Our global presence
Europe

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Hannover, Germany

E+S Rückversicherungs-AG
Hannover, Germany
(50.1%)

Africa

Hannover Life
Reassurance Africa Ltd.
Johannesburg, South Africa
(96.9%)

Hannover Reinsurance
Africa Ltd.
Johannesburg, South Africa
(96.9%)

Hannover Re Mauritius Ltd. 
Port Louis, Mauritius
(96.9%)

America

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Canadian Branch - Chief Agency
Toronto, Canada

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Facultative Office - Canadian Branch 
Toronto, Canada

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Representative Office USA
Schaumburg, USA

Clarendon Insurance 
Group, Inc.
New York, USA
(90.0%)

Insurance Corporation
of Hannover
Los Angeles, USA
(100.0%)

Hannover Life Reassurance 
Company of America
Orlando, USA
(100.0%)

Hannover Re (Bermuda) Ltd.
Hamilton, Bermuda
(100.0%)

Hannover Services
(México) S.A. de C.V.
Mexico-City, Mexico
(100.0%)
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Hannover Life Reassurance (UK) Ltd.
Virginia Water, 
Great Britain
(100.0%)

Hannover Re Sweden 
Insurance Company Ltd.
Stockholm, Sweden
(100.0%)

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG 
Stockholm Branch
Stockholm, Sweden

International Insurance Company 
of Hannover Ltd.
Scandinavian Branch
Stockholm, Sweden

Hannover Re 
Gestion de Réassurance France S.A.
Paris, France
(100.0%)

Hannover Re Services Italy Srl
Milan, Italy
(99.5%)

HR Hannover Re,
Correduría de Reaseguros, S.A.
Madrid, Spain
(100.0%)

E+S Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd.
Dublin, Ireland
(50.1%)

Hannover Life Reassurance
(Ireland) Ltd.
Dublin, Ireland
(100.0%)

Hannover Reinsurance 
(Ireland) Ltd.
Dublin, Ireland
(100.0%)

Hannover Re Advanced Solutions Ltd.
Dublin, Ireland
(49.9%)

International Insurance Company 
of Hannover Ltd.
Virginia Water, 
Great Britain
(100.0%)

Hannover Services (UK) Ltd.
Virginia Water/London, 
Great Britain
(100.0%)

Australia

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Australian Branch
Sydney, Australia

Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
Sydney, Australia
(75.0%)

Asia

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Representative Office Seoul
Seoul, Korea

Hannover Re Services Japan
Tokyo, Japan 
(100.0%)

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Shanghai Representative Office 
Shanghai, China

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Representative Office Taipei
Taipei, Taiwan

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Hong Kong Branch
Hong Kong, China

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Malaysian Branch
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia





Thomas Windheim,
Program and transportation business USA
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Particularly in the first half-year 2000 the
industrialised nations recorded strong economic
growth. As the year progressed, however, the
economic cycle in many countries began to lose
impetus and the increase in production fell
away sharply. Rising oil prices were a notable
restraining factor in this regard. In the USA, west-
ern Europe and Japan economic growth experi-
enced a slowdown towards year-end. Develop-
ments in the USA were crucial to the increasing
decline in economic activity around the world.
Nevertheless, the weak euro and surging US
demand enabled Europe to enjoy a welcome
export boom.

Of the major industrial nations, the USA
showed the strongest economic growth (at
around 5%) and Japan – despite promising in-
dications in the first half-year – the weakest (at
1.5%). In western Europe and the euro zone
overall economic production rose by approxi-
mately 3.3%. While the pace of growth thus
lagged behind the USA, it was the highest since
1989. The German economy recorded growth
of 3.1% in 2000. This figure was double the
average of the previous decade and the highest
since the 1991 boom associated with German
reunification. 

The developing markets again provided
substantial impetus for global economic growth.
The brisk pace of economic development in Asia
was sustained. In Latin America, too, the national
economies recovered in the year under review
following a sluggish performance in 1999. 

The cyclical upturn in the euro zone stabil-
ised, although economic activity peaked in the
third quarter. The level of incoming orders was
generally good. Compared to Japan and the
USA, the euro zone profited particularly well
from the economic growth of the emerging
markets due to its high market share. The weak
euro gave exports a further boost. 

In Germany the economic upswing peaked
in the summer. The German economy was driven
primarily by export demand. After dropping off
sharply over the summer, capital expenditure
on plant and equipment continued to climb
sharply in the second half-year. Private consump-
tion, on the other hand, rose only slightly after
the summer, and the drain on purchasing power
was particularly evident here. The cost of living
rose into the autumn months, driven first and
foremost by higher oil prices. The labour market
improved in 2000. This was due not only to the
brighter state of the economy, but also to in-
creased employment of part-time workers as a
consequence of the amendment of laws govern-
ing jobs paying up to DM 630 per month. 

The financial markets started 2000 in tur-
bulent mood. As the year progressed the eu-
phoria on the stock markets surrounding "New
Economy" stocks gave way to market disillusion-
ment. Investors began to switch to fundamen-
tally stable financial and pharmaceutical stocks.
The restrictive interest rate policy – originating
from the USA – gave rise to fears about the de-
velopment of corporate profits, and share prices
were therefore generally sluggish. Bond markets,
too, looked to the USA for their lead. While the
short end of the market initially saw interest rate
increases, longer-range maturities experienced
an impressive positive trend throughout the
year. The interest rates on 10-year US Treasury
Bonds, for example, fell from more than 6.8% in
January to less than 5% in December.

The insurance and reinsurance markets
posted moderate growth. Property and casualty
(re-)insurance showed initial signs of an improve-
ment in market conditions. The decline in prices
was halted in major markets, and the first spor-
adic rate increases were achieved in the course
of the year. These were, however, hardly suffi-
cient to write business on a consistently profitable
basis. 

Economic climate

REPORT of the Hannover Re Group
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Although the number of natural catas-
trophes increased in 2000, insured losses were
lower than in the previous year. There was a
particularly marked rise in climate-related catas-
trophe losses. Bearing in mind that global warm-
ing may be the most significant factor in this re-
gard, increased losses must be anticipated in this
sector in years to come. 

Life insurance generated disproportionately
strong growth rates around the world. The Ger-
man market in 2000 was still overshadowed by
the previous year, in which private old-age provi-
sion had been affected by various extraordinary
factors. Nevertheless, life insurance business can
be considered satisfactory as a whole. Asset-
forming life insurance policies showed corres-
pondingly lower growth in new business. Private

annuity and pension insurances also showed a
decline in new business in 2000. Unit-linked life
insurance policies, however, benefited from the
stock market euphoria and served to boost
growth. 

Business development

We closed the 2000 financial year with
substantial growth and a sharply higher after-
tax profit. The strong profit increase was attri-
butable to the extraordinary tax effect in the
order of EUR 219 million. Nevertheless, the re-
sult shows that we were able to operate success-
fully and profitably despite the – in some respects
– difficult business environment. Our earnings
per share rose by approximately 81% from EUR
6.86 to EUR 12.38, and we generated a return
on equity of 26% after tax and 17% before tax. 

Gross premium income grew by a sizeable
24% to EUR 8.3 billion. Of this, around 9 per-
centage points were due to exchange rate fac-
tors. Following a sluggish and sometimes even
declining trend in recent years, property and
casualty reinsurance actually accounted for the
highest share of growth in absolute terms in the
year under review (12 percentage points). We
also achieved vigorous growth in our newest

segment – program business. This has now been
expanded to include activities outside the USA,
and it contributed growth of 9 percentage points.
In relative terms, financial reinsurance – our
smallest business segment – in fact showed the
greatest year-on-year growth of 71%. Its share
of overall growth was thus 5 percentage points. 

The business development reported for life
and health reinsurance was very heavily impacted
by two extraordinary effects. On the one hand,
a special contract in the previous year had pro-
duced additional premium income of around
EUR 200 million. On the other hand, financing
transactions – which under German accounting
requirements generate additional gross pre-
miums of EUR 404 million – are reclassified under
US GAAP (SFAS 97), with the result that this
premium income was not reported. Once these
two effects are factored out, the growth rate
was 23%. 
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The business model of the Clarendon Insur-
ance Group in US program business is based
upon the ceding of substantial parts of its busi-
ness to other reinsurers. In the year under review
it again slightly reduced its retention. However,
due to the higher retention of the other compa-
nies participating in program business, net pre-
miums in this segment rose sharply. We also
made further use of our innovative securitisation
instruments and transferred part of our life and
health reinsurance portfolio to the capital mar-
kets. Overall, the Group's retention increased
from 62% to 64% and we recorded net pre-
miums of EUR 5,304 million. 

The performance of the various business
segments produced very differing – and some-
times even contradictory – effects on the tech-
nical result. The burden of major losses decreased
dramatically in property and casualty reinsur-
ance, following a record amount in the previous
year. However, the inadequate terms and condi-
tions of previous years continued to leave their
mark, and the result therefore improved only
slightly. Life and health reinsurance posted a
gratifying development and the result increased
sharply. Program business deteriorated appre-
ciably. On balance, the Group's technical deficit
increased from EUR 395 million to EUR 449
million. This deterioration was attributable pri-
marily to financial reinsurance, although the
segment was more than able to offset its tech-
nical deficit with higher investment income. 

Our investment portfolio grew from EUR
9.9 billion to EUR 10.2 billion. In the spring of
2000, we used the record levels on the stock
markets to realise valuation reserves and par-
tially reorganise our equity portfolio, with the
result that the profits on disposals of EUR 251
million (previous year: EUR 286 million) for the
most part derive from the first half of the year.
In combination with increased ordinary income,
we generated net investment income of EUR
869 million (EUR 828 million) – an increase of
5%. 

The other income and expenses shown in
the statement of income comprises items such as
exchange gains and losses as well as expenses
for the company as a whole. The latter increased
in line with the expansion of business. The amort-
isation of goodwill in the amount of EUR 12 mil-
lion related primarily to the Clarendon Insur-
ance Group and E+S Rück. Overall, the pre-tax
result decreased slightly from EUR 330 million
to EUR 304 million.

As a consequence of the larger profit con-
tribution made by E+S Rück, minority interests
in the Group profit were markedly higher than
in the previous year. 

The tax situation was of paramount im-
portance in the year under review and had a de-
cisive impact on the extraordinary increase in
the profit after tax. Companies, which draw up
their balance sheet in accordance with inter-
national accounting principles are obliged no-
tionally to pay tax on all divergences from the
relevant profit calculation for tax purposes and
show them under deferred taxes. These tax
items are determined by using an average overall
rate of taxation, which is based on the tax rate
applicable in Germany to retained earnings. In
2001, this rate of taxation was cut from 40% to
25%. Since the "deferred taxes" item is intended
to reflect future tax effects, this reduction in the
tax rate is to be applied immediately in 2000.
Consequently, the tax rate for all items hitherto
allocated to deferred taxes is reduced by 15
percentage points. In our case, the correspond-
ing effect totalled EUR 219 million on balance,
and it thus reduced the deferred taxes by the
same amount. The actual tax burden in the
2000 financial year also fell due to the slight
decrease in the pre-tax result and the lower rate
applicable to deferred taxes, thereby producing
overall tax proceeds of EUR 129 million. This
caused consolidated net income to rise by 81%
to EUR 365 million.
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1995
1996

1997

37.6%

18.0%

24.8%

15.9%

19.3%

11.3%

Pre-tax profit** Consolidated net income

1998*

1999*

33.8%

14.0%

23.9%

17.1%

2000*

16.8%

26.0%

Above-average return on equity

* Return on equity calculated in accordance with US GAAP
** After minority interests

The balance of cash flows from operating,
investing and financing activities produced a
positive overall balance of EUR 45 million. 

The re-calculation of deferred taxes had a
clearly favourable impact on the development
of our stockholders' equity. Foreign currency con-

version adjustments, on the other hand, led to a
decline in other comprehensive income. On bal-
ance, our stockholders' equity increased from
EUR 1.2 billion to EUR 1.6 billion.
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Our business segments

The following sections describe the devel-
opment of business, subdivided strictly according
to our four strategic segments. The corresponding

results are also shown in detail in our segmental
report as part of the annual financial statement.

Germany
18%

North America
52%

Australia
4%

Latin America
2%

Asia
3%

 Rest of Europe
17%

Africa
4%

Gross premiums by region

Property and casualty reinsurance

Ten years ago property and casualty re-
insurance accounted for more than 95% of our
total gross premium income. This figure has since
decreased to just 41% in the year under review.
Yet, in absolute terms this segment has grown
sharply in this period and it continues to gener-
ate the greatest share of premiums. In property
and casualty reinsurance we have no growth
targets; rather, our premium volume is guided
by the prevailing market conditions. Last year's
conditions bottomed out and our premium in-
come consequently declined; in the course of
the year under review, selected markets showed
a favourable development. We took advantage
of these opportunities and expanded our pre-
mium volume by a sizeable 30%, around 6% of
which derived from movements in exchange
rates. 

The burden of major claims and catastrophe
losses decreased considerably and was lower
than expected. On the other hand, an additional

burden derived from losses in the previous year,
most notably in connection with the winter storms
"Lothar" and "Martin" at the end of 1999. The
loss ratio and the technical deficit consequently
decreased overall, but they were still adversely
affected by the scarcely adequate premium level
at the beginning of the year under review. In the
previous year, expenses had been favourably in-
fluenced by performance-related reimbursements
from retrocessionaires. Partly because this fac-
tor no longer applied, the expense ratio rose in
the 2000 financial year. The investment income
apportionable to this segment decreased sharply.
All in all, the operating result before general
expenses deteriorated slightly and was therefore
unsatisfactory. 

Life and health
reinsurance
25%

Financial
reinsurance
10%

Program business
24%

Property and casualty
reinsurance
41%

Gross premiums by segment
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199819992000Figures in EUR million

Key figures for property and casualty reinsurance

Germany

The German insurance industry was only
able to a limited extent to pick up on the positive
leads given by the economy as a whole. The pre-
mium volume grew by a mere 1.2% in 2000, a
figure below the rate of inflation. The favourable
effects deriving from a greater demand for insur-
ance and the increase in insured values associated
with the stepping up of economic activity were
to some extent offset by opposing factors. These
included mergers and acquisitions, the marked
interest shown by banks in insurers' distribution
networks and vice versa and the accelerated
cultivation of new, more cost-effective sales chan-
nels such as the internet. The internationalisa-
tion of the German insurance industry featured
prominently in these developments. Some pro-
viders believed that size was the key to their
business opportunities while others saw their
chances in independence or in a targeted niche
policy. At the same time, insurance customers
are becoming more sophisticated: the demand
for products tailored to their individual needs
at the right price is increasing. In a largely satur-
ated market, this inevitably led to persistent
cut-throat competition. 

Competitive pressure thus remained in-
tense and there was little improvement in the
inadequate premium level. The negative trend
in the claims experience was, however, reversed,
with the result that the loss ratio of roughly
86% (87%) was slightly more favourable than
in 1999. 

The concentration in the insurance markets
brought about by mergers and alliances also
impacted the reinsurance industry. On the one
hand, the number of (potential) clients has de-
creased, while on the other hand the reinsurance
requirements of large, international insurance
groups differ from those of small or medium-sized
companies with a purely national orientation.
Given this state of affairs, reinsurers are obliged
to show a high level of adaptability and must
offer new products based on a holistic approach
to a company's risk situation. In some areas there
is also a demand for considerably higher expos-
ures, which have corresponding implications for
the potential volatility of technical results and
place greater strains on capital resources.

Gross written premiums 3 385 2 614 2 734

Net premiums earned 2 524 2 069 2 038 

Technical result (206) (228) (192)

Investment income 472 526 591

Operating result before general expenses 266 297 399

Loss ratio 81% 88% 81%

Expense ratio 27% 23% 27%

Combined ratio 108% 111% 108%
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Despite the dramatic decrease in natural
catastrophe losses, results in the reinsurance
markets were by no means satisfactory. In motor
reinsurance it was merely possible to halt the
downward trend of the previous years, while in-
dustrial fire insurance again produced heavy
losses for insurers and reinsurers alike. These in-
sights hardly came as a surprise, however, and
we had already scaled back our participation in
this market segment to an unavoidable minimum.

This general environment allowed us only
limited expansion of our premium volume. In
some lines of business, such as industrial fire
reinsurance, we withdrew almost entirely from
the market or changed over to non-proportional
covers, thereby causing premium income to de-
cline here. 

In the course of the year under review, how-
ever, it became evident that this phase of diffi-
cult market conditions was beginning to give
way to an upturn. Efforts taken by insurers – in
addition to those implemented by reinsurers –
to restore business to profitability started to filter
through positively to the reinsurance markets
from the second half of the year onwards.

Due to the decrease in natural catastrophe
losses and the favourable run-off of the loss re-
serves from previous years, our technical result
improved on the 1999 financial year. Motor and
liability reinsurance also played a part in this
improved result. 

In our assessment, the rapidly changing
structure of the insurance market poses special
risks and challenges for the reinsurance industry.
As things currently stand, the German insurance
market still shows only a middling degree of
concentration. The ten largest insurance groups
in the property and casualty segment account
for a market share of less than 50%. Yet it would
appear to be merely a question of time before the
stronger trends towards concentration in neigh-
bouring countries also make themselves felt here.
In France and the United Kingdom, for example,
the three largest providers alone enjoy market
shares in excess of 40%. 

United Kingdom and Ireland

The United Kingdom experienced a stable
business climate and good rates of economic
growth in 2000. The insurance and reinsurance
markets have seen an unparalleled wave of
consolidation in recent years, causing a drop in
the number of insurers and Lloyd's Syndicates.
This went hand-in-hand with fierce competition
for market shares and technical losses, although
the latter were offset by healthy investment in-
come. Initial positive indications were reinforced
in the course of 2000, prompting insurers to take
drastic action to rehabilitate their portfolios. Large
multi-line insurers, for example, reviewed their
business strategies and in some cases withdrew
from volatile industrial business. 

Lloyd's insurance market was similarly
swept by a wave of mergers. Numerous Syndi-

cates equipped with limited commercial liability
capital changed hands because of poor results
or were absorbed into other organisations. At
the same time, however, new Syndicates were
set up. Overall, approximately 80% of Lloyd's
capital now derives from corporations, which
are therefore continuing to squeeze out private
individuals with unlimited liability. 

Particularly in property business, the grow-
ing number of mergers in all sectors of the eco-
nomy is leading to ever-higher sums insured – a
trend which runs parallel to an increase in the
international exposure of the risks. The failure
of the international reinsurance market in Aus-
tralia also caused clients to attach even greater
importance to their reinsurers' quality and cre-
dit ratings. Although reinsurance capacity con-
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tinues to be in ample supply, it was possible to
secure improvements in treaty terms and condi-
tions. Many reinsurers, especially in London, were
and still are reliant on their own reinsurance
(retrocession). However, with capacity of this type
in scarce supply, closer attention is being de-
voted to the profitability of assumed reinsurance
business. This also has a favourable impact on
terms and conditions. 

Increasing reinsurance costs and the re-
duction in reinsurance capacity have ultimately
brought about improved conditions on the in-
surance market, most notably in industrial fire
insurance.

Towards the end of the year the UK market
suffered the most severe flood losses in forty
years. Numerous towns and villages were partially
submerged for days or even weeks on end. Some
locations were even hit by repeated flooding.
Nevertheless, the insured loss marketwide was
in the order of just GBP 500 million, and for the
most part insurers therefore carried it in their
retention. 

Motor insurance performed well, with all
insurers recording double-digit percentage in-
creases in premiums. Due to the applicable pre-
mium limits in this sector, some Lloyd's Syndicates
found that they were no longer able to carry risks
on the same scale as had hitherto been the case
without the support of reinsurers or co-insurers,
as a consequence of which larger premium vol-
umes were ceded to the reinsurers. Competitive
pressure nevertheless remained intense, and re-
sults were adversely impacted by the so-called
"Woolf Reform". This change in the law will sharp-
ly accelerate the speed with which liability claims
are run off. It is, however, anticipated that in
the long term the lost investment income can
be offset by lower claims figures. Conditions in
liability business remained virtually unchanged
and were thus unattractive, despite the fact that
here, too, results in previous years were in many
cases inadequate. 

A further important aspect is the potential
extension of the scope of cover to include claims

connected with loss of information and computer
viruses. The goal here is to precisely define the
additional exposure and either exclude it or in-
corporate it into the premium calculation. 

The premium increases in the insurance
market also generated substantially higher pre-
mium income for our portfolio, especially in the
areas of motor and international property busi-
ness – in both the proportional and non-propor-
tional sectors. In addition, we were increasingly
active as a leading reinsurer in various niche
segments, such as international property per-risk
business, thereby enabling us to push through
our price expectations more frequently than had
hitherto been the case. Contrary to the pleasing
development of the 2000 financial year, however,
we incurred run-off losses on the loss reserves
of previous years. Numerous claims and increases
in loss reserves were only reported by the ceding
companies very belatedly, and these losses from
previous years consequently burdened the year
under review. Overall, the technical result there-
fore showed only a slight improvement and was
just sufficiently satisfactory.

Although Ireland's almost unparalleled eco-
nomic boom has of course favourably impacted
the insurance industry, opportunities for reinsurers
have remained few and far between. The attract-
ive environment led to a wave of take-overs, ul-
timately leaving just a few domestic insurers in
the market. Altogether, the market lost a further
three insurers in 2000. As in the United King-
dom, this led to a struggle for market shares
with the inevitable consequences for business
results. 

The vast majority of Irish insurance com-
panies belong to large international groups with
only a limited need for reinsurance. Our rather
modest Irish portfolio therefore remained virtu-
ally unchanged, and results were again hardly
adequate.
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France

The French economy continued on its ex-
pansionary course in 2000 with growth in gross
domestic product of 3.2%. Growth was particu-
larly dynamic in two areas: exports, fostered by
strong global demand, and investment activity. 

Private household consumption, which had
been growing steadily since 1997, was dampened
by rising oil prices in the spring of 2000. At 1.2%,
inflation was again lower than in most other euro-
zone countries. 

For the insurance industry, the generally
favourable economic environment was over-
shadowed by the effects of the winter storms
"Lothar" and "Martin" at the end of 1999. In the
course of the year under review, expenditures
associated with these loss events increased from
an initially estimated EUR 4.5 billion to EUR 7
billion, at the same time bringing to an end the
downward slide in the premium level in all lines
of business. The strained situation enabled large
insurers to secure commensurate premiums not
only in property business but also in the liability
lines, where prices rose by around 5% on aver-
age. Even the consistently highly competitive
motor insurance line, which initially suffered under
increased motor vehicle repair costs, showed a
premium increase of roughly 3% after five years
of declining rates. 

The treaty negotiations between insurers
and reinsurers had been largely completed when
the winter storms occurred, and it was therefore
too late to factor them into the year under re-
view. For reinsurers, the conditions agreed at
the beginning of 2000 thus marked the low
point in a phase characterised by wholly inad-
equate terms and conditions. However, the strong
surge in demand as the year progressed – French
clients purchased additional windstorm coverage
worth around EUR 600 million – subsequently
made it possible to push through appropriate
reinsurance conditions. Since the demand for
covers even surpassed the actual scale of the
recent storms, a capacity shortage ensued –
thereby enabling reinsurers to secure very at-
tractive prices in the windstorm segment at the
end of 2000 and in the 2001 renewals. 

Showing a slight increase in gross premium
income, our result for 2000 was still adversely
affected by the additional reserves constituted
for the windstorm losses and the poor conditions
prevailing at the beginning of the year; even
after allowing for the non-technical result, our
French portfolio therefore closed with a deficit.    

The Netherlands

Despite strong economic growth and a gen-
erally favourable business climate, the year just-
ended was a disappointing one for Dutch prop-
erty and casualty insurers. The technical deficit
across all non-life lines was 2% of the premium
volume. This was primarily attributable to un-
satisfactory results in motor insurance and in-
dustrial fire business. In addition to the fiercely
competitive climate, the year under review was
marked by record figures for major fire claims –

most notably with a sharp rise in the average
loss amount. The largest single event was the
explosion in Enschede, which caused an insured
loss of EUR 250 million. 

While the total reinsurance premium stood
at EUR 1.5 billion, fire business continued its
traditional dominance, accounting for an over-
all volume of around EUR 665 million. A trend
towards non-proportional covers can be discerned.
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Nordic countries

Against the backdrop of a stable economic
environment, the wave of insurance company
mergers which had swept through the Nordic
countries in recent years slackened in 2000.
Scarcely any mergers or acquisitions were re-
corded. In all the countries of this region – with
the exception of Denmark – the five major
players now hold more than 80% of the non-life
premium. Past international mergers have led to
a relatively strict distinction between companies
and groups that operate on an exclusively local
basis and those which are active across national
borders. The latter consider the entire Nordic
and Baltic region as their primary sector of oper-
ations. Internationally active insurance groups
still have a minimal presence. Due to the forma-
tion of ever-larger groups, the overall volume of
ceded reinsurance is contracting and competition
is constantly intensifying. Nevertheless, a con-
tinuing decline in the premium level is not to be
expected since the poor results of past years
have left no room for further concessions. Par-
ticularly in industrial fire business, the rate level
was clearly too low and it has not shown any
sign of improvement to date. 

As a consequence of the losses caused by
the storm "Anatol", rates for catastrophe covers
rose appreciably in Denmark. However, since
some reinsurance programmes were placed as
multi-year covers it was not always possible to
translate these losses into premium increases.
Overall, though, demand for windstorm covers
rose sharply and favourably impacted the rate

level. These effects also made themselves felt
in the neighbouring countries of Norway and
Sweden. Rate increases did not, however, spill
over into other lines of business. 

In view of the inadequate level of rates in
industrial fire business, we withdrew to a large
extent from proportional treaties – especially
surplus treaties. At the same time we substan-
tially expanded the share of the total premium
volume deriving from non-proportional business.
We also made use of the market conditions in
the natural catastrophe sector and slightly ex-
panded our overall business volume in the year
under review. The result in the Nordic countries
was adversely affected by a high burden of losses
in the fire line and, all in all, it was not satisfac-
tory. 

As was true of almost all continental Euro-
pean markets, reinsurance terms and condi-
tions bottomed out in the year under review –
having deteriorated steadily in previous years.
Nevertheless, as the year progressed, the first
premium increases ensued in the light of the
windstorm losses experienced in France and Ger-
many. 

In this environment our business volume
remained roughly on a par with the previous
year. 

Despite a substantial loss burden associated
with the Enschede disaster, our Dutch portfolio
generated a positive technical result.





Gudrun Keller,
Property and casualty reinsurance France
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Italy 

The Italian national economy grew by 2.9%
in the year under review. The generally favour-
able economic trend was fostered by improved
order books in industry and expansion in the
service sector. 

In this overall economic climate, premium
growth in property and casualty reinsurance
was slightly lower than in the previous year at
6.5%. While motor third party liability insurance,
the largest line of business by volume, grew by
8.7%, increases in the other lines ranged from
2% to 4.5%. Surety insurance, on the other
hand, showed a premium decrease of roughly
5% due to legal changes affecting value-added
tax risks. 

In March 2000 the Italian government
caused a stir at home and abroad when it ac-
cused market players of price collusion in the
motor insurance sector, prohibited rate adjust-
ments in the discounted categories for a period
of one year and thus interfered in the com-
panies' freedom to set prices. It is unanimously
believed that this 12-month tariff freeze violates
EU law and will bring about a further deterior-
ation in the already negative technical perform-
ance of this line. The deficit posted by Italian
insurers in this line of business totalled approxi-
mately EUR 2.5 billion in 2000. 

In other respects, the development of prop-
erty and casualty insurance began the year on
a bright note. In October, however, parts of north-
ern Italy were hit by severe storms accompanied
by prolonged rainfall. The heavy precipitation

resulted in major flooding, which caused consid-
erable property damage in numerous densely
populated areas and metropolitan centres with
high concentrations of values. Despite total eco-
nomic losses of around EUR 12.5 billion, the in-
sured losses from this event were in the region
of just EUR 300 million. 

This catastrophic event caused ceding com-
panies to adjust conditions according to market
requirements – especially in industrial business
– and hence the demand for reinsurance cap-
acity also rose. Towards the end of the year it was
thus possible on a large scale to implement both
long overdue premium increases and benefit
restrictions, which we also exploited in order to
expand our portfolio. 

Since we had already largely withdrawn
from the industrial insurance segment in the
preceding years due to the inadequate terms
and conditions prevailing in the market, the
flooding in northern Italy placed only a minimal
strain on our result. In motor third party liability
insurance we have long pursued a restrictive
underwriting policy. Due to the inadequate level
of original premiums, we accept almost exclu-
sively non-proportional business in order to di-
vorce ourselves from the original terms and con-
ditions. 

Overall, our Italian portfolio contracted
slightly. Nevertheless, our selective underwriting
policy enabled us to achieve an almost balanced
business result in a year of heavy losses. 

Eastern Europe

Ten years after the opening up of the mar-
kets, the implementation of economic reforms
and the accompanying deregulation of the in-
surance industry, it is still the case that the basic
political and economic conditions differ widely
in the various countries of eastern Europe. Par-
ticularly in the CIS states, numerous reforms con-

tinue to be necessary for the establishment of a
functioning insurance market. 

Nevertheless, the general state of the econ-
omy as a whole can be assessed increasingly fa-
vourably. The markets have experienced a broad-
ly based acceleration in economic growth. The



appreciably to its rivals, but still enjoys comfort-
able market shares of between 30% and 50%.
In those countries seeking to join the European
Union, the reforms implemented
by the insurance supervisory au-
thorities are aimed at rapid align-
ment with EU standards, i.e. the
introduction of solvency require-
ments, the abolition of price and
product controls and the tight-
ening of capital adequacy require-
ments. 

Against this backdrop, we
were successful – especially in
the Czech Republic, Poland and
Slovenia – in writing attractive
new business. In Romania and
Bulgaria, on the other hand, we
were unable to expand our position as planned.
Overall, however, we recorded gratifying growth.
Results were burdened by proportional motor
business, most notably in Bulgaria, as well as by
two major losses, as a consequence of which
our account closed with a slight technical def-
icit.
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Geographical breakdown of property and casualty
reinsurance in % of gross premium income

countries in the eastern part of central Europe
(Poland, Czech Republic, Slovenia, Slovakia and
Hungary) recorded growth of between 3% and
5% in gross domestic product. Bulgaria and
Romania also reverted to GDP growth in real
terms. Given that crude oil and other mineral
resources can currently be sold at adequate prices
on the global market, the Russian crisis of 1998
would appear to have been overcome.

The business development in the insurance
markets is largely founded on the expansion of
obligatory motor insurance. Adjusted for inflation,
the average annual growth in the non-life sector
in recent years was a gratifying 7.6%. Measured
as a percentage of gross domestic product, the
premium volume now stands at around 1.7% –
a level which is already roughly half that of
western Europe. 

First and foremost due to the entry into
the market of foreign insurance companies, a
properly functioning competitive environment
has emerged. This could clearly be observed, for
example, in the Czech Republic when the motor
third party liability monopoly was abolished.
The former holder of the monopoly lost business

North America

The US economy was clearly overshadowed
by an impending downturn in the year under
review, although its effects had not yet left a
mark on the insurance and reinsurance indus-
tries. A greater impact derived from the collapse
of the stock markets, thereby causing a drop in
the investment income, which in previous years
had partially offset the technical deficits. With
the decline in the valuation reserves in invest-
ment portfolios, stockholders' equity in the in-
surance industry also fell by a sizeable 2.5%. 

Furthermore, the scarcely adequate results
gave additional impetus to the trend towards
concentration among insurers and led to another
substantial number of mergers and acquisitions.
Most notably, many small and medium-sized com-
panies disappeared from the market. 

In 1998 and 1999 almost the entire US in-
surance industry suffered under wholly insuffi-
cient premiums and high loss burdens. In many
instances positive annual results could only be
shown by massively cutting reserving levels. In
the year under review this trend could no longer
be sustained. More due to the lack of profitabil-
ity than any shortage of capacity, a significant
turnaround began to occur. This manifested it-
self initially in workers' compensation insurance
and commercial motor insurance as well as in-
dustrial property business and some casualty
segments. US property and casualty insurance
business consequently showed overall premium
growth in excess of 5%. Yet it should not be
overlooked in this context that the amount of
the covered risks also increased sharply. The
costs of medical care, for example, have climbed
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by more than 50% in recent years, the concen-
tration of values in catastrophe-exposed coast-
al regions has risen particularly sharply and the
loss-of-profits risk in industrial property busi-
ness has increased considerably. It was more by
chance that the 2000 financial year was almost
entirely spared any significant natural catas-
trophes. 

The positive developments, which in some
sub-sectors are by no means adequate, also made
themselves felt in the reinsurance market. Most
notably, the trend towards multi-year covers was
stopped and increased deductibles from ground
up were implemented almost across the board.
The necessity of securing further improvements
derives, inter alia, from the need to restore re-
serves to the former levels. 

Declining premiums and increasing loss
amounts were the hallmark of liability (re-)insur-
ance in recent years. We had therefore heavily
scaled back our participation in this segment.
In the course of the year under review, however,
the basic environment improved appreciably –
a trend which was supported by the fact that
clients are attaching greater importance to the
financial strength of their reinsurers. 

We took advantage of various opportunities
and systematically increased our acceptances
in the areas of workers' compensation, commer-
cial motor and professional indemnity. Now that
conditions on some insurance markets have also
become more attractive and commissions could
be reduced, we began to expand our proportional
portfolio. In previous years we had withdrawn

to a large extent from this segment too. Over-
all, our casualty portfolio in the USA recorded
substantial growth. In the short term, this al-
ways goes hand-in-hand with a deterioration in
the combined ratio. However, since long-tail casu-
alty business accounts for disproportionately
large shares of the investment income, the profit
contributions are positive.

Although conditions in the insurance mar-
kets languished at a low level in property busi-
ness during the first two quarters of the year
under review, the second half of 2000 witnessed
a marked improvement in this area too. Insurers
were then able to demand adequate prices much
more systematically and to factor claims experi-
ences and risks into the pricing process. In this
segment, however, there is a particularly acute
need to supplement proportional reinsurance
cessions with additional non-proportional cover
for risks. Although these segments were not un-
usually burdened by sizeable losses in the pre-
vious year, reinsurance prices developed favour-
ably and we were therefore able to step up our
participation in this business. 

The rate level in (natural) catastrophe busi-
ness had already been largely sufficient in pre-
vious years due to the heavy demand. Wind-
storm and tornado risks in the Midwest of the
USA were an exception in this regard. Inad-
equate terms and conditions combined with an
increased number of losses produced unsatis-
factory results in this business, although these
were taken into consideration at year-end and
during the renewal season. On balance, our busi-
ness again recorded profitable growth.  

Latin and South America

Following the general economic crisis of
1999 the situation has largely stabilised. The
gross domestic product – spread across al-
together 17 countries – grew by 0.1% overall
to approximately 4%, while the inflation rate
fell from 8.5% to around 7.1%. The balance of
trade showed a surplus, and even foreign debt
was reduced from USD 756 billion to USD 741
billion. Interest rate cuts in the USA also posi-
tively impacted the level of foreign debt, which
in some countries was still high. 

This trend was fostered not only by US inter-
est rate movements but also by stable growth
in Europe, although the differences between in-
dividual countries were sometimes pronounced.
Mexico, for example, conducts 90% of its foreign
trade with the USA, whereas the proportion in
Argentina's case is just 10%. 

Motor insurance continues to be the most
important line of business for the insurance in-
dustry in Latin America. One after another, al-
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most all the countries have introduced obligatory
motor third party liability insurance. It should
be noted, however, that the required insured limits
are sometimes very low. With the exception of
Argentina, Brazil and Mexico, the same is there-
fore true of the premium volumes. In some in-
stances, motor own damage insurance included
natural catastrophe claims without reflecting
this in the tariffs, and premium levels were con-
sequently inadequate. What is more, this line of
insurance is generally transacted with very high
expense ratios – both for acquisition and internal
administration – and the business performance
was therefore again highly unsatisfactory. 

In Argentina court decisions placed an add-
itional enormous strain on the situation. Judges
awarded amounts of compensation on a par with
US practice, causing alarm especially among re-
insurers. If this trend continues, it is to be antici-
pated that reinsurers will withdraw entirely from
this market. In this connection, the modest pre-
mium increases at the end of the year under re-
view will scarcely have any positive implica-
tions. 

Due to the high natural catastrophe expos-
ure in Latin America, the fire line of insurance
together with its allied natural hazards risks is
heavily reinsured – especially given the relatively

low capital resources of insurers and hence their
correspondingly limited capacity to run busi-
ness in their retention. Accordingly, this seg-
ment is of paramount importance to reinsurers.
Following a phase characterised by massive pres-
sure on reinsurance terms and conditions with
correspondingly poor results, a series of loss
events has turned the market around. The con-
siderable losses of the previous years associated
with the storms "Mitch" and "Georges" as well
as the flooding in Venezuela and the Colombian
earthquake pushed original premiums higher and
made possible improvements in reinsurance con-
ditions. In Latin America, however, these positive
developments only commenced in the course of
the year and thus had little influence on results
in the year under review. Particularly in the in-
dustrial fire segment, results were therefore un-
satisfactory. 

It was generally noticeable that the Brazi-
lian reinsurance market failed to open up in the
year under review, and indeed it remained firmly
entrenched in its existing monopoly structure. We
remain ready to utilise the opportunities which
will present themselves after the expected de-
regulation. As things currently stand, however,
it is scarcely possible to foresee just when this
will happen on a comprehensive scale.  

Asia 

At the beginning of the year under review,
it appeared that most of the national econom-
ies in Asia had finally recovered from the dra-
matic slumps of 1998. Stimulated by exports,
especially to the United States, some countries
recorded double-digit growth rates. China even
achieved a 30% rise in exports. Japan, on the
other hand, scarcely showed any increase and
posted a mere 1.9% rate of real growth. 

Due to the different systems of govern-
ment and the associated degree of state con-
trol, the political and economic environments
confronted insurers and reinsurers with widely
differing tasks. 

In Japan the effects of the far-reaching
process of deregulation have currently reached

a high point. Fierce competition has ensued and
a hitherto unparalleled wave of consolidation
has been set in motion among insurers, with
the result that here, too, the number of reinsur-
ance clients is decreasing dramatically. It remains
to be seen how this development will impact the
demand for reinsurance capacity. 

Unlike the dynamic processes at work in
the insurance sector, the tone of the reinsuran-
ce market remained stable, and only in isolated
cases did considerations of market share and
prestige give rise to unjustifiable price reduc-
tions.

Supply and demand for natural catastrophe
covers continue to be the dominating feature
of the Japanese insurance market. Whereas in-
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surers tended to extend the scope of cover for
earthquake risks due to the competitive climate,
reinsurers only made capacity available at im-
proved terms and conditions, therefore causing
a shortage in the market. Our company similarly
reduced its participation in various proportional
treaties in this sector, preferring instead non-
proportional concepts, and initially our premium
volume therefore declined slightly. Windstorm
risks experienced sharp rate rises due to devel-
opments around the world, and in part as a con-
sequence of the major storm event in 1999 (ty-
phoon "Bart"). 

Marine business also performed well. In con-
trast to many other world markets, marine cargo
business in Japan was adequately priced and
correspondingly profitable.

The portfolio of risks with natural hazards
exposure produced generally favourable results,
and the overall result of our Japanese business
was therefore highly satisfactory. Nevertheless,
it should be borne in mind that this was in large
measure due to the fortuitous non-occurrence
of major losses. Considering the potential losses
and their statistical probability of occurrence,
we regard the rate level as insufficient. 

The renewal season in Korea was very slug-
gish at the beginning of the year under review.
In this market we systematically adhered to our
strategy of no longer supporting underrated
treaties – especially in non-proportional prop-
erty business. We counterbalanced this restraint
by writing business in segments with little or no
catastrophe exposure. Our approach proved jus-
tified and generated positive results with a vir-
tually unchanged premium volume. In the course
of the year additional opportunities emerged,
which we shall monitor in future via a represen-
tative office which we opened in Seoul in the
year under review. 

Due to continued positive growth, espe-
cially in its coastal regions, China has enjoyed
an extraordinary economic upturn. The strong
competitive pressure, which resulted from an
excessive number of reinsurers with overly high
expectations was clearly to the benefit of cli-
ents. We nevertheless posted a balanced result.

The total business volume – with regard to both
the insurance and reinsurance sectors – is still
very low. 

A number of competitors sharply scaled
back their involvement in the Taiwanese reinsur-
ance market. The ensuing decline in supply, which
actually encountered a rise in demand for nat-
ural catastrophe cover following the severe earth-
quake in September 1999, thus enabled rein-
surers to push through appreciable improvements
in terms and conditions. We ensured compliance
with minimum conditions for natural hazards
under proportional treaties and secured appro-
priate reductions in commission on our partici-
pations. The premium volume in this line of busi-
ness climbed sharply. We succeeded in assuming
the role of leading reinsurer under a number of
non-proportional programmes. This pleasing and
likely highly profitable growth unfortunately
contrasted with a number of losses in industrial
fire insurance, as a consequence of which we
showed a deficit for the year under review. 

Motor insurance continues to be one of the
most significant business segments in Taiwan.
Premium income from this line accounts for al-
most half of our total premium volume. These
participations posted satisfactory results. Overall,
therefore, our Taiwanese portfolio closed with a
slight technical deficit. 

The insurance markets in the ASEAN coun-
tries were slow to recover from the latest finan-
cial crisis and lagged somewhat behind the gen-
eral economic upswing. Competition for market
shares remained intense and overshadowed ini-
tial signs of improved conditions for reinsurers.
The rate level thus continued to decline, and
the worldwide turnaround has yet to materialise
in this region. Positive exceptions were Thailand
and Singapore, where it was at least possible to
halt the decline in premiums. 

Our results in the year under review were
adversely affected by several instances of flood
damage, which impacted the performance of
our property account. Thailand suffered the most
severe flooding in its history, and the Malaysian
capital Kuala Lumpur experienced its first-ever
major flooding. 
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In motor business, too, results in all the
ASEAN countries deteriorated. On the one hand,
this was attributable to increases in benefits
awarded by the courts in motor third party li-
ability insurance. On the other hand, the falter-
ing economic recovery in the second half of the
year had an adverse impact on this segment. 

Notwithstanding the aforementioned nega-
tive factors, the overall business performance in
the ASEAN region was satisfactory – a result
primarily made possible by our regional diversi-
fication and the favourable loss experience in
fire material damage insurance.   

Australia and New Zealand

In Australia, despite initial uncertainties
associated with the tax reform implemented in
July 2000, the positive economic growth of re-
cent years on a scale unparalleled in the coun-
try's history was sustained. In addition to several
company mergers – most notably in the finan-
cial and insurance sectors – the business climate
was characterised by the strong Australian dollar
and rising interest rates. Our point of departure
in the year under review was therefore deter-
mined by the progressive concentration in the
insurance market and the continuing excessively
low level of premiums. The disappearance from
the market of a number of domestic reinsurers
had few positive implications for the competitive
environment, since international players forced
their way into the market and competition there-
fore remained fierce. 

This situation was exacerbated by the fact
that the number of (re-)insurance brokers also
diminished, leaving the remaining brokers to
fight over a similarly reduced number of insurers.
Thorough technical analysis of risks sometimes
suffered under the competitive pressure thereby
unleashed; in many instances it proved impossible
to obtain remuneration which was more commen-
surate with the risk, and the premium develop-
ment fell short of expectations. 

This was all the more disappointing be-
cause in 1999 Australia had suffered the largest
insurance loss in the history of the continent –
the Sydney hailstorm with an estimated market
loss of AUD 1.9 billion. Even in natural catas-
trophe business the reaction to this event was
restrained, especially because many customers
had arranged multi-year policies which do not
come up for renewal until the middle of 2001.
At least in our proportional portfolio, however,

we observed the first hopeful trends inasmuch
as our clients were able to raise rates in the sec-
ond half-year – in some cases by double-digit
margins. 

By contrast, the liability line needs to be
considered in a more differentiated light. While
personal liability business continued its stable
development and facilitated moderate pre-
mium increases, industrial liability business still
suffered under inadequate tariffs. On the other
hand, the reform of privatised workers' compen-
sation business in western Australia – which
was initiated in 1999 – showed its first appre-
ciable positive effects in the year under review.
The reform not only made it more difficult to take
legal action, but also led to a marked rise in ori-
ginal premiums. We were thus able to improve
the hitherto negative results of our proportional
participations in this line of business. Owing to
the fact that the run-off of the reserves for older
occurrence years also proved better than ori-
ginally anticipated, the result for the reporting
period was very pleasing. 

Overall, in the course of the year under re-
view we cautiously and selectively stepped up
proportional acceptances again after scaling
them back substantially a few years ago. With the
exception of storms and flooding on a minor to
moderate scale, natural catastrophe business
was spared any major loss events, and we there-
fore generated a very good result in this seg-
ment. 
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Africa

The general economic situation through-
out Africa was difficult. Economic activity in
central Africa was adversely influenced by polit-
ical flashpoints. Hence, the growth achieved by
the insurance industry in East Africa, Kenya,
Tanzania and Uganda remained minimal. 

Against the backdrop of economic growth
of around 3.1% in 2000, the most significant
insurance market on the continent – South
Africa – was characterised by meagre growth and
intense competition. In the year under review,
as in previous years, it was difficult to secure
adequate premiums in southern Africa. What is
more, the high overall burden of losses hampered
profitable operations. This state of affairs was
exacerbated by extensive structural changes.
The number of medium-sized insurance com-
panies fell sharply. Four property and casualty
insurers ceased trading or were taken over in the
last year. This steady reduction in the number of
potential clients had a detrimental impact on
property and casualty reinsurance. The previ-
ously large number of insurers who ceded their
premiums to the reinsurers also had a positive

effect on risk spreading. Concentration under-
mined this balance of risks and made the re-
insurers' results more volatile. Particularly through
its co-operation arrangements with South African
insurance companies, our subsidiary Hannover
Re Africa successfully adjusted to these new
circumstances, thereby alleviating potential de-
clines in premium income. 

Despite depressed market prices and con-
siderable flood damage in the north-eastern
part of South Africa and in Mozambique as well
as various fire losses, the technical deficit posted
by Hannover Re Africa decreased appreciably.
The portfolio of fire business was burdened by
altogether 46 major claims with a loss amount
in excess of ZAR 1 billion. Total premium income
in this market was no more than ZAR 3 billion.
Compared to 1990, the rate level in the year
under review was thus down more than 60%
over a ten-year period. This prompted us to dras-
tically scale back this segment until prices recover
to an acceptable level. Results in motor business
were not satisfactory and placed a strain on the
technical account.

Marine and aviation reinsurance worldwide

In view of the special features of these lines,
we transact marine and aviation reinsurance in
a central department with worldwide responsi-
bility, thereby concentrating our expertise and
services in a single competence centre. 

The expansion of the global economy has
generally had a positive impact on the marine
insurance market. In Asia, for example, the turn-
over of goods picked up substantially as part of
the general turnaround in the economic crisis.
Ship owners worldwide saw an increase in the
level of freight rates. Developments on the oil
markets led to the increased building of produc-
tion facilities and greater capacity utilisation of
the worldwide tanker fleet. 

Due to fierce competition and overcapacity,
however, the marine insurance market again

failed to achieve any general improvement in
the rate level in 2000. As a consequence of the
poor results in recent years, various players
withdrew from the market; efforts to restore busi-
ness to profitability were therefore assisted by
more restricted capacities. Certain lines, such as
offshore business, recorded marked improve-
ments in terms and conditions including premium
increases and limitations on the scope of cover.

The favourable trend was even more pro-
nounced in the reinsurance market, for example
in non-proportional business written on the
London Market. It was possible here to increase
ceding companies' retentions and achieve aver-
age rate increases of 25 - 30%. In other coun-
tries, however, premium increases were more
moderate and the scope of coverage remained
largely unchanged. 
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We accept the predominant share of our
marine business from the London Market and
the USA. Since premiums in these markets are
for the most part booked in US dollars, our growth
in this sector is also attributable to the appre-
ciation of the dollar against the euro. 

Owing to the unsatisfactory result in pre-
vious years, we exercised great restraint in our
proportional acceptances. The focus of our ob-
ligatory acceptances was on non-proportional
reinsurance. In facultative reinsurance our risk
acceptances were concentrated on offshore busi-
ness as well as on types of coverage in the hull
and cargo lines where the only exposure is to
major losses. 

With slight overall growth the technical
result showed a modest improvement. 

In aviation and space reinsurance high rates
of increase continued to be recorded in the areas
of tourism and goods-in-transit. In space business
the demand for new telecommunications and
science satellites continued unabated. 

Although the year under review again wit-
nessed a number of plane crashes, the total
burden of losses was average. In both aviation
and space business the insurance markets con-
tinued to suffer under insufficient rates and con-

siderable overcapacity. Despite the fact that
sizeable reinsurance capacity was still avail-
able, the deficits of previous years gave rise to
rate increases averaging between 25% and
30%. Combined with greater airline activity
and increased fleet values, the market premium
for aviation fleets climbed from roughly USD
850 million to USD 1.2 billion. This level is never-
theless scarcely commensurate with the accepted
risk. 

In aviation and space business, as in marine
insurance, the reinsurance market was able to
some extent to divorce itself from these devel-
opments. Rate increases in the non-proportional
sector averaged 30 - 40%, albeit with some
major divergences depending on the individual
claims experience of specific programmes.  

The bulk of our aviation and space busi-
ness similarly derives from the London Market
and the USA. By purchasing the portfolio of the
Swedish company Atlantica we were able to
further expand our market share in Scandinavian
general aviation business. Our underwriting pol-
icy also concentrates on niche markets as well
as non-proportional and facultative business.
Thanks to this selective approach, the inad-
equate conditions prevailing in the primary in-
surance sector had only a very limited influence
on our result, which was satisfactory overall. 

Credit and surety reinsurance worldwide

As in marine and aviation reinsurance,
owing to the special features of these lines we
transact credit and surety business in a central
department with worldwide responsibility, there-
by concentrating our expertise and services in a
single competence centre.

Extremely fierce competition continued to
be a hallmark of the credit and surety lines in
the insurance markets. The very high level of
concentration on global groups – which hold
around 70% of the world market – and the pro-
gressive internationalisation of national markets
continued unabated. In this climate reinsurance
conditions came under further pressure, espe-

cially with respect to the globally operating
major cedent groups. This development was
based primarily on the very modest loss ratios
in Europe. 

In the USA, on the other hand, the dramatic
claims experience brought about sometimes
drastic rate increases and a marked tightening
of the underwriting criteria applied to the surety
market. The construction boom had led to in-
adequate rates at a number of leading surety
companies and resulted in serious negligence
in contract execution by their building custom-
ers. The consequence was an increased number
of major claims.       





Irene Steffensen,
International marine business
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Following the successful rehabilitation of
their German business in the previous years, Ger-
man credit insurers saw premiums come under
renewed pressure. Loss ratios also showed a strik-
ing deterioration, not least due to increased re-
tail insolvencies shortly before year-end. German
credit insurers were also adversely affected by the
crisis in the building industry. Premium growth
derived in large measure from the impressive
export boom. 

We attach strategic priority to credit and
surety business, and our premium volume showed
pleasing growth of around 6%. However, the
otherwise satisfactory results were impaired by
major losses in the USA, Mexico and Germany,
and this line therefore closed with a slight tech-
nical deficit. 

Life and health reinsurance

Key features of the 2000 financial year in
the business segment of life and health reinsur-
ance (Hannover Life Re) were the further ex-
pansion of international activities in our core
markets and the launch of the global brand
"Hannover Life Re – A Somewhat Different
Reassurer". We also commenced business oper-
ations at our branch offices in Kuala Lumpur
and Hong Kong and successfully established
our Irish life and health reinsurance company in
Dublin. 

Certain premium components in life and
health reinsurance (e.g. savings elements under

unit-linked life insurance policies) are not re-
ported as premium under US GAAP. In order to
reflect our business development as realistically
as possible, the premium income shown below
always includes such "premium deposits". Defined
in these terms, our consolidated gross premium
income grew to EUR 2,494 million. Nominally,
this constitutes an increase of 12% compared
to the previous year's figure of EUR 2,220 million.
However, this latter amount includes a special
transaction in Australia with a single premium
of approximately EUR 200 million. Once this as-
pect is factored out, the actual growth amounted
to 23%. 

199819992000

Gross written premiums* 2 494 2 220 1 403

Net premiums earned* 1 723 1 485 1 159

Investment income 204 217 144

Change in benefit reserves 37 496 255

Change in capitalised acquisition costs 424 391 298

Operating result before general expenses 83 46 23

Key figures for life and health reinsurance

* including premium deposits

Figures in EUR million
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Particularly significant growth impetus de-
rived from our preferred financing transactions
for life, annuity and personal accident portfolios
in German-speaking markets, the United King-
dom, South Africa and the Far East.

For refinancing purposes we again retro-
ceded sizeable parts of our business. Consolidated
net premiums (again including premium deposits)
therefore increased to EUR 1,723 million – a rise
of 16% compared to the previous year's figure of
EUR 1,485 million. The retention rate thus stood
at 69% in 2000 (as against 66% in the pre-
vious year). 

On account of our positioning as a finan-
cing reinsurer, financial factors have a greater
influence on our result than on that of other life
and health reinsurers. The following aspects, for
example, have a major impact on our portfolio
and are documented by means of extensive ac-
tuarial analyses and sensitivity studies: 

• the persistency of the (pre-)financed business
in force,

• the exchange-rate trend of the balance sheet
currency (euro) against foreign currencies,

• the credit/default risk of ceding companies,

• to a lesser extent the interest-rate movements
in foreign markets.

This applies particularly to our portfolio in
Europe – especially in German-speaking markets
– as well as to the USA, which accounted for ap-
proximately 43% of the total premium income. 

By contrast, in many of our markets the in-
fluence of the traditional risk segments of life,
personal accident and disability insurance as well
as of critical illness covers is limited. The results
of our health reinsurance portfolio improved
markedly over previous years – particularly in
the USA – but overall they were still unsatisfac-
tory.

In the year under review we devoted spe-
cial attention to the longevity risk. Our greatest
involvement here is in the United Kingdom
through our product partnerships in the area of
annuity policies for aggravated risks and other
enhanced annuities. On the basis of our analyses
and in close co-operation with our clients, we
significantly raised the conditions applicable to
certain risk groups for acceptance of these risks. 

The USA again witnessed a substantial num-
ber of take-overs of reinsurers in 2000. We too
participated in several auctions; however, in no
instance did our price expectations correspond
with those of the sellers, with the result that none
of these acquisition opportunities came to fru-
ition. 

The operating result before tax on income,
minority interests and other general expenses
totalled EUR 83 million in the year under re-
view, an increase of 80% on the previous year's
figure of EUR 46 million. 

A long-term assessment of the value added
should take into account not only the US GAAP
result but also the development of the net
embedded value of the portfolio. Reflecting the
present value of our portfolio of in-force con-
tracts, the present value of future profits rose
by 43% from EUR 609 million to EUR 874 mil-
lion. Of this present value of future profits, an
amount of EUR 597 million (EUR 374 million)
was already capitalised in the US GAAP balance
sheet as at 31 December 2000 as acquisition
costs or the present value of future profits (PVFP).

Life
53%

Personal
accident

1%

Health
35%

Annuity
11%

Breakdown of life and health reinsurance by lines in %
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These values are audited and certified separ-
ately for each Hannover Life Re company by an
internationally renowned firm of actuaries.

19992000 1998Figures in EUR million

Hannover Life Re Africa 10 7 6

Hannover Life Re America 120 95 51

Hannover Life Re Australasia 76 61 37

Hannover Life Re Germany (E+S Rück) 172 74 72

Hannover Life Re International 401 329 274

Hannover Life Re Ireland 42 – –

Hannover Life Re United Kingdom 53 43 28

Total 874 609 468

Of which already capitalised as present value of future profits 597 374 323

Non-capitalised portfolio value 277 235 145

Growth in the non-capitalised portfolio value 42 90

Development of net embedded values

Hannover Life Re – the network reinsurer

The business model of Hannover Life Re is
based on a network approach, under which seven
reinsurance companies currently work together
on an equal footing as independent risk carriers.
In this context, the companies in Hannover, Lon-
don, Dublin, Orlando, Johannesburg and Sydney
pool their financial resources, risk capacities, ex-
pertise and knowledge base as well as their sys-
tem structures. 

Home office in Hannover has assumed a
number of general tasks within this network. It
draws up the planning on a centralised basis and
assumes responsibility for controlling, the man-
agement of external retrocessions and capacity
refinancing via the capital markets.

Breakdown of gross premium income by companies
(before consolidation)

HLR America
29%

HLR International
45%

HLR Germany
12%

HLR Australasia
6%

HLR Africa
3%

HLR Ireland
3% HLR United Kingdom

2%
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The organisation is structured in such a
way that in future local competence centres
within the network will be accessible to our cli-
ents. They will thus be able to draw on our ex-
pertise and experience at any time. We believe
that this organisational form – that of the net-
work reinsurer – marks the way ahead. It facili-

tates flexible adjustment to future, still-to-be-
defined market requirements. 

As at year-end 2000 our clients around
the world could draw on the services of roughly
270 Hannover Life Re staff, around 220 of them
stationed abroad. 

Block assumption transactions

Since the mid-nineties, especially in the USA,
we have concentrated on a speciality product.
We assume entire portfolios of new business by
way of proportional reinsurance treaties – so-
called block assumption transactions (BATs). 

In the year under review clients continued
to use this method and the specialist expertise
of Hannover Life Re in order to optimise their
financial results and hence enhance their liquid-
ity or solvency/tax position. 

In 2000 we concluded eight new transac-
tions of this type in the USA, France, Luxem-
bourg and Japan, generating gross premiums of

around EUR 310 million for 2001. Five transac-
tions related to life and annuity portfolios, and
in three instances health insurance portfolios
were reinsured. On two occasions we retroceded
the lion's share (75%) to the international capital
markets using our securitisation instruments. 

The following sections describe activities
in our most important markets and highlight the
relevant areas of concentration. 

L1 51 1998 New business – life (11) 5
Western Europe

L2 128 1998 In-force business – life, 1 (4)
health, personal accident
Europe, North America

L3 50 1999 New and in-force business – life, 14 46
health, personal accident
Developing markets in Asia

L4 200 1999 Unit-linked life insurance 71 140
German-speaking 
markets

Volume in Year of Type of business Relief in 2000 Refinancing in 2000
EUR million placement (in EUR million) (in EUR million)

Refinancing through securitisation transactions
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North America

The US life insurance market is served by
Hannover Life Re of America. In this market we
have specialised almost exclusively in the afore-

mentioned "block assumption
transactions". We continued to
conclude such financing arrange-
ments on an ongoing basis. Five
new transactions, primarily con-
sisting of life and annuity insur-
ance portfolios, were completed
in the year under review. 

With effect from 31 Decem-
ber 2000, following two years
of preparatory work, we con-
cluded the largest life BAT in our
history with a renowned life in-

surer from the US state of Oklahoma. From 2001
onwards it will bring in an annual premium of
more than USD 80 million over the long term. 

The performance of our conventional life
reinsurance was also highly gratifying. In this

context, we have focused on niche products
offered by small US insurers; with new business
of USD 5.4 billion, the total sum insured of the
business in force reached USD 21.2 billion as at
31 December 2000.

The total assets of Hannover Life Re of
America amounted to USD 3,560 million as at
31 December 2000. This represents growth of
30.2% compared to the corresponding previ-
ous year's figure of USD 2,734 million. Gross
premium income, on the other hand, showed
only modest growth of USD 819 million (4.8%). 

The reported annual operating result after
tax of minus USD 2.5 million fails to adequately
reflect the true added value of the company due
to the special features of our block assumption
transactions. These transactions substantially
increase the non-capitalised value of our port-
folio. 

Australasia

Our operations in Australasia are conducted
by our subsidiary Hannover Life Re of Austral-
asia Ltd. In a fiercely competitive business cli-
mate, we maintained our market leadership
among locally active life reinsurers in Australia
with a market share of more than 35%. 

Gross premiums amounted to AUD 266
million. The claims experience with life and dis-
ability annuity risks was appreciably better than
in the previous years, and Hannover Life Re of
Australasia consequently generated a very pleas-
ing operating profit of AUD 11 million. 

Africa

At the beginning of 2000 we concentrated
our Group-wide southern African business in
the hands of the Hannover Re Africa Group in
Johannesburg; since that date our client rela-
tionships in southern Africa have been served
exclusively by Hannover Life Re Africa. South
African cedents account for 95% of its busi-

ness, while the remainder derives from Mauritius,
Kenya and Zambia.  

With premium income of ZAR 604 million
(equivalent to approximately EUR 93 million),
an increase of 42% in gross business was
achieved. 

North
America
50%

United Kingdom
13%

Germany
8%

France
5%

Rest of
Europe
4%

Australia
10%

Asia
3%

Africa
5%

Latin America
2%

Geographical breakdown of life and health reinsurance
as % of consolidated gross premium income
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Results were burdened especially by cer-
tain segments of South African health reinsur-
ance, and with an operating deficit of ZAR 12

million the performance of the portfolio as a
whole was therefore unsatisfactory. 

United Kingdom and Ireland

We are represented by two operational
risk carriers in the United Kingdom and Ireland.
Hannover Life Reassurance (UK) Ltd. in London
handles the conventional, more risk-orientated
reinsurance market in the UK and Ireland. Han-
nover Life Reassurance (Ireland) Ltd., on the other
hand, which we established in Dublin in the sec-
ond half of 1999, has been assigned a core stra-
tegic task within Hannover Life Re. Equipped with
a small, highly skilled team, it is able to make
use of the favourable supervisory and solvency
framework in Ireland in order to implement be-
spoke reinsurance solutions for our international
clientele.

The gross premium income of Hannover
Life Reassurance (UK) grew to GBP 42.2 million
in the year under review, an increase of 35%
compared to the previous year. 

Particularly gratifying was the strong in-
crease in new life business and critical illness
policies with regular premiums, which now ac-
count for almost 60% of total premiums. We ac-
quired a number of new client relationships in

this area and took over the position of market
leader in the United Kingdom. A further special-
ity is the design and administration of annuity
policies sold to private customers through the
marketing channels of major banks. This single-
premium business now generates more than
40% of premium income. The claims experience
in life business and with critical illness covers
was again highly satisfactory, as a consequence
of which Hannover Life Reassurance (UK) gen-
erated an operating profit of GBP 3 million. 

Hannover Life Reassurance (Ireland) de-
velops and markets its financially orientated
reinsurance solutions both directly for clients of
Hannover Life Re and through the retrocessions
of other Hannover Life Re companies. Gross pre-
mium income in the company’s first full financial
year totalled EUR 77 million; of this amount,
86% stemmed directly from external clients,
while the remaining 14% derived from other
Hannover Life Re companies. As anticipated,
the business accepted performed very favourably
and generated an operating profit of EUR 4 mil-
lion. 

Germany

The gross premium income of the home
office in Germany showed a marked increase in
2000. A sizeable portion of this business (al-
most 50%) was attributable to retrocessions of
foreign subsidiaries to Hannover Life Re Inter-
national. This office is also responsible for per-
formance controlling within Hannover Life Re
in the light of both risk and financial consider-
ations. As part of this brief, further financing
arrangements were retroceded to the internation-

al capital markets in the year under review by
way of securitisations.

In Germany we observed increased demand
among our clients for liquidity relief as a conse-
quence of the explosive growth in unit-linked life
insurance (27% market share of new business
in 2000). Against this backdrop, we succeeded
in further expanding our leading position as a
reinsurer of unit-linked life insurance policies. 
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Many of our activities in the German mar-
ket are carried out with an eye to the future
and are intended to establish the basis for a sus-
tained improvement in our market position in
the years to come. This was particularly true in

the light of the strong demand anticipated for
financing arrangements as a consequence of
the introduction of additional old-age provision
encouraged as part of the Pension Reform Act.

Other countries

Activities conducted in other countries are
grouped together under Hannover Life Re Inter-
national and encompass a network of three
branch offices in Stockholm, Kuala Lumpur and
Hong Kong as well as service and marketing
centres in Paris, Milan, London, Madrid, Mexico
City, Shanghai, Taipei and Tokyo. We are thus in
a position to provide our clients with technical
support and expert advice on a local basis. 

The office in Hannover not only serves Ger-
many but also, most notably, Austria, Switzer-
land, Luxembourg, Liechtenstein and the Nether-
lands as well as South American markets and
selected clients in the United Kingdom. An out-
standing feature of 2000 was the conclusion of
a large-volume reinsurance treaty with a major
financial group in the United Kingdom, which
we provided with extensive support for the estab-
lishment of a company specialising in the senior
citizens' segment. Our assistance included prod-
uct development, systems for risk selection and
underwriting as well as the necessary financing
arrangements. 

With 17 staff, our service centre in Paris is
one of the larger offices abroad. The French market
underwent further consolidation in 2000, which
also impacted the demand for reinsurance. Con-
trary to the general market trend, however, we
were highly successful in enhancing our market
penetration and further enlarging our leading
position in the French market. Particularly close
contacts with marketing and consulting firms
helped us to generate some business "at grass-
roots level". In addition, we have already suc-
ceeded in paving the way for several trans-
actions, on the basis of which – in combination

with changes in the law which are expected in
France, e.g. in the areas of unemployment and
long-term care insurance – we believe that this
market offers favourable general prospects. 

Whereas in former years we had principally
concentrated on financing transactions from our
Milan-based Italian office, in the past two to
three years we have established ourselves in
the market through joint product development
activities with various ceding companies. In add-
ition to disability and long-term care policies,
our clients were especially interested in cover-
age for the unemployment risk as part of credit
life insurance. Owing to changes in tax legislation
in the year under review, the demand for financing
arrangements for traditional  insurance products
will tend to decline in the coming years. On the
other hand, segments such as unit-linked life in-
surance and the reinsurance of capital market
risks now offer promising opportunities. 

The Spanish life insurance market, respon-
sibility for which rests with our service centre in
Madrid, is currently heavily dominated by a
number of savings products sold over the counter
at banks. Purely from the risk perspective the
reinsurance requirement associated with these
savings products is relatively low, and the pres-
sure of competition is correspondingly high. We
nevertheless succeeded in asserting our position
as one of the leading life reinsurers in the client
segment consisting of banks and savings insti-
tutions. 

A team of 16 staff in Stockholm is respon-
sible for the markets of Scandinavia, central
and eastern Europe as well as the south-eastern
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Mediterranean region. In Scandinavia we ob-
served increasing merger activity among our
clients, and their total number therefore de-
creased. Nevertheless, the year also saw the for-
mation of a number of new companies, with
which we established reinsurance relations. Our
business activities in the south-eastern Medi-
terranean region were concentrated on Israel
and Cyprus. 

Our office in Mexico City enjoyed great
success in the year under review, acquiring
twelve new clients in various parts of Central
America. This achievement was founded in large
measure on our local presence and the offer of
training resources, especially in the areas of
underwriting and reinsurance administration. 

We have long had a presence in Kuala
Lumpur, and with effect from 1 January 2000
we were the first foreign reinsurer to acquire
the status of a branch office for life as well as
non-life business. In Hong Kong too we were
granted a licence with effect from 1 January
2000 to operate a branch office, having pre-
viously maintained a representative office for
marketing purposes. The geographical scope of
responsibility assigned to this branch office ex-
tends from Korea through China (including Hong

Kong) and Taiwan as far as Japan. The sales
activities of the ten local staff are supported by
life specialists at our Shanghai, Tokyo and Tai-
pei locations. 

The most notable event in the year under
review was the conclusion of a large-volume fi-
nancing transaction with a medium-sized Japa-
nese life insurer. This arrangement offered our
client the desired solvency relief and has since
been terminated as agreed. In Japan we also
succeeded in establishing business relations with
additional primary insurers. Consequently, we
are now well positioned in what is – after the
USA – the second-largest life insurance market
in the world. 

As the most heavily populated country in
the world, we devote special attention to China.
Through the use of our worldwide network we
offer Chinese life insurers extensive technical
support as well as specially tailored training
measures for their staff.  

Program business

The Clarendon Insurance Group, New York,
which has been part of the Hannover Re Group
since 1999, is the market leader in US program
business. Whilst this speciality of the US market
technically constitutes primary insurance, this
acquisition in no way signifies our entry into
the insurance sector. In many respects program
business reflects the principles and practices of
reinsurance, and for this reason it constitutes a
strategic segment in its own right within our
Group. Program business is written in very close
co-operation with highly specialised managing
general agents (MGAs). 

We have begun to export the business idea
underlying program business and have brought
together on a centralised basis program business
already existing outside the USA. Two different
models are in use. The Clarendon model is based
upon passing on the largest possible portions of
the accepted business to reinsurers, who assume
the role of risk carriers (reinsurance model). The
principal source of income here is the fees which
reinsurers pay Clarendon for its assumption of the
primary insurer's function. However, such pro-
grams can also be accepted on a so-called re-
tention basis; in other words, the niche business



is still written by highly specialised managing
general agents "on behalf of" the program in-
surer, but in line with more usual practice only a
small portion is reinsured. In this case, the tech-
nical result and the investment income constitute
the profits basis. This model is more appropriate
for programs with modest premium volumes of
less than EUR 5 million, and it is already in use
in some markets outside the USA. 

By far the bulk of our program business
stems from Clarendon. Nevertheless, we have
already positioned our Los Angeles-based sub-
sidiary Insurance Corporation of Hannover to
transact the retention model in the USA, while
other international business is concentrated in
the hands of our subsidiary International Insur-
ance Company of Hannover in London. The latter
two companies contributed 10% of gross pre-
miums in program business and hence accounted
for 14 percentage points of the overall growth,
which totalled 45% to reach EUR 1.97 billion.
Altogether, 17 percentage points were attribut-
able to exchange-rate effects. The tendency here

towards a higher retention produced a dispro-
portionately strong increase in net premiums from
program business. 

Results were decisively influenced by the
Clarendon Insurance Group, which looked back
on a year of mixed fortunes. Despite parting with
a sizeable portion of the business existing at
the beginning of the year, gross premium income
in the year under review grew by 30% to EUR
1.8 billion. This growth was generated through
higher premiums – sometimes up by as much
as 50% – as well as the expansion of current
programs and the acquisition of new business.
With various competitors in danger of losing
business as a consequence of downgrades by the
rating agencies, additional new business oppor-
tunities opened up. In these instances Clarendon
benefited from its very good rating compared
to its rivals and was able to take over such busi-
ness. In this way it further expanded its position
as market leader in US program business. 
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19992000Figures in EUR million

Gross written premiums 1 974 1 364

Net premiums earned 293 163

Technical result (7) 42

Investment income 25 10

Operating result before general expenses 17 52

Loss ratio 89% 79%

Expense ratio 13% (4%)

Combined ratio 102% 75%

Key figures for program business

Clarendon's business success continues to
be founded on its ability to respond flexibly to
market opportunities while at the same time
applying strict standards to risk acceptance and
the management of business. New programs were
developed in the year under review, and the
company considerably expanded the scope of

audit activities used to constantly monitor MGAs.
In some cases, however, it was also necessary to
cancel programs in order to limit losses. In ac-
cordance with the business model, the bulk of
the premiums were ceded to reinsurers. The net
premiums written amounted to EUR 168 million,
and the retention thus decreased further to 9.4%.
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The result posted by Clarendon reflects a
difficult year. Some business relationships could
not be continued because of the losses they
produced. On the other hand, the core business
that was not cancelled recorded the expected
profitable performance. Controlled expansion of
these programs was a factor in this success, as
was the well-balanced and diversified portfolio
structure. No single line of business accounts
for more than 20% of the total premium volume. 

The year under review was spared any sub-
stantial loss events, and Clarendon's property
business – which primarily consists of insurance
for buildings in Florida and California – therefore
closed with generally positive results. In workers'
compensation business we focused on a smaller
number of MGAs with a higher average premium
as the year progressed. Due to the large propor-
tion of business reinsured and the stable level
of fees, the overall result of this line was satis-
factory. Although our premium income in private
motor insurance contracted by around 20% com-
pared to the previous year, we improved results
and met our profit requirements. Despite con-
siderable regrouping within the portfolio, the
volume of business in commercial motor insur-
ance remained stable. This was also true of the
current results situation. Due to a significant
boosting of the reserves for losses from previ-
ous years, however, this line closed with a deficit.
Personal accident and health business was also
disappointing both with regard to terms and
conditions – and hence growth prospects – and
results. Consequently, we have begun to review
our participation in this line of business. 

Overall, fee income – Clarendon's principal
source of revenue – rose by around 6% from
USD 82 million to USD 87 million. On the other
hand, the substantial strengthening of the re-
serves, the default on a reinsurance receivable
and the inadequate premium level placed a con-
siderable strain on the technical account, as a
consequence of which only a break-even result
was achieved. In this context, the terminated
business relationships had a significant negative
impact on the result. 

Three years ago the Insurance Corporation
of Hannover (ICH) began to develop program

business based on the retention model, i.e. unlike
Clarendon ICH runs most of the risk in its own
retention or reinsures a large part of it within
the Hannover Re Group. In the year under review
the company's gross premiums from program
business totalled USD 79 million, primarily from
motor insurance. Despite the costs associated
with building up this business and the unsatis-
factory market conditions prevailing at the be-
ginning of the year under review, the operating
result of USD 5 million was highly satisfactory. 

In March 2001, ICH acquired the renewal
rights to the program business of Acceptance
Insurance Companies, Inc. with a gross premium
volume in the order of USD 60 million. The ex-
perienced underwriting team of Acceptance was
also taken over as part of this transaction. Bearing
in mind also that terms and conditions on the
American insurance markets have improved
considerably, we expect gross premiums of more
than USD 125 million and appreciably higher
results in the current year. 

The International Insurance Company of
Hannover Ltd. (Inter Hannover) began preparing
the ground for the cultivation of program busi-
ness in Europe around 18 months ago. The infra-
structure has now been put in place, and a highly
specialised, experienced team has been charged
with implementing the plans. In the year under
review we largely transferred existing European
program business in the area of property and
casualty reinsurance to Inter Hannover. In add-
ition, based on an analysis of the most important
European markets, we began to draw up a com-
munication concept. Taking this as our starting
point, the aim is to launch active marketing of our
operation at the end of the third quarter 2001. 

The total volume of Inter Hannover's pro-
gram business, which for the most part derives
from the United Kingdom, Ireland and Germany,
amounted to EUR 115 million in the year under
review. The portfolio generated a gratifying op-
erating profit of EUR 6 million. 

Inter Hannover's stated aim is to evolve
into a recognised writer of program business in
Europe. Its target segment comprises managing
general agents who have focused on a special
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Financial reinsurance

The framework conditions under which we
offer our financial reinsurance products developed
favourably in the year under review. The world-
wide trend towards concentration in the insur-
ance markets led to greater volatility in the risk
situation in recent years and hence in insurers'
results. In order to counteract the repercussions
of both technical risks and general risks, insurers
are increasingly calling for reinsurance products
that spread these burdens over several years.
What is more, the volatility of our clients' results
was further exacerbated by the implementation
of new accounting standards (IAS, US GAAP).

This increased the need and demand for
reinsurance solutions that protect their balance
sheets. As an additional factor, various market
players purchased traditional reinsurance cover
in those periods when it could be obtained at a
reasonable price, despite the fact that they were
not dependent on the risk transfer. Now that
traditional protection has become harder to ob-
tain and in some cases substantially more expen-
sive, these clients too are increasingly seeking
alternative solutions.  

customer or product segment and whose infra-
structure and business policy orientation prom-
ise a long-term successful co-operation. The goal
is to establish business relations with no more
than 30 MGAs Europe-wide. In accordance with
the approved business plan, Inter Hannover is
seeking to generate a premium volume of GBP
300 million from program business in the next
five years. 

The overall result in the program business
segment reflects not only the performance of
the individual companies but also at the Group
level amortisation of the goodwill of Clarendon,
pro-rata interest on debt financing, expenses for

the Group as a whole and the effects of deferred
taxes. Before deduction of these general expenses
the operating result declined – most notably
due to Clarendon – from EUR 52 million to EUR
17 million, but it remained in positive territory
despite the special strains.

199819992000Figures in EUR million

Gross written premiums 870 509 368

Net premiums earned 801 463 351

Technical result (114) (37) (37)

Investment income 168 75 79

Operating result before general expenses 54 38 42

Loss ratio 120% 62% 97%

Expense ratio (6%) 46% 16%

Combined ratio 114% 108% 113%

Key figures for financial reinsurance
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This was particularly true of the already well-
developed financial reinsurance markets such as
North America and the United Kingdom. The de-
veloping markets in Asia and Latin America fol-
lowed the trend, and it is now the case that non-
traditional financial reinsurance solutions are
used almost everywhere in order to stabilise bal-
ance sheet result and optimise the cost of capital.

This rising demand went hand-in-hand with
a growth in the range of solutions now available
from almost all established reinsurers. Not only
that, various niche providers have specialised in
customised solutions. Overall, there has been 
a considerable intensification in competition
founded on a willingness to accept technical risks
with varying degrees of risk transfer.

We made the most of this environment
and vigorously enlarged our business; in accord-
ance with our practice to date, we focused on
individual and sometimes highly complex con-
structions, which are closely geared to our clients'
specific needs but comprise only a minimal degree
of risk transfer. 

The training facilities offered to our clients
with a view to passing on information about
the benefits of innovative financial reinsurance
solutions constitute a key aspect of our efforts
to acquire new business. In many countries –
most notably in Asia – even the supervisory
authorities are now taking a positive view of
our educational activities. Needless to say, it is
also in our interest that these countries develop
clear and transparent regulatory frameworks and
rules for financial reinsurance. This will enable
many still hesitant clients to shed their inhibitions
when it comes to using new reinsurance solutions. 

We have concentrated our financial rein-
surance activities at the International Financial
Services Centre (IFSC) in Dublin, where we op-
erate through two reinsurance companies –
Hannover Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd. and E+S
Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd. The financial position
and development of our financial reinsurance
segment are determined by the consolidated
business figures of these two operational risk-
carriers. 

The business year just-ended was marked
by strong growth. Compared to the previous year,
gross premium income grew by 71% to EUR
870 million. Roughly 18 percentage points of this
growth were attributable to exchange-rate ef-
fects, particularly the appreciation of the US
dollar against the euro. Decisive growth impetus
again derived from the North American and UK
markets, where we concluded significant new
business. Retrocessions were used principally to
reduce risk components under our original trans-
actions. The retention thus remained virtually
unchanged at 92%, and net premiums written
increased proportionately to EUR 801 million.
Under US GAAP some financial reinsurance trans-
actions are reported in the non-technical rather
than the technical account. Although they form
part of our financial reinsurance activities, their
volume is therefore not reflected in the premium.
We anticipate that the scale of such transactions
will steadily grow in significance in the future. 

Bearing in mind the special nature of finan-
cial reinsurance business, it is to be assumed
that the premiums collected and the invest-
ment income generated on these premiums will
in large measure flow back to our clients in subse-
quent years. Given the fact that under the applic-
able accounting requirements we are obliged
to show these amounts as loss reserves, loss ex-
penditure climbed sharply to EUR 963 million.
Generally speaking, in financial reinsurance little
insight is to be gained by considering the tech-
nical account in isolation, since non-technical
items normally form an integral part of the trans-
action. 

Thanks to the favourable general climate
enjoyed by our financial reinsurance segment,
we increased the previous year's high operating
result before general expenses by a pleasing
42% from EUR 38 million to EUR 54 million. 

The strong capitalisation of both companies
– EUR 180 million for Hannover Re Ireland and
EUR 144 million for E+S Re Ireland – enables
us to assert our position in the competitive
arena, not least by offering considerable under-
writing capacities. The financial strength of the
companies and their integration into the Han-
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Germany

German insurance companies have con-
sistently found themselves confronted by new
challenges in recent years. The lowering of bar-
riers within the European Union, national deregu-
lation and their own striving for growth all led
to increased competitive pressure. 

The system of equalisation reserves enables
many German insurers to balance results over
time to some degree. However, the heavily for-
mula-based method used to calculate the equal-
isation reserves imposes limits on the balance

sheet stabilisation which can be achieved, and
these restrictions are not always in tune with
current and future needs. 

These considerations have prompted com-
panies to take a greater interest in modern
reinsurance solutions. Their primary objective is
to optimise the management of capital costs and
to put balance sheet protection on a broader
footing, where appropriate by also including
non-technical aspects.

North America

Accounting for around two-thirds of total
premium volume in this segment, North America
– and in particular the USA – remains by far our

most important market. We have
concentrated here primarily on
products that enable our clients
to realise profits, which in eco-
nomic terms have already been
achieved, more quickly. Thanks
to our balance sheet capacities,
we are a sought-after contact
especially among major US in-
surers and reinsurers. Further-
more, US clients are frequently
obliged by supervisory regula-
tions to require bank guarantees

from their reinsurers. Since such capacities are
available to us at reasonable terms on the basis
of our excellent rating, we are therefore able to
satisfy these requirements. 

Growth in the year under review derived
principally from the expansion of existing client
relationships. The poor conditions prevailing in

the insurance markets in the previous year and
at the beginning of 2000 resulted in increased
calls on treaties dating from earlier years. These
produced additional premiums and correspond-
ing investment income. For our part, due to the
mechanisms underlying our financial reinsurance
arrangements, the fundamentally negative de-
velopment of risks and losses from previous
years scarcely caused any additional strain and
left our results largely unscathed. 

We co-operate closely with brokers as well
as directly with insurers and reinsurers when
acquiring our business. Our goal is to reinforce
our market position and in this way ensure that
we share in the positive trend in reinsurance
conditions in all sectors of the market. This is all
the more imperative in view of the fact that the
increase in the premium level has also rendered
the transfer of risk components more attractive.

Rest of Europe
11%

Australia
1%

North America
82%

Germany
3%

Asia
3%

Geographical breakdown of financial reinsurance in %
of gross premium income

nover Re Group are also reflected in their rat-
ings. In addition to the existing A+ (Superior)
rating from the agency A.M. Best, which is par-
ticularly significant in the North American mar-
ket, both companies were for the first time
awarded Standard & Poor's second-highest rat-

ing of AA+ (Very Strong) during the reporting
period. 

The following sections describe the devel-
opment of financial reinsurance in our most im-
portant markets. 
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Investments

The financial markets were again highly
volatile – and at times even turbulent – in the
2000 financial year. This was especially true of
the stock markets; taking their leads from the
USA, movements on the exchanges varied. The
sustained bullish mood in the TMT (technology,
media and telecommunications) sectors through
into March 2000 pushed the leading indices in
the USA and Europe to record highs which –
viewed on the basis of fundamentals – were al-

most beyond comprehension. It was above all
these stocks which then suffered an at times
dramatic crash in the second half of the year. As
the manifestly exaggerated price trends per-
sisted into May, the US Federal Reserve Board
responded with a restrictive interest rate policy
in order to quickly counter the possible infla-
tionary risks. Even during the summer the vast
majority of market players were still unable to
recognise that the economy would take such a

Europe

As one of the developed markets for finan-
cial reinsurance products, the United Kingdom
constitutes the focal point of our activities in
Europe. We eased our hitherto rather restrictive
position in the year under review because the
terms and conditions under which clients sought
financially orientated covers improved appre-
ciably. This applied inter alia to Lloyd's Syndicates,
whose results for recent underwriting years had
shown a sometimes alarming trend; demand for
covers designed to stabilise results thus increased

in step with a greater willingness to pay margins
which were commensurate with the risk. 

In other European markets, too, an upsurge
in interest in innovative reinsurance solutions
could be discerned. Many companies, however,
were still at the stage of gathering information
and building up the appropriate know-how. We
supported these efforts with new training ser-
vices. 

Asia and Australia

The energy that we have invested in the
Asian region over the past several years led to a
number of relationships, most notably with the
aim of creating balance sheet continuity and
reducing the cost of capital. The increased de-
mand also attracted the attention of various
supervisory authorities, which are keen to develop
appropriate regulatory frameworks.  

Concepts are currently being designed in
Japan for the financing of natural catastrophe
risks. Tendencies towards the use of innovative
products for balance sheet stabilisation can also

be identified, particularly in the context of risks
associated with the loss reserves of earlier
years. 

Several large transactions have secured
our position as one of the dominant reinsurers
in the financially orientated sector of the Aus-
tralian market. Through constant enhancement
of our products and close co-operation with our
existing and potential new clients, we shall con-
solidate and expand our market position. 

In the coming years we anticipate signifi-
cant growth in our German portfolio, both as re-

gards the number of treaties and the premium
volume. 
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dramatic downturn, bringing stock prices down
with it. In addition to the interest rate rises in
the USA, the strength of the US dollar also served
to cool down the American economy. What is
more, energy prices rose sharply – especially for
crude oil – and placed a strain on economic ac-
tivity worldwide. It was thus evident that the
high point in the economic cycle had finally
passed, and the downward trends merely added
to the pressure on companies' business prospects
and hence their stock market value.  

The interest rate policy in the USA not only
had a decisive impact on share prices, it also dom-
inated the interest rate markets. Particularly in
the area of short maturities, increases in key

lending rates by the US Federal
Reserve and the European Cen-
tral Bank during the first half of
the year led to interest rate rises.
In the second half of the year,
faced with a slowing US economy,
the central banks adopted a more
cautious approach. Longer ma-
turities, such as 10-year govern-
ment bonds, showed an impres-
sively stable trend throughout
the year. It was notable in this
connection that in January 2000
the interest rate curve was in-

verted for the first time in this cycle: the yield
on 30-year interest-bearing securities dropped
below those with a 10-year maturity. Further
interest rate cuts ensued with correspondingly
favourable effects on bond market prices. Inter-
est rates for 10-year US Treasury Bonds fell from
more than 6.8% in January to less then 5% in
December. The same trend saw the benchmark
yield in Europe reduced from 5.7% to 4.8%. 

The situation on the financial markets was
thus all but reversed over the course of the year:
initially booming stocks and unstable bond mar-
kets contrasted with dramatic falls in the value
of company shares and more robust bonds and
debentures by year-end. 

Although we substantially expanded our
reinsurance portfolio, our self-managed assets
(i.e. excluding funds held by ceding companies)
grew only slightly by 3.5% to EUR 10.2 billion
(EUR 9.8 billion). In life and health reinsurance
business, treaties frequently make provision for
the benefit reserves for which the reinsurer is
responsible to be deposited with the ceding com-
pany. The high premium growth in this segment
consequently does not lead to corresponding
additions to our self-managed assets. The situ-
ation is similar in program business due to the
low retention rate and in financial reinsurance,
where the contracting parties often dispense
with a real exchange of assets. Although prop-
erty and casualty reinsurance generated very
strong growth in the year under review, this has
not as yet been significantly reflected in increases
in the investment portfolio because the natural
catastrophes which occurred in the 1999 calendar
year – especially the winter storms – caused
considerable cash outflows in the 2000 calendar
year in the form of claims payments.

There were no major changes in the struc-
ture of our investment portfolio in the year under
review. In accordance with our strategy of in-
vesting the Group's capital in equities, we in-
creased our total equity holdings to around EUR
1.6 billion. In relation to our total self-managed
assets, the proportion attributable to equities
thus rose from 14.0% in the previous year to
15.6%. In the light of the emerging negative
market trend, however, we carried out consider-
able regrouping within our equity portfolio. The
previous overweighting of technology and growth
stocks was almost entirely eliminated from April
2000 onwards. As in the previous year, these
substantial sales of portfolio holdings produced
high profits on disposals. The growth in our equity
portfolio was largely financed by the scaling back
of short-term investments, which were reduced
from EUR 709 million in the previous year to
EUR 476 million.  

AAA
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 13%

<BBB
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BBB
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Rating of fixed-income securities
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The focus of our investments continued to
be on fixed-income securities, which accounted
for an unchanged share of 67%. The high quality
of the portfolio reduced the overall investment
risk. With a comparable maturity pattern, the
average yield on our fixed-income securities
was slightly below that of 1999 due to the inter-
est rate movements in recent years. 

Our growth capital and private equity in-
vestments are reported in the balance sheet
under the item "Other invested assets". Both in
absolute and relative terms, the change in the
share of total investments attributable to these
items was insignificant in the 2000 financial
year. 

Unrealised price gains in our portfolio of
fixed-income and equity securities decreased
overall by EUR 16 million to EUR 102 million.
The declining interest rate level produced an
increase in value in the portfolio of fixed-income
securities totalling EUR 149.6 million compared
to the previous year. On the other hand, un-
realised price gains in the equity portfolio fell
markedly from EUR 169.2 million to EUR 15.5
million due to profits on disposals and the gen-
eral development of the market. 

Despite the mere slight increase in self-
managed investments, ordinary investment in-
come surged by 28% to EUR 799 million. This
increase was in large part attributable to sig-
nificantly higher deposit interest credited – es-
pecially in financial reinsurance – as well as to
higher interest credited on the benefit reserves
in life reinsurance. 

The regroupings in our equity portfolio
combined with the continuing good earnings
performance of our private equity investments
again generated gratifyingly high profits on
the disposal of investments. In the previous year
realised profits on disposals had been favourably
influenced by a special effect amounting to EUR
50 million in connection with a life reinsurance

treaty. Nevertheless, the total income of EUR
251 million even surpassed the extraordinarily
high level of the previous year.
The losses from the disposal of
investments in the amount of
EUR 70.5 million were on a par
with the previous year; they too
derived principally from our
equity portfolio. Other invest-
ment expenses were, however,
significantly higher. The increase
of EUR 57 million to EUR 107
million was attributable to a
change in the valuation method
applied to our participations in
two domestic venture capital
companies. This change led to a
depreciation charge of EUR 55 million. Ad-
justed for this special effect, the increase in the
other investment expenses was EUR 2 million. 

Total net investment income stood at EUR
869 million, a figure which surpassed the pre-
vious year's highly satisfactory result by a fur-
ther 5%. 
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Risk management

The long-standing concern with the issue
of risk management has in recent years also ac-
quired considerable prominence in communica-
tion with the financial markets. Particularly con-
spicuous examples of glaring control weaknesses
and the resulting corporate crises contributed to
the adoption in Germany of the Law on Control-
ling and Transparency in Business (KonTraG) with
effect from 1 May 1998. The legislation stipu-
lates that risks which could jeopardise a com-
pany's continued existence must be rendered
transparent by means of an efficient control and
monitoring system; we consider this requirement
to be an indispensable prerequisite for the man-
agement of the Group. 

The acceptance and professional manage-
ment of risks constitute the core business of an
internationally operating reinsurer; to this ex-
tent, the professional management of risks is
also a major competitive factor for our com-
pany. This has a bearing on the concerns and
interests of both our business partners and our
shareholders. Our business partners expect us
to have sufficient risk capital resources and a
correspondingly high security rating from re-
nowned rating agencies. Our shareholders, on the
other hand, call for returns that are commensur-
ate with their invested capital and the accep-
ted risk. We try to satisfy these opposing expect-
ations with optimised capital resources, which
are nevertheless adequate to meet the risks in-
volved. Consequently, risk management has al-
ways played a central role in the management
of Hannover Re's business. 

Within the framework of our comprehensive
risk management system, we assess systematic-
ally and at regular intervals the risks which could

threaten our company's future existence with
an eye to determining the possible loss amount,
probability of occurrence and time horizon. At
the operational level, the system is locally inte-
grated into the organisation of Hannover Re's
various business segments. This allocation of re-
sponsibility is intended to ensure that risks can
be identified and controlled as quickly as pos-
sible. To this end, we use a number of quite dif-
ferent measuring methods tailored to the indi-
vidual risk, and they provide information at an
early stage about any potentially undesirable
developments. A central risk co-ordinator ensures
that all the risk management activities carried
out are monitored, harmonised and documented;
the co-ordinator also bears responsibility for the
comprehensive description of the risk situation
of the company as a whole. Independently of
these permanently installed procedures, the in-
ternal auditing department verifies compliance
with defined processes in all functional areas of
our company.   

Our risk management system distinguishes
between three risk categories:

• Global, external risks,

• Strategic risks,

• Operating risks, which we subdivide into 
– technical risks,
– investment risks and
– other operating risks.

Global risks

Global risks may arise as a result of changes
in the legal framework (including changes in the
general regulatory or tax situation), through so-
cial and demographic trends or developments in
the insurance industry and also as a conse-
quence of environmental and climate factors. We

counter these risks by constantly monitoring
claims trends, analysing claims and major losses
and applying precise models in order to control
results. It is hardly possible to reduce – let alone
avoid – such risks. Risk management measures
must therefore be geared to the early identifica-
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tion of dangerous trends. Monitoring of devel-
opments in the individual national frameworks
around the world is therefore carried out locally
by our market specialists, whose market intim-
acy ensures that they detect significant changes
without delay. Global changes in possible losses,
however, are monitored centrally by the appro-
priate specialist departments. For example, our
legal experts in the central claims department
assess developments in court decisions world-
wide, especially with respect to the liability lines

– e.g. new liability risks associated with EMFs or
the use of new media (so-called cyberspace liabil-
ity). With the aid of sophisticated simulation
models, we also monitor centrally the increase
in the frequency and extent of losses arising out
of natural catastrophes induced by global cli-
mate changes. On the basis of these analyses,
we then determine both the maximum liability
which we are prepared to accept within the
Group and our own retrocession requirements. 

Technical operating risks

The technical risk comprises first and fore-
most the danger of accepting risks that exceed
the available financial resources as well as those
cases where the previously calculated premiums
are insufficient to offset the resulting losses. Pos-
sible reasons here may be inaccurate calculation
assumptions or models, unexpected claim devel-
opments or inadequate reserves as well as in-
sufficient own reinsurance (retrocession) or the
default of a retrocessionaire. The technical risk
for our Group is principally determined by man-
datory underwriting guidelines. These define in
detail which risks may be accepted and up to
what amount. The contents of the guidelines are
reviewed annually, adjustments are made where
necessary and compliance is subject to regular
control. 

In order to ensure that adequate prem-
iums are agreed, various instruments are avail-
able for controlling the profitability of individual
reinsurance treaties. Detailed minimum returns
defined for the various business segments form
the basis of the premium calculation. Shortly
after conclusion of a new transaction or the re-
newal of existing business, the so-called first
forecast analysis determines the extent to which
it was possible to achieve the quoted premiums
on the market, while a contribution margin ana-
lysis identifies whether the terms and conditi-
ons agreed for individual treaties will produce
the expected results. In this connection, the cal-
culation of the loss reserves – which in reinsur-
ance business frequently have a significant im-
pact on results – is scrutinised by independent

Strategic risks

Our paramount strategic objective is to as-
sert our position in the international reinsurance
markets as an important, optimally diversified
reinsurance group of above-average profitabil-
ity in order to secure our long-term survival as an
independent enterprise. Derived from this stra-
tegic mission, the individual business segments
of Hannover Re are guided by further, inherent-
ly consistent detailed strategies which are sub-
ordinate to the overriding objective. In order to
ensure that our strategic targets are also ap-
plied to at the operating level, we have, on the
one hand, defined company-wide ratios and
controlling processes which measure and con-
trol the contribution made by each business seg-
ment to the Group's overall performance. On

the other hand, specific ratios have also been
defined which facilitate the performance con-
trolling of our strategic objectives for each seg-
ment, subsidiary etc. With a view to structuring
these processes on an even more efficient and
uniform basis, we have begun to implement a
new worldwide standard system. Using a lean,
top-down approach, strategic targets are trans-
lated into ratios, measured and communicated.
In this context too, generally applicable param-
eters are combined with segment-specific stand-
ards. These defined target figures then serve as
a basis for the measurement of results and the
performance-based remuneration received by
management.    
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external experts and not least audited and cer-
tified by our auditors. Particularly in property
and casualty reinsurance, this multi-layered sys-
tem ensures that risks are written with an eye
to profits, not volume. 

A further key instrument of risk limitation
and results stabilisation is our own reinsurance,
referred to as retrocession. Whereas premiums
are always payable at the beginning of a con-
tract, risks derive from the fact that long periods
– sometimes even decades – may elapse until

losses are paid. An intensive credit investiga-
tion must therefore ensure that the business
partner will be able to meet its obligations
even after such long periods. Retrocessionaires
are selected on the basis of a graded approach,
which takes account of the probable run-off
period of the business in question. In addition,
we are guided by the opinions of internationally
recognised rating agencies, whose assessments
are supplemented by the analyses of our own
internal dedicated service. 

Investment operating risks

Our risks in the investment sector consist
primarily of price, interest rate, default and ex-
change rate risks. Since investment income con-
stitutes a major source of revenue for reinsur-
ance companies, the repercussions of capital
market fluctuations on the statement of income
may be similar to those of natural catastrophes.
For this reason, our investment policy is not
geared first and foremost to yield maximisation
at any price. Rather, the intention is to optimise
investment income on a sustained basis subject
to the condition that risks are limited and clearly
defined. The investment portfolio is very largely
based on inflows (premiums) which are set aside
for future loss payments. Consequently, invest-
ment activities too are guided by the conditions
of the reinsurance business. In order to eliminate
exchange-rate risks, we invest funds in the cur-
rencies in which future losses will be paid (prin-
ciple of matching currencies). Similarly, matur-
ity commitments and the choice of investment
categories take into account the probable peri-
ods until payment (principle of matching matu-
rities). Additional investment risks are limited
by the selection of borrowers with a high credit
standing. 

Investment decisions are made within the
framework of detailed investment guidelines,
which are constantly reviewed and where neces-
sary revised, as determined by the entire Execu-
tive Board. Compliance with these guidelines
and the associated observance of defined limits
are ensured, inter alia, by the strict separation
of trading and settlement functions as well as
by regular reviews. These encompass, for ex-
ample, the weighting of the investments (e.g.
proportion of equities), the quality of the invest-
ments (e.g. issuer's credit rating), the limits per
issuer, etc. Not only that, the entire portfolio as
well as the associated profit and loss items pend-
ing settlement are evaluated on a daily basis. 

Derivative financial instruments are used
by Hannover Re solely to hedge existing invest-
ment portfolios against price, interest rate, cur-
rency and default risks and as a substitute for
securities purchases; they are controlled using
mark-to-market valuations and with the aid of
appropriate sensitivity analyses. 

Other operating risks

By other operating risks we particularly
have in mind risks associated with information
technology and human resources management.
The failure of technical equipment, especially
in the case of the data processing infrastructure

and the availability of the applications which it
provides, poses a major risk to our company. We
ensure the availability of our IT systems by means
of state-of-the-art defence technologies and ef-
ficient methods of anti-virus protection, prevent-
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ive structural measures and active fire protection
safeguards as well as a secure uninterrupted
power supply. Contingency plans and safety
guidelines have also been drawn up to define
the measures to be taken and appropriate be-
haviour in such emergencies. The relevant safety
measures are documented centrally and subject
to regular review. Thus, for example, all systems
managed the change of date at the turn of the
millennium virtually flawlessly thanks to inten-
sive preparatory measures. Virus attacks at those
points where we are connected with worldwide
public data networks have also been effectively
prevented. The so-called "I LOVE YOU" virus, for
example, did not cause any damage whatsoever
within our company. 

Reinsurance is a highly complex financial
service, the success of which is crucially depend-
ent on the expertise, motivation and dedication
of our staff. In the future, therefore, it is import-
ant that we continue to be able to recruit highly
qualified specialists and management staff and
secure their long-term loyalty to the company.
Consequently, we cultivate close contacts with
a number of universities and set great store by
personnel development activities. 

Assessment of the risk situation

As an internationally operating reinsurer
we are confronted with numerous opportunities
and risks which are directly connected with our
entrepreneurial activities and can therefore im-
pact our net income or financial situation. Given
the information currently available to us, how-

ever, we do not perceive any risks which could
jeopardise the continued existence of our com-
pany in the short or medium term or which
could impair the assets, financial position or net
income in a significant or sustained manner. 

Human resources

As at the end of 2000 the Hannover Re
Group employed 1,528 staff worldwide. Growth
in the number of employees was recorded pri-
marily in the USA and the United Kingdom. This
reflects the internationalisation of our business,
which is increasingly transforming us into a global
reinsurance group. In Germany asset manage-

ment activities within the HDI Group were cen-
tralised. Around 50 members of staff transfer-
red to HDI Asset Management GmbH and are
thus no longer on the payroll of the Hannover
Re Group. The regional distribution of our em-
ployees around the world is shown in the follow-
ing table. 



68

Germany 661 696

USA 430 407

South Africa 134 153

Sweden 81 83

United Kingdom 49 38

Australia 41 39

France 27 26

Malaysia 26 25

Mexico 21 22

China 15 10

Italy 13 12

Ireland 12 11

Spain 6 7

Japan 6 6

Canada 3 4

Taiwan 3 3

Total 1 528 1 542

Breakdown of employees by country

19992000

Internationalisation of the Group

The integration of different cultures and
the existence of various political, social and eco-
nomic environments pose a considerable chal-
lenge to an international organisation. They also
offer opportunities to learn from one another.
As a globally active company, we have taken up

these challenges; we believe that the temporary
exchange of staff within our organisation is a par-
ticularly appropriate way to foster integration.
This takes place largely through delegation as
well as co-operation on projects of worldwide
scope.

New management model

The globalisation of our own organisation
and the drive to ensure international compar-
ability prompted us to implement new job titles
and hierarchical structures in the year under re-
view. We now use uniform English-language job
titles and have redefined the group of staff with
managerial duties. This project was conducted
efficiently and successfully in co-operation with
a renowned international firm of consultants.
On the basis of workshops lasting several days
the management positions – including those of
the Executive Board – were also described in de-

tail and evaluated. We have thus created the
basis for classification, development planning
and not least fair salary determination, while
applying a high degree of objectivity and taking
account of specific national factors. Not only
that, we began to complement the skills apprais-
al of our managerial staff with bottom-up feed-
back. Last but not least, we refined our system
of agreements on targets. We are now in a posi-
tion to measure the performance of our staff on
the basis of objective targets derived consistent-
ly from our corporate strategy.  
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For the purpose of training and fostering
the development of both young and experienced
managerial staff, we have introduced a business
game, which simulates the complex correlati-
ons existing in the insurance markets. Partici-
pants are able to experience the market dynam-
ics and consequences of management decisions
interactively and "true to life". Following an in-
tensive, highly successful test phase, we now use
this business game worldwide and as a special
service to our clients we also offer to use it for
their own specific purposes. 

Our human resources development pro-
gramme also includes extensive internal and ex-
ternal training courses, the contents and goals
of which are tailored to the results of staff inter-
views and needs analyses. Our managerial staff
can receive coaching on a voluntary basis from

seasoned trainers who work closely together in
a coaching pool. We are thus able to exert a posi-
tive influence on the development of special
skills, especially among younger executives. This
is carried out on the job in concrete manage-
ment and conflict situations, and is considerab-
ly more effective than the purely theoretical
communication of management ABCs which can
be gleaned from books. 

We significantly stepped up our university
marketing activities for the recruitment of quali-
fied graduates and attend all the major "job
fairs" in Germany. Furthermore, we have enjoy-
ed great success with the qualification of certi-
fied insurance practitioners and are supporting
the development and introduction of professional
training in Lower Saxony. 

time working also play a major role in this re-
gard. Long before the enactment of new legisla-
tion in Germany, we used such models to keep
employees – especially our young and well-
trained staff – in their working lives and give
them an opportunity to combine their family
and career.

Workplace flexibility and individual man-
agement of working time are becoming increas-
ingly important aspects of a successful human
resources policy. The telecommuting pilot pro-
ject, which we conducted in Hannover, produced
very positive results and we shall therefore open
up this facility for working "away from the office"
to further members of staff. 

Individual control of working hours creates
organisational flexibility and a high level of adap-
tability to the time needs of our staff and our
company – something which ultimately is to
everyone's benefit. The various models of part-

The job evaluations have also created the
basis for company-wide performance-orientated
management remuneration, most notably in-
cluding the launch of a stock option plan. The
design of this stock option plan is "virtual", i.e.
members of staff receive stock value partici-
pation rights which entitle the holder not to the
award of shares but to payment of a correspond-
ing cash amount. In this way, we link the inter-

ests of decision-makers in a sustained increase
in the company's value with those of sharehol-
ders. At the same time, the Hannover Re Group
offers its managerial staff internationally com-
petitive remuneration components. These pay-
ment opportunities are of a long-term nature,
closely tied to the company's overall perform-
ance and easily comprehensible in the context
of a transparent system. 

Performance-orientated remuneration/stock option plan

Human resources development / business game

New types of working arrangements/telecommuting
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Holistic concept of old-age provision

We contribute to the expenses incurred by
our staff for old-age provision. In addition to the
contributions to the statutory pension insurance
scheme, we initiated a pension plan in Germany
with effect from 1 July 2000 in the form of an in-
sured provident fund for all members of staff.
The company provides the full amount of the
contributions according to a fixed scale. 

We also assist employees by contributing
to their own expenses for old-age provision. In
foreign countries we participate in a similar way
in local retirement pension models.

Word of gratitude to all our staff

We would like to take this opportunity to
thank our members of staff for their consider-
able commitment and personal dedication. This
is particularly true of the hospitality extended
to our many guests from home and abroad who

visited us during EXPO 2000. We would also like
to express our appreciation to the labour coun-
cil and the senior management committee for
their constructive and trusting co-operation.

Outlook 

High oil prices and interest rate increases
by the US Federal Reserve and the European
Central Bank have left their mark on anticipated
developments in the global economy in 2001.
On the financial markets the fear of recession is
growing. 

The development of the global economy
is in turn crucially dependent on the economic
trend in the USA. Just as in the past the US had
fuelled growth in the light of progressive global-
isation, its economic weakness is currently de-
pressing the global economic cycle. The reduced
sales and earnings prospects of American com-
panies will probably have an adverse effect on
company investments, and economic growth in
the USA is therefore likely to be considerably
smaller than in the previous year. 

In Japan a new economic program is in-
tended to halt the decline in public-sector in-
vestment, yet it is too early to speak of an eco-
nomic recovery. In the developing markets of
eastern and south-east Asia as well as South
America the economic situation has improved
markedly since the 1997/1998 financial crisis,

but considerable structural problems neverthe-
less persist. The level of debt among businesses
is too high in some areas, and price losses on the
stock markets at the beginning of the year have
caused the cost of capital for companies to rise.
To make matters worse, in many developing mar-
kets the rise in oil prices has led to cuts in real in-
come and a sharp deterioration in the balance
of payments on current account. 

In the countries belonging to the euro
zone, economic growth – albeit on a more mod-
est scale – in the second half of 2000 and the
overall global economic environment have given
rise to a mood of cautious optimism. Although
the improvement in the euro will dampen the
impetus for the export market, stimuli may de-
rive from fiscal policy since several countries
have cut taxes in 2001. Particularly in Germany,
it is to be anticipated that the economy will bene-
fit from the tax reduction. Bank base rates are
unlikely to change significantly during the year,
although depressed economic activity around
the world may have an adverse effect on the
currently strong level of exports. 
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The restrained forecasts also crucially de-
termine the long-term growth expectations in
property and casualty insurance, especially in
the already largely saturated markets of the in-
dustrialised nations. Positive factors such as a
greater need for security, the regional concen-
tration of values and product innovations will
not be sufficient to hold the promise of even
high single-digit growth rates worldwide. 

In property and casualty reinsurance the
modestly favourable general climate will be fur-
ther impaired by the fact that – due to ongoing
concentration in the insurance market – the num-
ber of clients is steadily diminishing and ceding
companies are growing in size and capital re-
sources. This is leading to higher retentions and
the increasing prevalence of non-proportional
types of reinsurance, with a corresponding de-
cline in premium volumes. On the other hand, the
worldwide reinsurance capacity available for the
coverage of natural catastrophes is by no means
sufficient and thus continues to offer good op-
portunities. During the current year the exten-
sive improvement in terms and conditions in
important property and casualty reinsurance
markets had almost exclusively positive reper-
cussions, and given a normal major loss experi-
ence – i.e. slightly worse than the previous year
– premiums and technical results are therefore
likely to rise. What is more, there is every indica-
tion that the favourable trend will continue be-
yond 2001 and the next renewal season, and
this may restore some appeal to markets which
are currently still producing losses – such as the
liability sector in the USA and motor business in
Germany. As at the date of compilation of this
report, the incidence of major claims and natural
catastrophe losses was within "normal bounds".
Nevertheless, our account has been burdened
by the explosion and subsequent total loss of an
oil-rig off the coast of Brazil as well as an earth-
quake in Central America and a railway accident
in the United Kingdom.    

In life and health reinsurance, the non-trad-
itional business model of the "stochastic ban-
ker" – in other words, a concentration on our cli-
ents' overall financial situation – will continue
to offer favourable opportunities in the coming

years. This expectation is based, on the one hand,
on the assumption that most primary markets
for life and health insurance will generate strong
growth and, on the other hand, on the forecast
that the demand for reinsurance solutions will
rise as companies strive to optimally deploy their
capital resources. In addition, we are seeing a
trend towards the transformation of large mu-
tual societies into joint-stock corporations, giving
rise to a much greater interest in individually
tailored life and health reinsurance products.  

A number of European markets, including
Germany, Austria, Italy and Spain, have shifted
the focus of their life insurance activities to the
area of unit-linked life and annuity policies. We
believe that we are superbly positioned in this
segment. In the United Kingdom and France we
also plan to enlarge our market position in the
conventional and bankassurance segment. In the
USA we intend to expand our status as a lea-
ding specialist reinsurer and here, too, we see
particularly promising opportunities to generate
profitable growth in the bancassurance sector.
In the growth markets of Asia our focus is on
China, Taiwan and Japan, and in this context
we primarily seek to support insurance compan-
ies with local shareholders. Overall, we antici-
pate premium growth of 20-25% in life and
health reinsurance for 2001, accompanied by a
similar increase in results. In order to further en-
hance our client relations, we are in the process
of developing our website (www.hannoverlife-
re.com) to create a dynamic and interactive me-
dium of communication. The new platform is to
be implemented gradually in the second half of
2001 and the first half of 2002. 

In financial reinsurance, the existing de-
pendencies on property and casualty reinsurance
are currently having positive repercussions. Dur-
ing periods of intense competition on the re-
insurance markets large professional insurance
companies, in particular, have exploited the situ-
ation and ceded risks which they could also have
carried themselves purely from the risk manage-
ment standpoint. However, now that the tradi-
tional risk transfer has become considerably
more expensive again, the demand for more af-
fordable innovative concepts with a limited risk



72

transfer is also on the rise. We have substantially
increased our available capacity and expect to
follow on from the very strong growth in the pre-
vious year with further high rates of increase and
a corresponding rise in profits in the current year.
Our teams in Ireland and Germany will be rein-
forced in order to handle this sustained growth. 

The Clarendon Insurance Group can again
extend its market leadership in program business
in the current year. We will be able to exploit cap-
acity shortages caused by the withdrawal of in-
surers who in recent years suffered sizeable los-
ses. New opportunities to acquire business at
appreciably improved, attractive terms and con-
ditions are opening up in Californian workers'
compensation business and in some areas of
commercial motor insurance. In the future the
Clarendon Insurance Group can continue to be-
nefit from the fact that – as a member of the
Hannover Re Group – it enjoys a superior credit
rating from the rating agencies, thereby en-
abling it to become the partner of choice in its
business segment. 

Our subsidiary Insurance Corporation of
Hannover (ICH), based in Los Angeles and Chi-
cago, is similarly planning to further expand its
program business. In Europe – and also in select-
ed regions around the world – the International
Insurance Company of Hannover Ltd. (Inter
Hannover) is expected to press ahead with the
expansion of its program business model from
its base in London. A state-of-the-art infrastruc-
ture has been established there and a profes-
sional team is in place to carry out this task from
the second half of 2001 onwards.

On the basis of these expectations in our
four strategic business segments, we anticipate
further substantial double-digit growth in total
gross premium income coupled with an appreci-
able improvement in technical results. Our in-
vestment income is by its very nature difficult
to forecast. On the stock markets the initial
sharp downslide in technology stocks is likely to
be halted and a certain stability achieved. We do
not anticipate any significant interest rate move-
ments, and bond markets should thus continue
to develop favourably. We therefore expect a
marked decline in profits on disposals but a fur-

ther rise in ordinary investment income, and
overall it appears realistic to anticipate a slight
decrease in net  investment income. 

The after-tax result will of course be im-
pacted by the elimination of the special factor,
which affected the previous year. For a number
of years we have openly reported on our stra-
tegic objective of increasing the earnings per
share by at least 10% annually. Since the two
previous years constitute a distorted basis due
to the massive tax effects, a consistent compari-
son can only be based upon the last "normal" fi-
nancial statements, namely for the 1998 finan-
cial year. In the absence of extraordinary capi-
tal market strains or natural catastrophe losses,
we currently anticipate that this profit target
will be achieved.

In order to back the growth in our reinsur-
ance portfolio with sufficient capital strength,
we required additional risk capital. To this end,
in the year under review we began to prepare the
issue of a further subordinated loan (so-called
hybrid capital) with a total volume of EUR 350
million. This loan was very successfully placed
in March of the current year with a coupon of
6.25%, a figure which reflects the high credit
rating of our company and further reduces our
average capital costs.  
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We intend to propose to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting that the net income should be dis-
tributed as follows: 

Payment of a dividend of EUR 2.30 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up 
for the entire year 2000 38 479 494.50

Payment of a bonus of EUR 0.25 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up 
for the entire year 2000 4 182 553.75

Payment of a dividend of EUR 1.94 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up
in 2000 which was partially paid in the amount of 62.5% until 31 May 2000 15 520 000.00

Payment of a bonus of EUR 0.21 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up
in 2000 which was partially paid in the amount of 62.5% until 31 May 2000 1 680 000.00

Payment of a dividend of EUR 1.90 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up
in 2000 which was partially paid in the amount of 58.33% until 31 May 2000 9 120 000.00

Payment of a bonus of EUR 0.21 on each registered no-par value share fully paid-up
in 2000 which was partially paid in the amount of 58.33% until 31 May 2000 1 008 000.00

Profit carried forward 109 951.75

70 100 000.00

EUR

Proposal for the distribution of profits





CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS of the Hannover Re Group
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Fixed-income securities – held to maturity 5.1 267 031 258 414

Fixed-income securities – available for sale 5.1 6 518 580 6 307 706

Fixed-income securities – trading 5.1 40 869 –

Equity securities – available for sale 5.1 1 593 969 1 382 151

Real estate 5.1 228 540 223 735

Other invested assets 5.1 593 415 537 223

Short-term investments 5.1 475 849 708 592

Total investments without cash 9 718 253 9 417 821

Cash 482 262 437 266

Total investments and cash 10 200 515 9 855 087

Prepaid reinsurance premiums 5.2 823 915 686 185

Reinsurance recoverables on benefit reserve 5.2 254 696 240 720

Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid claims 5.2 3 532 690 2 896 441

Reinsurance recoverables on other reserves 5.2 6 392 –

Deferred acquisition costs 5.2 714 427 480 567

Accounts receivable 3 296 030 1 585 521

Funds held by ceding companies 3 995 706 2 955 629

Contract deposits 5.3 – 37 907

Goodwill 5.4 266 066 265 555

Other assets 5.13 275 591 225 110

Accrued interest and rent 131 574 126 094

23 497 602 19 354 816

Assets
Figures in EUR thousand 2000Notes 1999

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET as at 31 December 2000
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Loss and loss adjustment expense reserve 5.2 12 782 710 10 776 704

Policy benefits for life and health contracts 5.2 3 043 573 2 279 870

Unearned premium reserve 5.2 1 608 381 1 369 731

Provision for contingent commission 5.2 114 243 99 754

Other technical provisions 5.2 22 117 296

Reinsurance payable 1 378 184 570 536

Funds held under reinsurance treaties 817 609 719 511

Contract deposits 109 773 –

Minorities 5.9 294 134 294 800

Other liabilities 5.13 307 740 340 217

Taxes 5.5 171 955 168 065

Provision for deferred taxes 5.5 741 102 985 033

Notes payable 5.8 415 105 396 972

Surplus debenture 5.8 117 597 117 597

Total liabilities 21 924 223 18 119 086

Stockholders' equity

Common stock 5.9 75 493 62 711

Nominal value     75 493          Authorised capital     20 767

Additional paid-in capital 201 794 201 794

Cumulative comprehensive income

Unrealised appreciation/depreciation of investments, 5.10
net of deferred taxes 71 413 48 733

Cumulative foreign currency conversion adjustment,  5.10
net of deferred taxes (8 800) 19 137

Other changes in cumulative comprehensive income 5.10 864 2 955

Total comprehensive income 63 477 70 825

Treasury stock 5.11 – (230)

Retained earnings

Beginning of period 900 630 730 578

Net income 364 880 201 559

Dividend paid (80 426) (50 360)

Other changes 47 531 18 853

1 232 615 900 630

Total stockholders' equity 1 573 379 1235 730

23 497 602 19 354 816

Liabilities
Figures in EUR thousand 2000 1999Notes
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Gross written premiums 8 320 493 6 706 322

Ceded written premiums 3 016 514 2 551 553

Change in gross unearned premiums (216 922) (95 248)

Change in ceded unearned premiums 123 127 120 427

Net premiums earned 5 210 184 4 179 948

Ordinary investment income 5.1 798 947 624 943

Realised gains on investments 5.1 251 168 286 436

Realised losses on investments 5.1 70 524 69 121

Unrealised gains and losses on investments 5.1 (4 402) 35 483

Other investment expenses 5.1 106 509 49 588

Net investment income 5.1 868 680 828 153

Other technical income 18 704 9 255

Total revenues 6 097 568 5 017 356

Claims and claims expenses 5.2 4 467 863 2 972 609

Change in policy benefits for life and health contracts 5.2 37 494 496 124

Commission and brokerage 5.2 903 946 884 757

Other acquisition costs 5.2 17 627 17 948

Other technical expenses 71 468 66 387

Administrative expenses 179 675 146 109

Total technical expenses 5 678 073 4 583 934

Profit or loss on ordinary activities 419 495 433 422

Amortisation of goodwill 5.4 11 679 10 072

Other income/expenses 5.15 (103 540) (93 416)

Net income before taxes 304 276 329 934

Taxes (tax yield in 2000) 5.5 129 025 80 267

Minority interest (68 421) (48 108)

Net income 364 880 201 559

Figures in EUR thousand 2000 1999Notes

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME for the 2000 financial year
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Other comprehensive income 5.10

Net unrealised appreciation/depreciation of investments 22 680 (102 822)

Cumulative foreign currency conversion adjustments (27 937) 42 196

Other comprehensive income (2 091) 3 901

Net comprehensive income 357 532 144 834

Earnings per share 5.12

Earnings per share in EUR 13.29 8.22

Diluted earnings per share in EUR 12.38 6.86

Figures in EUR thousand 2000 1999Notes
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I. Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net income (after tax) 364 880 201 559

Appreciation/depreciation 88 502 (1 441)

Net realised gains and losses on investments (180 644) (217 315)

Amortisation of investments (10 925) (24 930)

Changes in funds held (897 298) (34 732)

Changes in prepaid reinsurance premiums (net) 77 205 139 249

Changes in tax assets/provisions for taxes (228 831) (76 083)

Changes in benefit reserves (net) 679 796 323 944

Changes in claims reserves (net) 1 023 537 1 073 071

Changes in deferred acquisition costs (220 218) (48 007)

Changes in other technical provisions 20 883 (65 762)

Changes in clearing balances (605 279) –

Changes in other assets and liabilities (net) (567 173) (587 379)

Cash flows from operating activities (455 565) 682 174

Income taxes paid (-)/refunded (+) (95 269) (97 116)

Interest paid (96 205) (24 827)

II. Cash flows from investing activities

Fixed income securities – held to maturity

Maturities 11 924 7 160

Purchases (14 165) (986)

Fixed income securities – available for sale

Maturities, sales 1 803 328 2 552 561

Purchases (1 766 656) (2 760 916)

Equity securities – available for sale

Sales 562 338 349 635

Purchases (565 639) (404 796)

Other invested assets

Sales 306 625 95 760

Purchases (419 630) (88 719)

Affiliated companies and participating interests

Sales 11 002 488

Acquisitions (80 704) (65 125)

Change in goodwill 1 934 (195 785)

Real estate

Sales – 12 209

Acquisitions (7 148) (20 161)

Short-term investments

Changes 235 194 (367 571)

Other changes (net) 193 961 (54 060)

Cash flows from investing activities 272 364 (940 306)

Figures in EUR thousand 19992000

CASH FLOW STATEMENT for the 2000 financial year
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III. Cash flows from financing activities 

Changes in minority interest in capital (2 657) 76 556

Changes in treasury stock 230 43

Inflows from capital increases 12 782 –

Net changes in contract deposits 168 850 (28 034)

Dividend paid (80 426) (50 360)

Changes in notes payable (925) 387 111

Other changes 118 791 23 122

Cash flows from financing activities 216 645 408 438

Change in cash and cash equivalents (I.+II.+III.+IV.) 44 996 186 193

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 437 266 251 073

Change in cash and cash equivalents according to cash flow statement 44 996 186 193

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 482 262 437 266

IV. Exchange rate differences on cash 11 552 35 887

Figures in EUR thousand 19992000
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SEGMENTAL REPORT as at 31 December 2000

In the following table we have allocated the underwriting assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2000
and 1999 to our business segments after eliminating intergroup transactions across segments:

Segmentation of underwriting assets and liabilities

Figures in EUR thousand
Property/

casualty reinsurance
2000

Property/
casualty reinsurance

1999

Life/
health reinsurance

2000

Life/
health reinsurance

1999

Assets

Prepaid reinsurance premiums 112 460 104 013 359 6 140

Deferred acquisition costs (net) 135 330 127 901 577 863 350 985

Reinsurance recoverables on benefit reserves – – 254 696 240 720

Reinsurance recoverables on incurred claims 
and others 1 329 943 1 213 704 195 144 287 826

Funds held by ceding companies 301 436 407 607 1 887 236 1 593 611

Total underwriting assets 1 879 169 1 853 225 2 915 298 2 479 282

Liabilities

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserve 7 497 745 7 029 864 952 999 1 035 114

Policy benefits for life and health contracts – – 3 043 573 2 279 870

Unearned premium reserve 701 855 637 245 4 723 27 043

Other technical provisions 121 977 862 6 680 2 712

Funds held under reinsurance treaties 403 926 292 965 347 076 325 159

Total underwriting liabilities 8 725 503 7 960 936 4 355 051 3 669 898
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Financial 
reinsurance

2000

Financial 
reinsurance

1999

Program business

2000

Program business

1999

Total

2000

Total

1999

673 482 569 051 37 614 6 981 823 915 686 185

(262) – 1 496 1 681 714 427 480 567

– – – – 254 696 240 720

1 876 231 1 267 133 137 764 127 778 3 539 082 2 896 441

63 159 1 233 1 743 875 953 178 3 995 706 2 955 629

2 612 610 1 837 417 1 920 749 1 089 618 9 327 826 7 259 542

2 175 503 1 439 959 2 156 463 1 271 767 12 782 710 10 776 704

– – – – 3 043 573 2 279 870

792 972 635 176 108 831 70 267 1 608 381 1 369 731

– – 7 703 96 476 136 360 100 050

8 040 55 960 58 567 45 427 817 609 719 511

2 976 515 2 131 095 2 331 564 1 483 937 18 388 633 15 245 866
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Gross written premiums 3 385 386 2 613 578 2 090 506 2 220 364

Net premiums earned 2 524 439 2 068 862 1 592 297 1 484 982

Claims and claims expenses 2 033 826 1 831 150 1 209 010 727 990

Change in policy benefits for life and 
health contracts – – (37 494) (496 124)

Commission and brokerage and other  
technical expenses 625 844 401 296 424 602 391 054

Other technical income 4 323 313 13 949 8 842

Investment income 471 930 525 714 204 347 217 437

Administrative expenses 75 444 65 193 56 869 49 668

Net technical and investment income 265 578 297 250 82 618 46 425

Other expenses 45 851 63 353 51 720 23 450

Net income before tax 219 727 233 897 30 898 22 975

Taxes (tax yield) (108 729) 73 065 (27 658) (7 179)

Minority interest (61 943) (32 868) (4 624) (8 470)

Net income 266 513 127 964 53 932 21 684

Segmental statement of income

SEGMENTAL REPORT as at 31 December 2000

Figures in EUR thousand
Property/

casualty reinsurance
2000

Property/
casualty reinsurance

1999

Life/
health reinsurance

2000

Life/
health reinsurance

1999
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1 974 407 1 363 735 870 194 508 645 8 320 493 6 706 322

292 699 163 473 800 749 462 631 5 210 184 4 179 948

261 809 128 682 963 218 284 787 4 467 863 2 972 609

– – – – (37 494) (496 124)

(4 365) (33 821) (53 040) 210 563 993 041 969 092

– – 432 100 18 704 9 255

24 682 9 932 167 721 75 070 868 680 828 153

42 686 26 689 4 676 4 559 179 675 146 109

17 251 51 855 54 048 37 892 419 495 433 422

14 650 24 189 2 998 (7 504) 115 219 103 488

2 601 27 666 51 050 45 396 304 276 329 934

3 394 10 315 3 968 4 066 (129 025) 80 267

3 902 (1 576) (5 756) (5 194) (68 421) (48 108)

3 109 15 775 41 326 36 136 364 880 201559

Financial 
reinsurance

2000

Financial 
reinsurance

1999

Program business

2000

Program business

1999

Total

2000

Total

1999
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1. General accounting principles

The parent company of Hannover Rückversicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft (Hannover Re) is HDI Haft-
pflichtverband der Deutschen Industrie V.a.G. (HDI). HDI is obliged to prepare consolidated annual
accounts in accordance with §§ 341 i et seq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The annual
financial statements of Hannover Re and its subsidiaries are included in these consolidated annual
accounts. We have prepared our own consolidated financial statement, although there is no legal
obligation to do so, in order to show the activities of the Hannover Re Group. 

The consolidated financial statement of Hannover Re has been drawn up fully in accordance with
United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP). 

In the consolidated financial statement and the individual companies' financial statements it is to
some extent necessary to make estimates and assumptions which affect the assets and liabilities
shown in the balance sheet and the disclosure of income and expenses during the reporting period.
The actual amounts may diverge from the estimated amounts.

2. Accounting principles including reporting and valuation methods

The annual financial statements included in the consolidated financial statement were drawn up as
at 31 December.

The annual financial statements of all companies were initially drawn up in compliance with the
provisions of the respective national laws and then transformed to US GAAP in accordance with
standard Group accounting and valuation rules.  

3. Consolidated companies and consolidation principles

Consolidated companies

Hannover Re is the parent company of the Group. The consolidated financial statement includes
three German and fourteen foreign companies, as well as two foreign consolidated entities. One con-
solidated entity (Hannover Finance, Inc.) was acquired in the previous year and therefore included in
the consolidated financial statement for the first time in 1999. Two German and three foreign com-
panies were consolidated using the equity basis of accounting. One German company is no longer
part of the Group and was therefore consolidated for the last time.

The following companies are included in the consolidated financial statement:

NOTES

Name and registered office of the company Participation 
in %

Companies resident in Germany

E+S Rückversicherungs-AG, 
Hannover/Germany 50.1

GbR Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG/
E+S Rückversicherungs-AG-Grundstücksgesellschaft, 
Hannover/Germany 67.5
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Name and registered office of the company

HDI Immobilienfonds Nr. 4 Nürnberg Bucher KG, 
Munich/Germany 99.8

Companies resident abroad

Hannover Life Reassurance Company of America, Orlando/USA 100.0

Insurance Corporation of Hannover, Chicago/USA 100.0

Hannover Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd., Dublin/Ireland 100.0

E+S Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd., Dublin/Ireland 50.1

Hannover Life Reassurance (Ireland) Ltd., Dublin/Ireland 100.0

Hannover Re Advanced Solutions Ltd., Dublin/Ireland 50.0

Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd, Sydney/Australia 75.0

Hannover Finance (UK) Limited, Virginia Water/UK 100.0

Hannover Life Reassurance (UK) Ltd., Virginia Water/UK 100.0

International Insurance Company of Hannover Ltd., Virginia Water/UK 100.0

Hannover Services (UK) Ltd., Virginia Water/UK 100.0

Hannover Re Sweden Insurance Company Ltd., 
Stockholm/Sweden 100.0

Hannover Re Real Estate Holdings, Inc., Orlando/USA 93.3

Penates A, Ltd., Tortola/British Virgin Islands 84.3

Hannover Reinsurance Group Africa (Pty) Ltd.,  
Johannesburg/South Africa 96.9

Hannover Reinsurance Group Africa compiles its own sub-group 
financial statement, including the following major companies 
in which it holds the following shares:

Hannover Reinsurance Africa Ltd., Johannesburg/South Africa 100.0

Hannover Life Reassurance Africa Ltd., Johannesburg/South Africa 100.0

Hannover Reinsurance Mauritius Ltd., Port Louis/Mauritius 100.0

Lireas Holdings (Pty) Ltd., Johannesburg/South Africa 100.0

Hannover Finance, Inc., Wilmington/USA 90.0

Hannover Finance, Inc. compiles its own sub-group 
financial statement, including the following major companies 
in which it holds the following shares:

Clarendon National Insurance Company, Trenton/USA 100.0

Clarendon America Insurance Company, Trenton/USA 100.0

Clarendon Select Insurance Company, Tallahassee/USA 100.0

Harbor Specialty Insurance Company, Trenton/USA 100.0

Lion Insurance Company, Tallahassee/USA 100.0

Redland Insurance Company, Council Bluffs/USA 100.0

Associated Companies

Resident in Germany

WeHaCo Unternehmensbeteiligungs-AG, Hannover/Germany 37.5

HANNOVER Finanz GmbH Beteiligungen und Kapitalanlagen, 
Hannover/Germany 25.0

Resident abroad

WPG Corporate Development Associates IV (Overseas), L.L.C., 
Grand Cayman/Cayman Islands 26.2

ITAS Assicurazioni SpA, Trient/Italy 43.7

ITAS Vita SpA, Trient/Italy 43.7

Participation 
in %

A complete list of shares in affiliated companies and participations has been drawn up separately
and deposited with the Commercial Register (Hannover HRB 6778).
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Capital consolidation 

The capital consolidation is based upon the "purchase accounting" method (comparable to the Ger-
man revaluation method). The purchase costs of the parent company have been netted with the pro-
portionate stockholders' equity of the subsidiary at the time when it was first included in the consoli-
dated financial statement after the revaluation of all assets and liabilities. The difference between
the revalued stockholders' equity of the subsidiary and the purchase price is shown in the assets as
goodwill and depreciated at a constant rate over the expected useful life. The anticipated useful life
is between 15 and 40 years. Immaterial and negative goodwill were booked to earnings in the year
of their occurrence. Where minority interests in the stockholders' equity exist, such interests are
shown under other liabilities. The minority interest in the result is deducted from the net income in
the statement of income and totalled EUR 68.421 million (previous year: EUR 48.108 million) in the
2000 financial year. 

Debt consolidation

Receivables and liabilities between the companies included in the consolidated financial statement
were offset against each other. 

Consolidation of expenses and profits

Expenses and profits within the Group were offset against each other and interim results were elimi-
nated. 

4. Acquisitions

Redland Insurance Company

Effective 1 July 2000, Clarendon National Insurance, Trenton, a company belonging to the sub-group
of Hannover Finance Inc., New York, acquired all the shares of Redland Insurance Company, Iowa,
USA (433,344 shares) for a purchase price of USD 10.9 million. In common with the other companies
belonging to the Hannover Finance sub-group, this company transacts program business. The acqui-
sition of the company complements our range of products and services for this segment. The premium
volume is in the order of USD 100.0 million. 

Hannover Reinsurance Group Africa

Effective 17 April and 29 June 2000, Hannover Re increased its 70% participation to 96.9%. The re-
maining shares are held by the company's executive staff. In total, 2,745,600 ordinary shares were
acquired for a purchase price of ZAR 171.1 million from Rand Merchant Bank, Johannesburg/South
Africa and Veritas Rückversicherung, Zug/Switzerland. Following the transfer last year of Hannover
Re's portfolio of African business to the former Hollandia Reinsurance Group in the context of a capital
increase, business activities in southern Africa have been concentrated on this organisational unit.
With effect from 1 January 2000 it has traded under the name Hannover Reinsurance Group Africa
(Pty) Ltd. The provision of local service for clients optimises the quality of our consulting and enables
us to tap into synergistic potentials. 
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5. Notes on the individual items of the balance sheet 
and statement of income

5.1 Investments including income and expenses

Investments were valued in accordance with SFAS 115 (accounting for certain investments in debt
and equity securities). The allocation and valuation of investments are guided by the investment
intent. 

Fixed-income securities classified as held to maturity are valued at purchase costs plus/minus amort-
ised cost. The amortised cost derive from the difference between the nominal value and purchase
cost and they are spread over the time to maturity of the fixed-income securities.

Fixed-income securities classified as available for sale are valued at fair value. The difference be-
tween the fair value and amortised cost is booked to other comprehensive income. 

Trading securities are valued at fair value. The difference between the fair value and amortised cost
is recognised within the statement of income. 

Securities whose fair value falls permanently below purchase cost are written down to current value
and recognised within the statement of income.

The other investments primarily consist of shares in private equity limited partnerships. 

The amortised cost and the unrealised gains and losses on the portfolio of investments classified as
held to maturity were as follows: 

Investments held to maturity

Fixed-income securities

US Treasury Notes 33 730 806 – 34 536

Other foreign government debt securities 2 188 22 – 2 210

Corporate securities 168 386 6 551 437 174 500

Asset-backed securities 55 986 3 369 – 59 355

Other securities 6 741 22 – 6 763

Total 267 031 10 770 437 277 364

Cost or
amortised 

cost
gains                 losses 

Unrealised
Fair value

2000
Figures in EUR thousand 
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Cost or
amortised 

cost
gains                 losses Fair value

Investments held to maturity

Fixed-income securities

US Treasury Notes 40 467 3 11 668 40 110

Other foreign government debt securities 2 046 – 31 2 015

Corporate securities 155 703 19 788 188 175 303

Asset-backed securities 55 944 3 482 – 59 426

Other securities 4 254 – 165 4 089

Total 258 414 23 581 1 052 280 943

Unrealised1999
Figures in EUR thousand

The contractual maturities of the fixed-income securities in the held-to-maturity portfolio, available-
for-sale portfolio and trading portfolio were as follows as at the balance sheets dates of 31 December
2000 and 1999:

Held-to-maturity

Due in one year 13 623 13 640 9 783 9 793

Due after one through five years 162 949 167 962 119 166 123 649

Due after five years through ten years 84 007 89 010 120 455 126 590

Due after ten years 6 452 6 752 9 010 20 911

Total 267 031 277 364 258 414 280 943

Available-for-sale

Due in one year 920 887 907 266 691 700 692 095

Due after one through five years 2 720 974 2 779 964 2 942 742 2 957 905

Due after five years through ten years 1 350 009 1 371 195 1 355 413 1 328 716

Due after ten years 1 450 673 1 460 155 1 391 469 1 328 990

Total 6 442 543 6 518 580 6 381 324 6 307 706

Trading

Due after five years through ten years 45 251 40 869 – –

Total 45 251 40 869 – –

Figures in EUR thousand

Cost or
amortised

cost            
Estimated
fair value

Cost or
amortised

cost            
Estimated
fair value

19992000

The actual maturities may in individual cases diverge from the contractual maturities because borrowers
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without penalty. 



Available-for-sale

Fixed-income securities

Government debt securities 
of EU member states 756 390 18 464 403 774 451

US Treasury Notes 1 016 210 27 891 1 467 1 042 634

Other foreign government debt securities 327 667 4 380 2 287 329 760

Corporate securities 2 643 204 47 773 34 101 2 656 876

Asset-backed securities 707 007 9 979 7 831 709 155

From investment funds 911 061 11 803 – 922 864

Other securities 81 004 2 756 920 82 840

6 442 543 123 046 47 009 6 518 580

Dividend-bearing securities 

Equities 477 143 71 117 22 402 525 858

From investment funds 1 097 088 463 37 476 1 060 075

Other dividend-bearing securities 4 255 3 781 – 8 036

1 578 486 75 361 59 878 1 593 969

Short-term investments 475 850 – 1 475 849

Total 8 496 879 198 407 106 888 8 588 398

Trading

Fixed-income securities 

Corporate securities 45 251 – 4 382 40 869

Total 45 251 – 4 382 40 869
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The amortised cost and the unrealised gains and losses on the portfolios of investments classified as
available for sale and trading were as follows:

Cost or
amortised

cost            
gains losses

Unrealised
Fair value

2000
Figures in EUR thousand
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Available-for-sale

Fixed-income securities

Government debt securities 
of EU member states 770 228 14 805 4 219 780 814

US Treasury Notes 912 917 3 850 11 229 905 538

Other foreign government debt securities 261 994 1 588 10 142 253 440

Corporate securities 2 675 861 34 800 56 022 2 654 639

Asset-backed securities 818 199 6 747 18 089 806 857

From investment funds 858 312 – 37 987 820 325

Other securities 83 813 2 423 143 86 093

6 381 324 64 213 137 831 6 307 706

Dividend-bearing securities

Equities 185 999 87 001 8 302 264 698

From investment funds 1 014 418 80 995 – 1 095 413

Other dividend-bearing securities 12 561 9 479 – 22 040

1 212 978 177 475 8 302 1 382 151

Short-term investments 708 551 48 7 708 592

Total 8 302 853 241 736 146 140 8 398 449

Trading

Fixed-income securities

Corporate securities – – – –

Total – – – –

Cost or
amortised

cost            
gains losses

Unrealised
Fair value

1999
Figures in EUR thousand
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Real estate 22 204 20 390

Dividends 82 408 37 997

Ordinary investment income on fixed-income securities 433 745 435 865

Other income 260 590 130 691

Ordinary investment income 798 947 624 943

Realised gains on investments 251 168 286 436

Realised losses from investments 70 524 69 121

Unrealised gains and losses (4 402) 35 483

Other investment expenses 106 509 49 588

Total investment income 868 680 828 153

The following table shows the investment income:

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Rating structure of investments

Fixed-income securities – 
held-to-maturity 185 612 64 272 10 853 5 438 856 – – – 267 031

Fixed-income securities – 
available-for-sale 3 369 539 877 367 713 019 154 992 44 377 52 948 136 1 306 202 6 518 580

Fixed-income securities –
trading – – – – – – – 40 869 40 869

Equity securities – 
available-for-sale 51 876 – 57 201 23 260 2 290 8 820 992 1 449 530 1 593 969

Other invested assets 250 – 87 – – – – 821 618 821 955

Short-term investments, cash 64 258 85 812 14 380 – – – – 793 661 958 111

Total investments and cash 3 671 535 1027 451 795 540 183 690 47 523 61 768 1 128 4 411 880 10 200 515

2000
Figures in EUR thousand

AAA AA A BBB BB B C Other Total

Valuation adjustments gave rise to increased write-downs in the year under review which are allocated
to the other investment expenses.
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Fixed-income securities – 
held-to-maturity – – – – 213 008 – 45 406 – 258 414

Fixed-income securities –  
available-for-sale 340 609 499 613 16 758 137 012 2 677 363 30 239 2 462 145 143 967 6 307 706

Equity securities – 
available-for-sale 10 711 69 528 – 1 206 646 087 60 404 545 265 48 950 1 382 151

Other invested assets 122 9 310 2 194 – 377 239 2 370 366 802 2 921 760 958

Short-term investments, cash 92 049 71 137 41 757 15 040 325 803 55 219 422 263 122 590 1 145 858

Total investments and cash 443 491 649 588 60 709 153 258 4 239 500 148 232 3 841 881 318 428 9 855 087

AUD GBP JPY CAD EUR ZAR USD Other Total
1999
Figures in EUR thousand

AUD GBP JPY CAD EUR ZAR USD Other Total
2000
Figures in EUR thousand

Investments were held in the following currencies: 

Fixed-income securities – 
held-to-maturity – – – – 215 163 – 51 868 – 267 031

Fixed-income securities –  
available-for-sale 352 835 610 788 68 172 163 005 2 491 153 7 732 2 724 523 100 372 6 518 580

Fixed-income securities –  
trading – – – – – – 40 869 – 40 869

Equity securities –  
available-for-sale 38 526 48 700 2 020 2 743 782 562 71 251 607 607 40 560 1 593 969

Other invested assets 87 8 516 5 110 – 384 836 9 536 410 347 3 523 821 955

Short-term investments, cash 136 781 80 564 19 470 12 272 158 834 38 072 457 426 54 692 958 111

Total investments and cash 528 229 748 568 94 772 178 020 4 032 548 126 591 4 292 640 199 147 10 200 515

Fixed-income securities – 
held-to-maturity 188 944 50 139 16 956 2 375 – – – – 258 414

Fixed-income securities – 
available-for-sale 3 442 803 792 603 760 459 149 848 34 068 75 312 2 134 1 050 479 6 307 706

Equity securities – 
available-for-sale 39 848 3 903 55 063 22 743 – 11 490 – 1 249 104 1 382 151

Other invested assets 271 – 127 – – 2 331 – 758 229 760 958

Short-term investments, cash 110 681 131 707 66 475 – – – – 836 995 1 145 858

Total investments and cash 3 782 547 978 352 899 080 174 966 34 068 89 133 2 134 3 894 807 9 855 087

1999
Figures in EUR thousand

AAA AA A BBB BB B C Other Total
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Real estate

Real estate is divided into real estate for own use and third-party use. Only the real estate in the
portfolio which is used to generate income is shown under the investments.

Real estate is valued at cost of acquisition less scheduled depreciation. 

Real estate 228 540 223 735

Own-use real estate 
(other assets) 46 964 48 838

Income and expenses from rental agreements are included in the investment income:

19992000Figures in EUR thousand

Cash equivalents

This item comprises investments with a life of up to one year. 

Securitisation of reinsurance risks

The portfolio of investments includes securities whose returns are dependent on the occurrence of
defined natural catastrophe events. Interest on these securities is calculated using the retrospective
interest method.

5.2 Underwriting assets and liabilities

Underwriting assets

The retrocessionaires' portions of the technical provisions are recorded in accordance with the con-
tractual agreements of the underlying reinsurance treaties. 

Contrary to German accounting requirements, SFAS 60 "accounting and reporting by insurance
enterprises" requires that acquisition costs be capitalised as assets and amortised via the statement
of income in proportion to the earned premiums. 

In the case of property and casualty reinsurance, acquisition costs directly connected with the acqui-
sition or renewal of treaties are deferred and amortised in line with the unearned portion of the pre-
miums. In life and health reinsurance, the capitalised acquisition costs under life and annuity policies
with regular premium payments are determined in the light of the period of the contracts, the expected
surrenders, the lapse expectancies and the anticipated interest income. In the case of annuity policies
with a single premium payment, these values are determined in relation to the expected policy period
or period of annuity payment. 
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Projections and calculations make allowance for all foreseeable risks and are constantly adjusted in
line with the latest information. Management believes that the provisions are adequate to cover the
ultimate gross cost of losses and loss expenses incurred as at 31 December 2000. 

The development of the loss and loss adjustment expense reserve is shown in the following table.
Commencing with the gross reserve, the change in the reserve after deduction of the reinsurers' por-
tions is shown in the year under review and the previous year.

Balance as at 1 January 480 567 415 307

Currency exchange rate differences 650 30 350

481 217 445 657

Changes 233 605 33 769

Currency exchange rate differences between valuation 
at the average rate and the year-end rate (395) 1 141

Balance as at 31 December 714 427 480 567

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Technical provisions

The loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are in principle calculated on the basis of the informa-
tion supplied by ceding companies. IBNR reserves are also included. The total amount of the reserves
corresponds to the "principle of best estimate" under US GAAP. This estimate is based on past experi-
ence and estimations of future development. In one subsegment of financial reinsurance technical
provisions were discounted at interest rates of between 6.5% and 8.6%. The interest rates are deter-
mined by the contractual agreements. These treaties are discounted over a period of at least four
years, which represents the period from inception to expiry of the respective contracts. The discounted
amount totals EUR 675.9 million. As at year-end 2000 the discounted provisions amounted to EUR
1,760.3 million. 

A claims accumulation system has been set up to monitor our overall risk, particularly in the USA. As
at year-end 2000 we recorded the following additional provisions on the basis of this data:

Figures in USD million Gross Net

Asbestosis    55 239 52 982

Pollution damage 75 873 50 296

Overall, the deferred acquisition costs developed as follows in the year under review:
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Policy benefits for life and health contracts are established in accordance with the principles set out
in SFAS 60. The provisions are based on the Group companies' information regarding mortality, inter-
est and lapse rates. 

Unearned premiums derive from the deferral of ceded reinsurance premiums. They are geared to the
period during which the risk is carried and were established in accordance with the information sup-
plied by ceding companies. In cases where no information was received, the unearned premiums
were estimated using suitable methods. Premiums paid for periods subsequent to the date of the bal-
ance sheet were deferred from recognition within the statement of income.

5.3 Contracts with no technical risk 

We have identified insurance contracts which do not satisfy the requirements of SFAS 113 (account-
ing and reporting for reinsurance of short-duration and long-duration contracts). These involve rein-
surance treaties under which the risk transfer between the ceding company and the reinsurer is of
merely subordinate importance. Contracts allocated to the life and health reinsurance segment were
merely brought to account in the amount of the fees accruing to the reinsurer from the ceding com-
pany. Contracts allocated to the other segments were eliminated in full from the technical account.
The profit components were netted under other income and expenses. Technical amounts were
shown as contract deposits on the assets and liabilities sides. 

Reserve as at 31 December of previous year (gross) 10 776 704 7 583 531

Reserve as at 31 December of previous year (retro) 2 896 441 1 060 336

Reserve as at 31 December of previous year (net) 7 880 263 6 523 195

Effects of currency conversion as at 1 January 
of year under review 303 350 890 641

Net reserve as at 1 January of year under review 8 183 613 7 413 836

Incurred claims and claim expenses

Year under review 3 518 106 2 469 437

Previous years 949 757 503 172

4 467 863 2 972 609

Less:

Claims and claims expenses paid

Year under review 534 475 740 302

Previous years 2 741 273 1 818 115

3 275 748 2 558 417

Effects of currency conversion at exchange rates 
on 31 December of year under review (net) (125 708) 52 235

Reserve as at 31 December of year under review (net) 9 250 020 7 880 263

Reserve as at 31 December of year under review (retro) 3 532 690 2 896 441

Reserve as at 31 December of year under review (gross) 12 782 710 10 776 704

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand
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Goodwill net as at 1 January 265 555 57 900

Currency exchange rate differences 14 124 –

279 679 57 900

Additions    21 899 217 727

Deductions    23 833 –

Amortisation    11 679 10 072

Goodwill net as at 31 December 266 066 265 555

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

5.4 Goodwill; present value of future profits on acquired life reinsurance portfolios

The development of goodwill is shown in the following table:

The primary factor here was the goodwill added as a result of the increases in the participation in
Hannover Reinsurance Group Africa (Pty) Ltd.

The present value of future profits (PVFP) on acquired life reinsurance portfolios developed as follows
in the year under review:

The period of amortisation on acquired portfolios varies between 5.5 and 15 years. 

5.5 Taxes and deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are booked in accordance with SFAS 109 for tax reductions and add-
itional tax charges expected in subsequent financial years, insofar as they result from different valu-
ations of individual balance sheet items. In principle, such valuation differences may arise between
the national tax balance sheet and the national commercial balance sheet, the uniform consolidated
balance sheet and the national commercial balance sheet as well as from tax loss carry-forwards and
tax credits. Deferred taxes are assessed using the current tax rates. In the event of a change in the

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Balance as at 1 January 23 253 25 450

Currency exchange rate differences (102) 1 043

23 151 26 493

Additions    1 207 1 382

Amortisation    4 949 4 622

Balance as at 31 December 19 409 23 253
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Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carry-forwards 56 347 42 338

Valuation differences arising out of leasing agreements – 35 530

Valuation differences arising out of property and casualty reinsurance 83 935 88 031

Valuation differences arising out of the portfolio of life 
and health reinsurance – 85 369

Other technical revaluations 14 577 4 565

Valuation differences relating to investments 1 595 14 657

Other valuation differences 13 977 34 816

Total    170 431 305 306

Deferred tax liabilities 

Valuation differences arising out of leasing agreements – 25 213

Valuation differences arising out of property and casualty reinsurance 34 854 15 162

Change in the equalisation reserve 433 739 542 579

Valuation differences arising out of the portfolio of life 
and health reinsurance 189 091 251 826

Valuation differences relating to investments 
and other valuation differences 233 185 416 156

Other revaluations 20 664 39 403

Total    911 533 1 290 339

Deferred tax liabilities 741 102 985 033

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of all Group companies are summarised in the
following table:

tax rates on which the calculation of the deferred taxes is based, appropriate allowance is made in
the year in which the change in the tax rate is published. Deferred taxes at the Group level are booked
using the Group tax rate of 40% (53%). 
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2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

The following table illustrates the reconciliation of the expected expense for income taxes with the
actual provision for income taxes:

Profit before income taxes, extraordinary profit components 
and minority interests 304 276 329 934

Expected tax rate 0.53 0.53

Expected expense for income taxes 161 266 173 724

Tax levied on distributions (13 021) (7 986)

Reduction of deferred taxes (218 780) (79 738)

Taxation differences affecting foreign subsidiaries (46 765) (42 700)

Other    (11 725) 36 967

Actual provision for income taxes (129 025) 80 267

5.6 Staff and expenditures on personnel

Staff

The average number of staff at the companies included in the consolidated financial statement of
the Hannover Re Group was 1,525 (1,518). Of this number, 661 were employed in Germany in the
year under review. The other staff were employed at the consolidated Group companies abroad.

Personnel information Average in
1999 31.3.2000 30.6.2000 30.9.2000 31.12.2000

Average in
2000

Number of employees 
(excluding board members) 1 518 1 526 1 521 1 526 1 528 1 525

Nationality of employees German US UK
South

African
Irish Other Total

Number of employees 601 419 47 160 9 292 1 528
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a) Wages and salaries

aa) Expenditures on insurance business 76 262 65 841

ab) Expenditures on the administration  
of investments 4 433 3 204

80 695 69 045

b) Social security contributions and 
expenditure on provisions and assistance

ba) Social security contributions 8 162 5 988

bb) Expenditures for pension provision 5 475 2 818

bc) Expenditures for assistance 1 338 15

14 975 8 821

Total 95 670 77 866

Expenditures on personnel

The expenditures on insurance business, claims expenses (claims settlement) and expenditures on
the administration of investments include the following personnel expenditures:

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

5.7 Provisions for pensions and similar liabilities

Pension commitments were given in accordance with the pension plan. The pension plan provides
for retirement, disability, widows' and orphans' benefits. The pension entitlement is dependent on
length of service; entitlements under the statutory pension insurance scheme are taken into account.
The pension plan was closed to new participants with effect from 31 January 1981.

On 1 April 1993 (1 June 1993 in the case of managerial staff) the 1993 pension plan came into ef-
fect. This pension plan provides for retirement, disability and surviving dependants' benefits. The
scheme is based upon annual determination of the pension contributions, which at 1% up to the as-
sessment limit in the statutory pension insurance scheme and 2.5% above the assessment limit of
the pensionable employment income are calculated in a range of 0.7% to 1% and 1.75% to 2.5%
respectively depending upon the company's performance. The pension plan was closed as at 31
March 1999. 

In addition to these two pension plans, managerial staff and members of the Executive Board, in par-
ticular, enjoy individual commitments as well as commitments given under the benefits plan of the
Bochumer Verband. 



Additional similar obligations based upon length of service exist in Asian countries.

Provisions for pensions are established in accordance with SFAS 87 (employers' accounting for pen-
sions) using the only method permitted for this purpose – the projected unit credit method. The
basis of the valuation is the estimated future increase in the rate of compensation of the pension
beneficiaries. The benefit entitlements are discounted by applying the capital market rate for
highest-rated securities.    

Provisions for pensions are established in accordance with actuarial principles and are based upon
the commitments made by the Hannover Re Group for retirement, disability and widows' benefits.
The amount of the commitments is determined according to length of service and salary level. The
calculation of the provisions for pensions is based upon the following assumptions:

• Discount rate 6.0% to 7.5%

• Rate of compensation increase 3.5% to 5.5%

• Indexation 4.5% (every three years)

The commitments to employees in Germany comprise commitments financed by the Group com-
panies. The pension plans are unfunded. Amounts carried as liabilities are shown as other liabilities.
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Provisions for pensions in accordance with SFAS 132 developed as follows:

Change in benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of the period 37 317 34 926

Service cost 2 992 1 973

Interest cost 2 484 2 085

Actuarial gains/losses in the reporting year 91 (756)

Contributions by employees 525 –

Benefits paid during the year (961) (911)

Business combinations, divestitures and other activities 2 913 –

45 361 37 317

Fair value of plan assets

Balance at the beginning of the period – –

Business combinations, divestitures and other activities 3 352 _

Return on plan assets (343) _

Employer's contributions 420 –

Benefits paid (4) –

3 425 _

Funded status of plan

Unrecognised net obligation 1 474 1 931

Unrecognised actuarial loss 365 769

Unamortised prior service cost 669 –

2 508 2 700

Accrued pension liability 39 428 34 617

Additional minimum liability

Net periodic pension cost of the year

Service cost

Year under review 2 992 1 973

Amortisation for previous years 22 –

Interest cost 2 484 2 085

Expected return on plan assets (277) –

Recognised net actuarial loss (20) 13

Amortisation of net obligation 457 457

Total    5 658 4 528

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand
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5.8 Loans and surplus debenture 

Loans

On 31 March 1999 Hannover Finance issued a floating-rate debt in the amount of USD 400.0 million
with a term of 30 years. The due date of the loan is 31 March 2029. It may be redeemed by the issuer
no earlier than 31 March 2009. 

The capitalised issuance costs for this loan total USD 1.8 million and will be amortised over the loan
term.

In order to hedge against the risk of interest rate changes associated with this loan, the issuing com-
pany purchased interest rate swaps in 1999 in the same amount which expire on 31 March 2009. In
this way, the interest rate is converted from a floating rate to a fixed rate for a period ending com-
mensurate with the first opportunity to redeem the loan. 

The interest rate arising after allowance is made for the interest rate swap amounts to an annual
average rate of 6.69% until 31 March 2009. 

Surplus debenture (Genussrechtskapital)

On 2 November 1993 Hannover Re and E+S Rück issued surplus debentures in the amount of EUR
76.7 million at an interest rate of 7.55% and in the amount of EUR 40.9 million at an interest rate of
7.75%. Repayment is due in full on 2 November 2004. 

In the event that interest incurred in connection with servicing the surplus debenture should in future
no longer be deductible in Germany for the purpose of calculating taxable income, a right of prema-
ture repayment exists. Interest payments and repayment of the nominal amounts are dependent on
the company's results. In the event of insolvency, the participating rights are serviced before the
stockholders and after the claims of creditors. 

Surplus debenture is shown as a liability with the amount repayable. 

Other financial facilities

In order to protect against possible future major losses, Hannover Re took out a new credit line of
EUR 250 million in 2000 in the form of a syndicated loan; this replaced the facility in the amount of
DM 250 million which became due in November 2000. The facility has a term of five years and is
due in November 2005. E+S Rück has a credit line of EUR 40 million, which is extended on a half-
yearly basis and can be drawn on as required.

5.9 Stockholders' equity and minority interests

The stockholders' equity is shown as a separate component of the financial statement and is in ac-
cordance with SFAS 130 (reporting of comprehensive income). The stockholders' equity comprises
not only the net income deriving from the statement of income but also the changes in the value of
asset and liability items which do not impact the statement of income. 

The equity of the Group's parent company, Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG, was fully paid up in the
financial year on 31 May 2000. 
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Minority interests are established in accordance with the shares held by companies outside the
Group in the stockholders' equity of the subsidiaries. 

Authorised capital of EUR 0.8 million is available for the issue of employee shares until 31 August
2002.

In addition, authorised but unissued capital of EUR 20.0 million is available until 1 July 2004. 

On 20 July 2000 the Annual General Meeting of Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG resolved that the
bearer shares still existing at that date should be replaced with registered shares. The changeover
was completed in the year under review. 

Consolidated statement of changes in stockholders' equity

Common stock 62 711 12 782 – – 75 493 15 590 91 083

Additional paid-in capital 201 794 – – – 201 794 24 508 226 302

Other comprehensive income 70 825 – (7 348) – 63 477 8 746 72 223

Treasury stock (230) 230 – – – – –

Retained earnings 900 630 – – – 900 630 152 415 1 053 045

Currency exchange rate differences – – – 15 746 15 746 5 771 21 517

Net income – – – 364 880 364 880 68 405 433 285

Dividends paid – – – (80 426) (80 426) 18 699 (61 727)

Other changes – – – 31 785 31 785 – 31 785

Total 1 235 730 13 012 (7 348) 331 985 1 573 379 294 134 1 867 513

Group stock-
holders'

equity incl.
minority
interests

Minority
interests

Group stock-
holders'
equity

Change in
retained
earnings

Change in 
the current
period less

deferred
taxes

Capital
increase /
additions

Balance as 
at 1 January 

2000
Figures in EUR thousand

Common stock 62 711 – – – 62 711 35 704 98 415

Additional paid-in capital 201 794 – – – 201 794 43 325 245 119

Other comprehensive income 127 550 – (56 725) – 70 825 21 110 91 935

Treasury stock (272) 42 – – (230) – (230)

Retained earnings 730 578 – – – 730 578 146 553 877 131

Net income – – – 201 559 201 559 48 108 249 667

Dividends paid – – – (50 360) (50 360) – (50 360)

Other changes – – – 18 853 18 853 18 853

Total        1 122 361 42 (56 725) 170 052 1 235 730 294 800 1 530 530

Group stock-
holders'

equity incl.
minority
interests

Minority
interests

Group stock-
holders'
equity

Change in
retained
earnings

Change in 
the current
period less

deferred
taxes

Capital
increase /
additions

Balance as 
at 1 January 

1999
Figures in EUR thousand
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Total number of fully-paid shares 27 446 882 24 530 215

Less treasury stock (weighted) (1 000) (3 917)

Basic earnings per share 364 880 27 445 882 13.29 201 559 24 526 298 8.22

Dilution through payment of outstanding capital 2 018 585 4 836 856

Fully diluted earnings per share 364 880 29 464 467 12.38 201 559 29 363 154 6.86

Per share 
(in EUR)

No. of 
shares

Result (in EUR
thousand) 

Per share 
(in EUR)

No. of 
shares

Result (in EUR
thousand)

2000 1999

The other changes relate primarily to currency exchange rate differences deriving from the conversion
of the stockholders' equity using historic exchange rates and the rates on the reporting dates. 

5.10 Comprehensive income

The other comprehensive income increased by EUR 18.7 million in the year under review due to the
reduction in the deferred tax rates for German operations. Overall, comprehensive income fell by
10% after deduction of deferred taxes. This decrease was primarily attributable to the lower compre-
hensive income resulting from currency conversion. 

5.11 Treasury stock

By a resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG adopted on 30
July 1999, the company was authorised until 31 December 2000 to acquire treasury stock of up to
10% of the capital stock existing on the date of the resolution. The company did not hold treasury
stock as at the balance sheet date, nor does it hold treasury stock at the current time. 

5.12 Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share and the fully diluted earnings per share shown in the statement of income
are calculated as follows on the basis of the annual result: 

Neither in the year under review nor in the previous reporting period was there any extraordinary
comprehensive income which should have been included in the calculation.
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5.13 Other assets and liabilities

Other assets

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Securities payable 50 991 –

Own-use real estate 46 964 48 838

Other non-technical contracts 30 296 17 819

Present value of future profits on acquired life reinsurance portfolios 19 409 23 253

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 18 792 18 324

Other intangible assets 10 417 26 469

Interest and rent payable on investments 5 892 1 663

Tax refund claims 3 469 2 660

Other 89 361 86 084

Total 275 591 225 110 
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5.14 Technical statement of income

In accordance with SFAS 60 insurance contracts are to be classified as "short-duration contracts" or
"long-duration contracts". The determinative criteria in this regard are, inter alia, the termination
opportunities available to the insurer, the period of risk protection and the scope of the services pro-
vided by the insurer in connection with the contract. Premiums from short-duration contracts are
brought to account over the period of the underlying contract, and where appropriate unearned
premiums are deferred to subsequent years. By contrast, premiums deriving from long-duration
contracts are brought to account at the date payable. 

Most of the contracts underwritten by our company are classified as short-duration contracts.  

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 40 726 36 133

Liabilities from derivatives 12 219 11 659

Interest 14 501 33 781

Dividends payable 12 281 –

Deferred income 16 323 15 859

Costs of the annual financial statements 2 593 3 286

Liabilities to trustees 26 867 49 864

Loans    65 774 58 648

Interest on additional tax payments 5 541 24 821

German Economy Foundation Initiative 8 037 –

Stock options 4 618 –

Liabilities from the acquisition of participations – 11 344

Other 98 260 94 822

Total 307 740 340 217

Other liabilities
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5.15 Other income and expenses

The other income and expenses can be broken down as follows:

6. Relations with affiliated companies

6.1 Relations with affiliated non-consolidated companies

HDI Haftpflichtverband der Deutschen Industrie V.a.G. (HDI) indirectly holds approximately 75% of
the shares of Hannover Re through Talanx AG. 

The Hannover Re Group is responsible for the reinsurance of the HDI Group. To this extent, numerous
underwriting business relations exist with affiliated companies in Germany and abroad which are
not included in Hannover Re's consolidation. This applies to both assumed and ceded business. 

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

Other income

Exchange gains 19 529 18 574

Other interest income 20 441 22 336

Income from the disposal of other assets 14 511 – 

Income from the waiver of claims 9 055 – 

Income from services 6 900 1 635

70 436 42 545

Other expenses

Exchange losses 34 720 37 753

Other interest expenses 69 484 24 827

Depreciation 21 400 11 659

Expenses for services 6 620 4 099

Expenses for the company as a whole 18 024 16 829

Participation in German Economy Foundation Initiative 8 037 – 

Separate value adjustments 6 285 8 735

Expenses for trust accounts – 11 740

Sundry expenses 9 406 20 319

173 976 135 961

Total (103 540) (93 416)
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The details of these underwriting business relations are as follows:

Written premiums assumed

HDI 623.2 594.8

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies 332.9 213.6

Written premiums ceded

HDI 1.4 2.0

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies – 15.6

Funds held by ceding companies

HDI 0.2 0.2

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies 119.3 63.6

Funds held under reinsurance treaties

HDI 41.6 220.8

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies – –

Accounts receivable

HDI – –

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies 49.6 12.2

Reinsurance payable

HDI 95.3 89.1

Other non-consolidated affiliated companies 16.1 33.5

2000 1999Figures in EUR thousand

HDI Asset Management GmbH manages the investments of Hannover Re and some of its subsid-
iaries. 

All other business relations, such as the performance of services on a limited scale or the renting of
office premises, are of subordinate importance. 

All transactions are conducted on the same basis as between independent and wholly unrelated
third parties. We gave an account of these transactions with regard to Hannover Re and E+S Rück in
our dependent company report.

6.2 Emoluments received by the management boards of the parent company 
and loans granted to them

The names of the members of the management boards of the parent company are listed on pages 4
and 5.

Emoluments of EUR 206 thousand were received by the Supervisory Board and EUR 3,353 thousand
by the Executive Board in the year under review. The emoluments of former executive board members
and their surviving dependants amounted to EUR 598 thousand, and a liability of EUR 7,519 thousand
was shown as at year-end. 
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No loans secured on mortgages or by land charges were granted to board members.

The company did not enter into any contingent liabilities for members of the management boards.

6.3 Stock options

With effect from 1 January 2000 Hannover Re set up a virtual stock option plan. Members of the
Executive Board as well as the two further levels of management may choose to waive variable
remuneration components and acquire stock options. The number of such options granted each year
is based upon the diluted earnings per share under US GAAP. An additional performance criterion is
an industry benchmark based upon the (unweighted) Reactions' reinsurance index. 

A present value of EUR 20.00 is assumed in order to determine the basic number of stock options.
The basic number increases or decreases according to the over- or underperformance of the earnings
per share. For each full amount of EUR 0.10 by which the earnings per share exceeds the target per-
formance the basic number of stock options is increased by 10%, while for each amount of EUR 0.20
by which the earnings per share falls short of the target performance it is reduced by 10%. 

The industry benchmark is measured by the extent to which the stock market performance of the
Hannover Re share exceeds or undershoots the development of the Reactions' reinsurance index in
the year when the stock options are granted. For each full percentage point by which the Hannover
Re share surpasses the benchmark index, the basic number of stock options increases by 10% up to a
maximum of 400% of the basic number; if the share falls short of the benchmark index, the basic
number decreases by 5% for each full percentage point, although by no more than 50%.

The concrete value of the stock option is calculated as the difference between the current stock mar-
ket price of the Hannover Re share at the time when the option is exercised and the share price at
the beginning of the year in which the stock option was granted. This value is paid out on exercise of
the stock option. 

The maximum option period is 10 years. The waiting period prior to first-time exercise of an option is
two years following the expiry of the year in which the option was granted. 

Following expiry of the waiting period a maximum of 40% of the granted stock options may be exer-
cised. The waiting period for each additional 20% is one year. Stock options which are not exercised
lapse after 10 years.

A liability of EUR 4,618 thousand was shown for the first time as at 31 December 2000. 

6.4 Mortgages and loans

Employees who are not members of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board were granted mortgages
and mortgage loans to finance residential property. These loans are all secured by a first charge on
property. Bad debt losses did not exist and are not anticipated.    
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7. Other notes

7.1 Lawsuits

No significant court cases were pending during the year under review or as at the balance sheet date. 

7.2 Contingent liabilities

Hannover Re has secured by guarantee a surplus note in the amount of USD 400.0 million issued in
the 1999 financial year by Hannover Finance Inc., Wilmington/USA.  

As security for our technical liabilities to our US clients, we have established a master trust in the
USA. As at the balance sheet date this master trust amounted to EUR 661.4 million (EUR 499.1 million).
The securities held in the master trust are shown as available-for-sale investments. 

As security for our technical liabilities, various financial institutions have furnished sureties for our
company in the form of letters of credit. The total amount of the letters of credit as at the balance
sheet date was EUR 2,060.0 million.  

7.3 Long-term commitments

Several Group companies are members of the German aviation pool, the association for the reinsur-
ance of pharmaceutical risks and the association for the insurance of German nuclear reactors. In the
event of one of the other pool members failing to meet its liabilities, an obligation exists to take over
such other member's share within the framework of the quota participation.  

7.4 Derivatives

In 1998 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) approved Standard 113 "accounting for
derivative instruments and hedging activities". Under the rules of this standard all derivatives are
valued at fair value in the balance sheet irrespective of their intended purpose. SFAS 133 is to be ap-
plied by all companies which use derivatives – regardless of the sector in which they operate – for
the first time in the financial year commencing after 15 June 2000. We have therefore continued to
apply the existing specific standards in the present individual accounts.  

The company holds derivative financial instruments solely for the purpose of hedging. For this rea-
son, swaps are held for the conversion of interest flows and currencies. Swaps are valued at fair value.
Changes in fair value are not included in the statement of income. The current value is shown in the
unrealised gains and losses as a separate item under the stockholders' equity. As at year-end the fair
value of the swaps totalled EUR 174.9 million (EUR 177.0 million), and the nominal value of the
swaps amounted to EUR 169.4 million (EUR 177.4 million). In connection with these swaps we pro-
vided collateral of EUR 19.5 million (EUR 18.1 million) for the year ending 31 December 2000. The
periods to maturity of the swaps vary between one year and thirteen years. Two contracts matured in
2000. The fixed interest rates are between 3.5% and 7.5%. Three instruments have a variable inter-
est rate. As at year-end the portfolio did not contain any forward purchase options or forward ex-
change transactions.
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Operating leasing contracts produced expenditures of EUR 3,322 thousand in the 2000 financial year.

The Clarendon Group concluded a ten-year contract for the lease of business premises. The contract
period ends on 31 August 2005. The Insurance Corporation of Hannover also concluded a multi-year
contract for the lease of business premises. The rent instalments are fixed for the rental period, al-
though adjustments in line with changed market conditions are possible at contractually agreed
times.

2001 3 154

2002 2 785

2003 2 662

2004 2 666

2005 2 016

Subsequent years 4 641

PaymentsFigures in EUR thousand

7.5 Events subsequent to conclusion of the financial year

At the beginning of 2001 the Insurance Corporation of Hannover (ICH), Los Angeles, acquired sub-
stantial parts of the program business of Acceptance Insurance Companies, Inc. The new acquisition
increased the premium income of ICH by USD 70 million.

In order to strengthen the available capital of the Hannover Re Group, Hannover Re has issued sub-
ordinated loans. For this purpose it established Hannover Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. on 8 February
2001 as a wholly-owned subsidiary with common stock of EUR 200 thousand. At the beginning of
March 2001 this company placed a subordinated loan on the European capital market. The issue, which
has a term of 30 years and a call option for the issuer after 10 years, has a total volume of EUR 350
million and is secured by Hannover Re. Hannover Re received a loan of EUR 100 million from Han-
nover Finance. 

Effective 30 March 2001, Hannover Re established a new subsidiary on Bermuda, Hannover Re (Ber-
muda) Ltd. The company is equipped with capital of EUR 250 million. 

No other events with significant implications for the Group's assets, liabilities, financial position and
net income occurred after the balance sheet date.

7.6 Rents and leasing

Leased property 

Both operating and capital leasing contracts existed within the Hannover Re Group as at the balance
sheet date. In subsequent years an annual amount of EUR 110,004 will be payable as leasing instal-
ments under capital leasing contracts. 
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2001 9 615

2002 8 642

2003 7 620

2004 7 139

2005 4 848

Subsequent years 7 771

Payments to
be receivedFigures in EUR thousand

USD 0.9305 1.0027 0.9262 1.0646

CAD 1.3933 1.4570 1.3737 1.5848

AUD 1.6754 1.5350 1.5964 1.6606

GBP 0.6233 0.6205 0.6086 0.6580

ZAR 7.0440 6.1753 6.4002 6.5021

SEK 8.8400 8.5630 8.4838 8.8322

MYR 3.5340 3.8238 3.5201 4.0477

Average rate of exchange

31.12.199931.12.200031.12.199931.12.2000

Mean rate of exchange on the
balance sheet date

1 Euro corresponds to:

Rental income totalled EUR 11,454 thousand in the 2000 financial year.

7.7 Currency conversion 

Foreign currency items in the individual companies' statements of income are converted into the re-
spective national currency at the average rates of exchange. The individual companies' statements
of income prepared in the national currencies are converted into Euro at the average rates of ex-
change and transferred to the consolidated financial statement. The conversion of foreign currency
items in the balance sheets of the individual companies and the transfer of these items to the consoli-
dated financial statement are effected at the mean rates of exchange on the balance sheet date. In
the case of functional currencies, differences arising between the average exchange rate and the ex-
change rate on the balance sheet date lead to the establishment of a separate item in the stockhold-
ers' equity which is excluded from the statement of income. Differences arising with regard to non-
functional currencies are recognised in the statement of income. Functional currencies are defined as
those currencies in which investments are effected. 

The following key exchange rates were used:

Rented property 

Hannover Re Real Estate Holdings rents out real estate in Florida; the period of the contracts ranges
from five to seven years. Non-cancellable contracts will produce the income shown below in subse-
quent years:
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Hannover, 23 May 2001

Executive Board

Zeller                                           Dr. Hecker                                           Dr. Becke

Gräber                                               Haas Dr. Steiner   

Dr. Pickel



Auditors' Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hannover Rückversicherungs-Aktiengesell-
schaft for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2000, comprising the consolidated bal-
ance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of cash flow and consoli-
dated statement of changes in stockholders' equity as well as the notes to the financial statements.
The preparation and content of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with US Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) are the responsibility of the company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with German auditing
principles and the generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of mater-
ial misstatements. The evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements are examined on a test basis as part of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual
financial statements of the companies included in consolidation, the determination of the com-
panies to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consoli-
dated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, finan-
cial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Group in accordance with United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Our audit, which also extends to the group management report prepared by the Executive Board for
the year from January 1 to December 31, 2000, has not led to any reservations. In our opinion the
group management report provides a suitable understanding of the Group's position and suitably
presents the risks of future development.

Hannover, 23 May 2001

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr. Geib Kollenberg
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

118



BRANCH OFFICES AND SUBSIDIARIES of the Hannover Re Group abroad

Australia
Hannover Life Re of Australasia Ltd
Level 7
70 Phillip Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Tel. +61/2/92 51 69 11
Fax +61/2/92 51 68 62

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Chief Agency - Australian Branch
G. P. O. Box 3973
Sydney NSW 2001
Tel. +61/2/92 74 30 00
Fax +61/2/92 74 30 33

Bermuda
Hannover Re (Bermuda) Ltd.
50 Parliament Street, 2nd Floor
Hamilton HM 12
Tel. +1/441/2 94 31 10
Fax +1/441/2 96 75 68

China
Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Shanghai Representative Office
Suite 2711, Bank of China Tower
200 Yin Cheng Zhong Road
Pudong New Area
200120 Shanghai
Tel. +86/21/50 37 25 25
Fax +86/21/50 37 27 27

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Hong Kong Branch
2008 Sun Hung Kai Centre
30 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel. +852/25 19 32 08
Fax +852/25 88 11 36

France
Hannover Re Gestion de Réassurance
France S.A.
7 Rue Montalivet, 4th Floor,
75008 Paris
Life
Tel. +33/1/42 66 87 78
Fax +33/1/42 66 87 98

Non-Life
Tel. +33/1/42 66 87 87
Fax +33/1/42 66 87 88

Great Britain
International Insurance Company 
of Hannover Ltd.
Hannover House
Virginia Water
Surrey GU25 4AA
Tel. +44/13 44/84 07 03
Fax +44/13 44/84 59 09

Hannover Life Reassurance (UK) Ltd.
Hannover House
Virginia Water
Surrey GU25 4AA
Tel. +44/13 44/84 52 82
Fax +44/13 44/84 53 83

Hannover Services (UK) Ltd.
Office in Virginia Water
Hannover House
Virginia Water
Surrey GU25 4AA
Tel. +44/13 44/84 52 82
Fax +44/13 44/84 53 83

Office in London
2nd Floor
69-70 Mark Lane
London EC3R 7HJ
Tel. +44/20/74 80 73 00
Fax +44/20/74 81 38 45

Ireland
Hannover Re Advanced Solutions Ltd.
No. 2 Custom House Plaza, IFSC
Dublin 1
Tel. +353/1/6 12 57 00
Fax +353/1/8 29 14 00

Hannover Life Reassurance (Ireland) Ltd.
No. 2 Custom House Plaza, IFSC
Dublin 1
Tel. +353/1/6 12 57 18
Fax +353/1/8 29 14 00

Hannover Reinsurance (Ireland) Ltd.
No. 2 Custom House Plaza, IFSC
Dublin 1
Tel. +353/1/6 12 57 15
Fax +353/1/8 29 14 00

Italy
Hannover Re Services Italy Srl
Via Mazzini, 12
20123 Milan
Tel. +39/02/80 68 13 11
Fax +39/02/80 68 13 49

Japan
Hannover Re Services Japan
7th Floor, Hakuyo Building
3-10 Nibancho
Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 102-0084
Tel. +81/3/52 14 11 01
Fax +81/3/52 14 11 05

Canada
Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Canadian Branch - Chief Agency
3650 Victoria Park Avenue, Suite 201
Toronto, Ontario M2H 3P7
Tel. +1/416/4 96 11 48
Fax +1/416/4 96 10 89

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Facultative Office - Canadian Branch
150 York Street, Suite 1008
Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S5
Tel. +1/416/8 67 97 12
Fax +1/416/8 67 97 28

Korea
Hannover Re – 
Representative Office Seoul
German Office
Shintown Plaza Building
28-2 Hannam-dong
Yongsan-ku
Seoul 140-210
Tel. +82/2/37 80 46 16
Fax +82/2/37 80 46 08
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Malaysia
Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Malaysian Branch
Suite 31-1, 31st Floor
Wisma UOA II
No. 21 Jalan Pinang
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel. +60/3/21 64 51 22
Fax +60/3/21 64 61 29

Mexico
Hannover Services (México) S.A. de C.V.
Bosque de Ciruelos 162
Bosques de las Lomas, 3rd Floor
Apartado Postal 10-950
CP 11700 Mexico, D.F.
Tel. +52/5/2 51 50 22
Fax +52/5/5 96 41 73

Sweden
Hannover Re Sweden Insurance 
Company Ltd.
Hantverkargatan 25
P. O. Box 22085
104 22 Stockholm
Tel. + 46/8/6 17 54 00
Fax + 46/8/6 17 55 99

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG,
Tyskland filial
Stockholm Branch
Hantverkargatan 25
P. O. Box 22085
104 22 Stockholm
Tel. +46/8/6 17 54 00
Fax +46/8/6 17 55 99

Spain
HR Hannover Re, Correduría de 
Reaseguros, S.A.
Paseo del General Martínez
Campos 46
28010 Madrid
Tel. +34/91/319 00 49
Fax +34/91/319 93 78

South Africa
Hannover Life Reassurance Africa Ltd.
P. O. Box 10842
Johannesburg 2000
Tel. +27/11/4 81 65 00
Fax +27/11/4 84 33 30
Fax +27/11/4 84 33 32

Hannover Reinsurance Africa Ltd.
P. O. Box 10842
Johannesburg 2000
Tel. +27/11/4 81 65 00
Fax +27/11/4 84 33 30
Fax +27/11/4 84 33 32
http://www.hannover-re.co.za

Hannover Reinsurance Mauritius Ltd.
Suite 335, Barkly Wharf
Le Caudan Waterfront
Port Louis
Tel. +92 30/2 12 31 65
Tel. +92 30/2 12 62 48
Fax +92 30/2 12 31 64

Taiwan
Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Representative Office Taipei
Room A2, 12th Floor
296 Jen Ai Road, Section 4
Taipei, Taiwan R.O.C.
Tel. +886/2/27 0110 96
Fax +886/2/27 04 8117

USA
Clarendon Insurance Group, Inc.
1177 Avenue of the Americas, 
45th Floor
New York, New York 10036
Tel. +1/212/8 05 97 00
Fax +1/212/8 05 98 00

Insurance Corporation of Hannover
333 South Hope St.
Suite 2400
Los Angeles, California 90071
Tel. +1/213/6 13 01 08
Fax +1/213/6 13 06 67

Hannover Life Reassurance 
Company of America
800 N. Magnolia Avenue
Suite 1400
Orlando, Florida 32803-3251
Tel. +1/407/6 49 84 11
Fax +1/407/6 49 83 22

Hannover Rückversicherungs-AG
Representative Office USA
1901 North Roselle Road,
Suite 1040
Schaumburg, Illinois 60195
Tel. +1/847/3 10 38 54
Fax +1/847/3 10 38 56
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Glossary 

Accumulation loss: sum of several individual losses incurred by various policyholders as a result 
of the same loss event. This may lead to a higher loss for the direct insurer or reinsurer if several
affected policyholders are insured by the said company.  

Alternative risk financing: use of the capacity available on the capital markets to cover insurance
risks, e.g. through the securitisation of natural catastrophe risks, if such risks are no longer fully
insurable by the insurance and reinsurance industries.

Block assumption transactions (BAT): quota share reinsurance treaties on our clients' life or health
insurance business, by means of which it is possible, inter alia, for our clients to realise in advance the
future profits inherent in the portfolio so as to be able to efficiently ensure the attainment of corporate
objectives, e.g. in the areas of financial or solvency policy. 

Capital, reserves and technical provisions: an insurer's capital and reserves, also including the
provisions committed to technical business and the equalisation reserve. Total maximum funds
available to offset liabilities. 

Cedent: direct insurer or reinsurer, which passes on (cedes) shares of its insured or reinsured risks to a
reinsurer in exchange for premium. 

Claims and claims expenses: sum total of paid claims and provisions for loss events which occurred
in the business year; this item also includes the result of the run-off of the provisions for loss events
from previous years; in each case, after the deduction of own reinsurance cessions. 

Derivatives, derivative financial instruments: These are financial products derived from underlying
primary instruments such as equities, fixed-income securities and foreign exchange instruments, the
price of which is determined on the basis of an underlying security or other reference asset. Notable
types of derivatives include swaps, options and futures.

Direct insurer (also: primary insurer): company which accepts risks in exchange for an insurance
premium, and which has a direct contractual relationship to the policyholder (private individual,
company, organisation). 

Discounting of loss reserves: determination of the present value of future profits through multiplica-
tion by the corresponding discount rate. In the case of the loss reserves this is necessary because of
the new profit calculation methods for tax purposes applicable to German joint-stock corporations. 

Dread disease coverages: riders on the basis of which parts of the sum insured – which would
otherwise only become payable on occurrence of death – are paid out in the event of previously
defined severe illnesses.

Earnings retention: non-distribution of a company's profits leading to different treatment for tax
purposes than if profits were distributed. 

Economic loss: total loss incurred by the affected economy as a whole following the occurrence of a
loss. The economic loss must be distinguished from the insured loss. The insured loss reflects the
total amount of losses covered by the insurance industry (direct insurers and reinsurers). 

Equalisation reserve: provision for the equalisation of substantial fluctuations in the claims experi-
ence of individual lines of business over several years. 
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Excess of loss treaty: cf. ➞  Non-proportional reinsurance

Expense ratio: administrative expenses in relation to the net premiums written.

Exposure: level of danger inherent in a risk or portfolio of risks; this constitutes the basis for premium
calculations in reinsurance.

Facultative reinsurance: specially negotiated participation on the part of the reinsurer in a
particular individual risk assumed by the direct insurer. This is in contrast to  ➞  obligatory (also:
treaty) reinsurance.

Fair value: Price at which a financial instrument would be freely traded between two parties.

Financial reinsurance: reinsurance with limited potential for profits and losses; the primary objective
is to strive for risk equalisation over time and to stabilise the  ➞  cedant's balance sheet.

Funds held by ceding companies/funds held under reinsurance treaties: collateral provided to
cover insurance liabilities which a (re-)insurer retains from the liquid funds which it is to pay to a re-
insurer under a reinsurance treaty. In this case, the retaining company shows funds held under a re-
insurance treaty, while the company furnishing the collateral shows funds held by a ceding company. 

Gross/Retro/Net: gross items constitute the relevant sum total deriving from the acceptance of
direct insurance policies or reinsurance treaties; retro items constitute the relevant sum total deriv-
ing from own reinsurance cessions. The difference is the corresponding net item (gross – retro = net,
also: for own account).

Hybrid capital: debt structure characterised by certain characteristics of both debt and equity.

IBNR (Incurred but not reported) reserve: provision for claims which have already occurred but
which have not yet been reported.

Life and health (re-)insurance: collective term for the lines of business concerned with the insurance of
persons, i.e. life, health and personal accident insurance.

LOC (Letter of credit): bank guarantee; at the request of the guaranteed party, the bank undertakes
to render payment to the said party up to the amount specified in the LOC. This method of providing
collateral in reinsurance business is typically found in the USA. 

Loss ratio: percentage share of loss expenditure in the  ➞  retention relative to the net premiums
earned.

Major loss: loss which has special significance for the direct insurer or reinsurer due to the amount
involved; it is defined as a major loss in accordance with a fixed loss amount or other criteria. 

Mark-to-market valuation: Recording the price or value of financial instruments to reflect current
market value or  ➞ fair value.

Matching currency cover: coverage of technical liabilities in foreign currencies by means of corres-
ponding investments in the same currency in order to avoid exchange-rate risks.

Net: cf. ➞  Gross/Retro/Net
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Non-proportional reinsurance: reinsurance treaty under which the reinsurer assumes the loss ex-
penditure in excess of a particular amount ( ➞ priority; e.g. under an excess of loss treaty). This is in
contrast to  ➞  proportional reinsurance. 

Obligatory reinsurance (also: treaty reinsurance): reinsurance treaty under which the reinsurer
participates in a  ➞  cedent's total, precisely defined insurance portfolio. This is in contrast to  ➞
facultative reinsurance.

Policy benefits for life and health contracts: value arrived at using mathematical methods for future
liabilities (present value of future liabilities minus present value of future incoming premiums),
primarily in life and health insurance.

Portfolio: all risks assumed by a direct insurer or reinsurer on an overall basis or in a defined sub-
segment (e.g. line of business, country).

Premium: agreed remuneration for the risks accepted from an insurance company. Unlike the earned
premiums, the written premiums are not deferred. 

Priority: direct insurer's loss amount stipulated under  ➞  non-proportional reinsurance treaties; if
this amount is exceeded, the reinsurer becomes liable to pay. The priority may refer to an individual
loss, an  ➞  accumulation loss or the total of all annual losses. 

Program business: a speciality of the US insurance market written by insurers working in very close
cooperation with reinsurers and highly specialised managing general agents. The segment is
typically focused on niche and non-standard coverages and hard-to-place risks.

Property and casualty (re-)insurance: collective term for all lines of business which in the event of a
claim reimburse only the incurred loss, not a fixed sum insured (as is the case in life and personal
accident insurance, for example). This principle applies in all lines of property and liability insurance.

Proportional reinsurance: reinsurance treaties on the basis of which shares in a risk or  ➞  portfolio
are reinsured under the prevailing original conditions.  ➞  Premiums and losses are shared
proportionately on a pro-rata basis. This is in contrast to  ➞  non-proportional reinsurance. 

Provision: liability item as at the balance sheet date to discharge obligations which exist but whose
extent and / or due date is / are not known. Technical provisions, for example, are for claims which
have already occurred but which have not yet been settled, or have only been partially settled 
(= provision for outstanding claims, abbreviated to: claims provision).

Rate: percentage rate of the reinsured portfolio which is to be paid to the reinsurer as reinsurance
premium under a  ➞  non-proportional reinsurance treaty. 

Reinsurer: company which accepts risks or portfolio segments from a  ➞  direct insurer or another
reinsurer in exchange for an agreed premium. 

Reserve ratio: ratio of (gross or net) technical provisions to the (gross or net) premiums.

Retention: the part of the accepted risks which an insurer/reinsurer does not reinsure, i.e. shows 
as  ➞  net (retention ratio: percentage share of the retention relative to the gross written premiums).

Retro: cf. ➞  Gross / Retro / Net
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Retrocession: ceding of risks or shares in risks which have been reinsured. Retrocessions are ceded to
other reinsurers in exchange for a pro-rata or separately calculated premium. 

Securitisation instruments: innovative instruments for transferring reinsurance business to the cap-
ital markets with the goal of refinancing or placing insurance risks. 

Technical result: the balance of income and expenditure allocated to the insurance business and
shown in the technical statement of income (after additional allowance is made for the allocation to /
withdrawal from the equalisation reserve: net technical result).

Unearned premiums: premiums written in a financial year which are to be allocated to the following
period on an accrual basis. This item is used to defer written premiums.

US GAAP (United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles): internationally recognised US
accounting principles. Not all the provisions which together constitute US GAAP have been codified.
US GAAP comprises not only defined written statements but also, for example, standard accounting
practices in specific industries. 

Volatility: measure of the variability of stock prices, interest rates and exchange rates. Standard
practice is to measure the volatility of a stock price by calculating the standard deviations of relative
price differences. 
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